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BANKING SERVICES WITH SUPERIOR EASE AND BENEFITS
S-BANK’S KEY FIGURES AT THE END OF 2018

 
3.1 million customers  | 2.2 million international payment cards

1.9 million online banking IDs  | EUR 5.8 billion in deposits

EUR 4.2 billion in granted loans  | EUR 7.6 billion in assets under management (FIM)

16.8% capital adequacy ratio  | 11.6 million operating profit

S-Bank is a Finnish bank with a mission to 
make its customers’ daily lives easier�

S-Bank’s operations are based on easy prod-
ucts, fast and proactive service, transparent 
pricing, easy access and cooperation with 
stores� S-Bank focuses strongly on developing 
its digital services with the aim of providing 
the best digital banking experience in Fin-
land� Spearheading the digital services is the 
internationally awarded S-mobiili application, 
into which store and banking services as well 
as insurance from LocalTapiola have been 
combined� S-Bank’s customers have 
embraced the S-mobiili app, and by the end 
of 2018, more than 78% of all log-ins to the 
bank’s electronic services were made using a 
mobile device�

Basic banking services, which include a cur-
rent account, an international payment card 
and banking IDs for electronic services, are 
provided free of charge by S-Bank to  
S Group co-op members, which is a conside-
rable benefit� S-Bank provides daily banking 
services in more than 700 S Group business 
locations throughout the country� Customers 
can withdraw and deposit cash at the check-
outs of approximately 1,000 S Group stores� 

S-Bank serves its customers through its 
online bank and S-mobiili app, or through 
customer service by phone, chat or social 
media�

S-Bank provides services under two brands� 
The S-Bank brand is used to offer services for 
daily banking, saving and investment, and 
financing for various needs� Under the FIM 
brand, the bank offers private banking ser-
vices as well as services for institutional 
investors�

In the case of housing loans, customers can 
turn to our S-Bankers, who serve at business 
locations in the key growth centres in Fin-
land� Teleconferencing enables S-Bankers to 
help customers regardless of their location�

The owners of S-Bank are SOK Group 
(37�5%), the regional cooperatives that are 
part of the S Group (37�5%), LocalTapiola 
Insurance (10%), LocalTapiola Life (3�5%), 
the regional LocalTapiola insurance compa-
nies (10%) and Elo Mutual Pension Insu-
rance Company (1�5%)� S-Bank was 
awarded the right to use the Key Flag Sym-
bol in recognition of the company’s Finnish 
origins�
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CEO’S REVIEW
If we were to describe 2018 in two words, they 
could be ‘effort’ and ‘change’, as these two 
themes were very prominent in our operations� 
Even though the past year was full of major 
changes, we managed to grow our operations 
substantially� At the same time we also suc-
ceeded in deepening our customer relationships�

So how did we do this? We reshaped S-Bank 
in a way that allows us to continue in our 
quest to be a better partner for our more than 
three million customers� This is evident in our 
new organisational structure, for instance� 
Since the beginning of September, our opera-
tions have been divided into two business 
areas, the Banking business and the Wealth 
Management business�
  
Strong and controlled growth in lending was the 
highlight of the past year in the Banking busi-
ness� The total amount of loans taken out by 
retail customers grew to EUR 3�4 billion (3�0)� 
Our housing loan portfolio grew by 15�2% in a 
market that generally saw growth of about 2%�

More and more people are turning to us for 
financing for their new home� This shows that 
we have succeeded in deepening our cus-
tomer relationships significantly� This is 
important for us, as we want to be more pres-
ent in our customers’ daily lives�

More evidence of this same phenomenon, the 
activation of our customer base of 3�1 mil-

lion, is also provided by the eagerness of 
Finns to use our cards to pay for their pur-
chases� Few people know that, roughly speak-
ing, every tenth purchase made with a Finn-
ish debit or credit card is paid for using an 
S-Bank card� The number of purchases made 
with our cards last year increased by 18%�
 
Meanwhile, we have proceeded apace in 
wealth management� The business gained 
new management in the spring and its stra-
tegy was revised in the autumn� In Septem-
ber, we launched Säästäjä, the first micro-sav-
ing service in Finland� Thousands of Finns 
have already adopted the Säästäjä service, 
and we are proud of the fact that more than 
30% of the service’s users are first-time sav-
ers� This is wonderful, as our aim is to make 
saving easy and cheap�

I’m also pleased to be able to say that, 
despite the challenging conditions in the 
markets in late 2018, our assets under mana-
gement grew by 9�9%, reaching EUR 7�6 
billion (6�9) by the end of the year� The num-
ber of unit holders in the funds we manage 
increased by 19,000 – this is significantly 
faster than the rest of the market�

Harnessing technology to 
serve our customers
Technological advances are an important 
force shaping the banking sector and society 
at large� Our customers also appreciate effec-

tive and reliable digital services and, accor-
ding to a survey conducted by EPSI Rating, 
they are clearly more willing to do all their 
banking digitally than the customers of other 
banks�
 
For this reason, we aim to explore and utilise 
new technologies, such as the possibilities 
offered by mobile devices, machine learning, 
software robotics and block chains, whenever 
they help us serve our customers better� Cur-
rently, for example, we are working to make 
mobile payments easier, enabling our cus-
tomers to pay and collect the Bonus using our 
partner MobilePay’s app in all the stores and 
services of the S Group� We are also develo-
ping a new version of our highly popular 
S-mobiili app, which combines store and 
banking services in a unique way� We plan to 
release the new version of S-mobiili in the 
first half of this year�

Last year we worked hard to ensure that we 
will be able to automate our processes in the 
future and to reduce the volume of paper they 
consume� This year we will continue these 
efforts by reducing the use of paper in invoi-
cing, for example� This will allow us to save 
money, and is also in line with the principles 
of sustainable development�

Responsibility plays an important role in 
everything we do, and this is what our cus-
tomers expect from us� In the Sustainable 

Brand Index, the largest survey on sustaina-
ble development in the Nordic countries, 
Finns chose S-Bank as the most responsible 
bank for the sixth year in a row� Last year we 
recruited top-level professionals in respon-
sible investment and launched the first green 
bond fund in Finland� In January 2019, we 
acquired Epiqus, a pioneering impact invest-
ment fund manager, which will become part 
of our Wealth Management business� 

Outlook for the current year
It is difficult to predict the future, but I 
believe that the current year will bring plenty 
of action and, at times, various challenges�
 
Our aim for this year is to considerably 
improve our profitability, which will demand 
a lot from us� 
However, I believe 
that we have 
embarked on this 
year well-prepared 
and full of energy� 
That is why I’m 
convinced we will 
achieve our aims 
and, as in previ-
ous years, we will 
be the bank that 
meets our cus-
tomers’ expecta-
tions and exceeds 
them�

PEKKA YLIHURULA
CEO, S-Bank
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REPORT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT  

The economic cycle peaked in 2018, as 
many countries saw good economic growth� 
However, economic activity began to slow 
down towards the end of the year�
 
A rise in protectionism and political uncer-
tainty overshadowed the economic environ-
ment in 2018, and the trade dispute between 
the US and China added to the uncertainty 
surrounding the global economy� In the US, 
the Federal Reserve continued to raise its 
Federal Funds Target Rate� The rise in US 
interest rates had an impact on capital flows 
in the emerging markets� The equity market 
declined and economic indicators slumped 
at the end of the year�
 
The rise in consumer prices, or inflation, 
slowed towards the end of the year in many 
emerging countries� A drop in the price of 
crude oil was largely the reason behind this 
slowdown in inflation� The European Central 
Bank discontinued its asset purchasing prog-
ramme in December� While the Euribor rates 
remained negative, there was some minor 
upward movement in long-term Euribor rates�
 
The Finnish economy posted healthy growth 
in 2018� A substantial increase in employ-

ment, strong consumer confidence and rising 
wages maintained household spending� Mean-
while, construction supported investment 
activity, and exports grew at a moderate pace�
  
Demand for housing loans increased in 2018, 
and housing loans worth around EUR 1�5 
billion on average were drawn down every 
month� The total housing loan portfolio grew 
at a rate of 2%, as low interest rates, strong 
consumer confidence and higher employment 
boosted the housing market� The prices of old 
dwellings increased by about half a per cent 
on the previous year throughout Finland� The 
price gap between growth centres and the 
rest of Finland remained wide�

Consumer loans taken by households grew by 
about 4�5%� Household deposits increased 
at a rate of approximately 4%� Corporate 
loans grew by about 5�5%, driven by loans 
taken out by housing companies� The total 
loans drawn down by housing companies 
grew by more than 10% last year� The fund 
capital of funds registered in Finland cont-
racted by 5�2% during the year to EUR 110�1 
billion� The total amount of fund capital 
declined as a result of redemptions and nega-
tive valuation changes�
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EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

In February, S-Bank and the S Group 
announced an agreement that enabled the 
application of their partner MobilePay to be 
used to make payments in all S Group stores 
and services� This cooperation will give Finns 
the opportunity to pay for their purchases and 
collect the Bonus with their mobile phones� 
The FIM Family Office service, offering com-
prehensive wealth management to high net 
worth families, was also launched in February�

In June, FIM Asset Management Ltd and 
Investment Management Tresor Ltd agreed 
on an arrangement that transferred Tresor’s 
customer relationships to FIM Asset Manage-
ment�

S-Bank Group’s organisational structure was 
revised in September� Under the new struc-
ture, the bank’s operations are divided into 
two business areas, the Banking business 
and the Wealth Management business�
 
The Wealth Management business gained 
new management in the spring and its busi-
ness strategy was revised in the autumn� In 
late September, S-Bank unveiled Säästäjä, 
the first micro-saving service in Finland� 
Säästäjä will be integrated into the new ver-
sion of the S-mobiili app, which was devel-
oped throughout the year�

The Capital Markets unit held cooperation 
negotiations  with the employees, which were 
concluded in October� The negotiations pro-
duced a solution that allows customers to 
continue to buy and sell shares through a 
service provided by a partner� Book-entry 
accounts and structured investment products 
will also continue to be offered to customers� 
As a result of the negotiations, nine employ-
ees could not be offered new positions and 
their employment relationships will be termi-
nated in the first half of 2019�

In November, S-Bank reported it was aban-
doning the Siirto service and announced 
some changes to its fund selection� The fund 
selection was revised and the Wealth Mana-
gement business began cooperation with 
Bank of Åland Plc in several funds, as a result 
of which the management of approximately 
one billion euros in fund investments was 
transferred to FIM’s fund managers� The 
cooperation was based on an overall review 
of the fund selection at both companies�

S Group and Nokas CMS Oy continued their 
cooperation on Nosto ATMs, installing new 
machines� In November, the companies intro-
duced a financing arrangement under which 
S-Bank provides the cash dispensed at the 
ATMs�

S-Bank announced a partnership in Novem-
ber aiming at digitalising the transfer of hous-
ing company shares when people sell their 
apartments� The digitalisation is taking place 
through a platform developed by DIAS Oy, 
which is owned by S-Bank, Aktia, Danske 
Bank, OP and Tomorrow Tech�

To ensure its growth and comply with stricter 
regulation, S-Bank organised a share issue to 
its current owners� The share issue was 
resolved on by an extraordinary general meet-
ing of the shareholders in October� All the 
current owners subscribed for shares in pro-
portion to their holdings, and the new shares 
were registered in December� As a result of 
the share issue, the bank’s Common Equity 
Tier 1 (CET1) capital increased by EUR 40 
million�
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
AND PROFITABILITY
S-Bank Group’s operating profit decreased 
year-on-year to EUR 11�6 million (16�0)� The 
comparable operating profit amounted to EUR 
13�2 million (14�4) when taking into account 
non-recurring items included in expenses for 
2018 and the profit from the divestment of the 
SME and agricultural business included in the 
profit for the previous year� The profit for the 
period after taxes was EUR 6�7 million (12�4)�

The Group’s cost- income ratio was 0�84 
(0�83)� The return on equity (ROE) decreased 
to 1�6% (3�1)�The return on assets (ROA) was 
0�1% (0�2)�

NET INCOME
Net income totalled EUR 153�7 million 
(154�3), of which net interest income 
accounted for 48�1%� Net interest income 
grew by 1�0% on the previous year, totalling 
EUR 74�0 million (73�3)� Net interest income 
mainly came from interest income received 
from lending, as well as from investments in 
the money and capital markets� Interest 
expenses consisted mainly of interest on 
deposits paid to customers�

Net fee and commission income increased by 
3% year-on-year to EUR 61�0 million (59�2)� 
Net fee and commission income accounted 
for 39�7% of net income� 

Other income totalled EUR 18�7 million 
(21�8), of which EUR 3�9 million (6�0) con-
sisted of net income from investing activities 
and EUR 14�8 million (15�7) consisted of 
other operating income�  

Income from investing activities is affected 
by developments in interest rates and the 
investment environment, as well as the clas-
sification and measurement changes intro-
duced by IFRS 9�

EXPENSES
Operating expenses increased by 1�1% on 
the previous year to EUR 133�1 million 
(131�7)� Other operating expenses include 
non-recurring expenses of EUR 1�6 million 
related to the wind-down of the Siirto service 
and the restructuring of the Capital Markets 
unit� Personnel expenses rose compared to 
the previous year due to an increase in the 
number of personnel and were EUR 49�5 
million (46�2) in total� Other administrative 
expenses decreased from the previous year 
to EUR 65�0 million (67�0)� Depreciation 
during the financial period grew on the pre-
vious year to EUR 12�7 million (12�5)� Other 
operating expenses decreased to EUR 5�9 
million (6�0)� Other operating expenses con-
sisted of such items as membership and 
supervision fees, rental expenses from facil-
ities, machinery and equipment, and vehicle 
expenses�

Table 1: Key figures

KEY FIGURES, EUR MILLION 12/2018 12/2017 12/2016

Operating profit 11�6 16�0 22�3

Net income 153�7 154�3 160�5

Deposits 5,832�7 5,005�8 4,547�0

Lending 4,187�0 3,724�9 3,492�2

Assets under management 7,576�2 6,891�7 6,152�6

Debt securities 1,668�0 1,324�8 1,481�5

Cost-to-income ratio 0�84 0�83 0�82

Return on equity 1�6% 3�1% 4�4%

Return on assets 0�1% 0�2% 0�3%

Equity ratio 6�9% 7�3% 7�7%

Capital adequacy ratio 16�8% 16�7% 14�8%
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EXPECTED AND REALISED 
CREDIT LOSSES
S-Bank booked a total of EUR 13�8 million 
(11�8) in expected and realised credit losses 
and losses due to malpractice� Reversed 
credit losses amounted to EUR 4�9 million 
(5�3)� Thus the net expected and realised 
credit losses and impairments totalled EUR 
8�9 million (6�6)� The increase in the credit 
losses is mainly due to the growth of the 
credit portfolio� Relative to the size of the 
credit portfolio, the percentage of credit 
losses and impairments is low�

DEPOSITS
Total deposits grew strongly during the finan-
cial year� At the balance sheet date, the total 
deposit portfolio amounted to EUR 5,832�7 
million (5,005�8), an increase of 16�5% on 
the previous year� 

At year-end, the amount of deposits on demand 
totalled EUR 5,827�5 million (5,000�0), and 
the amount of fixed-term deposits totalled EUR 
5�2 million (5�8)� Of these, deposits by retail 
customers totalled EUR 4,557�9 million 
(4,004�6),  consisting of EUR 4,552�7 million 
(3,998�9) in deposits  on demand and EUR 
5�2 million (5�8) in fixed-term deposits�  
Deposits by corporate customers totalled EUR 
1,274�8 million (1 001�1)�

At the close of the financial year, the total 
amount of deposits in S-Bank covered by the 
deposit guarantee scheme was EUR 4,288�8 
million (3,824�5)�

LENDING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Lending also grew considerably in 2018� In 
total, the lending portfolio increased by EUR 
462�1 million (232�7) during the year to 
EUR 4,187�0 million (3,724�9) at the end 
of the year�  This represented a growth of 
12�4% compared to the previous year� 

The housing loan portfolio grew by 15�2% as 
in the previous year, outperforming the rest 
of the market� Credit to retail customers 
amounted to EUR 3,393�0 million (2,959�0), 
while credit to corporate customers totalled 
EUR 794�0 million (765�9)� S-Bank’s capital 
investments in the money and capital mar-
kets totalled EUR 1,668�0 million (1,324�8)�

EQUITY
At the end of the year, equity totalled EUR 
442�1 million (414�1), of which the minority 
interest was EUR 0�2 million (0�2)� Equity 
increased due to the positive result for the 
financial year and the share issue, and it was 
decreased by transitional disclosures on first 
time adoption of IFRS 9� 

With the growth of the balance sheet, the 
equity ratio dropped to 6�9% (7�3), despite 
the increase in equity�

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
The amount of assets under management by 
FIM Asset Management Ltd was EUR 
7,576�2 million (6,891�7) at the end of the 
year� This represented a growth of 9�9% com-
pared to the previous year� Of the managed 

assets, the share of fund capital was EUR 
5,661�8 million (6,029�8), and wealth 
mana gement capital accounted for EUR 
1,914�4 million (861�9)� Net subscriptions 
in funds amounted to EUR -83�1 million 
(326�8) during the financial year� The num-
ber of unit holders in the funds exceeded 
240,000 at the end of December� FIM Asset 
Management administers the S-Bank, FIM 
and LocalTapiola investment funds�  
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RISK MANAGEMENT

INTRODUCTION TO THE 
REPORTING OF RISK AND CAPITAL 
ADEQUACY INFORMATION
S-Bank complies with its disclosure obliga-
tion by publishing information on risks, risk 
management and capital adequacy in its 
financial statements� The published informa-
tion on capital adequacy and risks is always 
available on S-Bank’s website, at www�s-
pankki�fi� In its interim reports, S-Bank pub-
lishes the information concerning capital 
adequacy and risk management that pursu-
ant to applicable regulation must be pub-
lished more than once a year� 

Part Eight of the EU Capital Requirements 
Regulation (CRR, 575/2013) sets out the 
requirements on disclosure of information 
(Pillar 3) concerning institutions’ risks, risk 
management and capital adequacy� The Pillar 
3 report (Capital and Risk Management 
Report) in accordance with this regulation is 
published in a document separate from the 
financial statements� The report, as well as 
S-Bank’s corporate governance statement 
and report on remuneration systems, are 
available on S-Bank’s website�

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
S-Bank provides banking and wealth man-
agement services to its customers� S-Bank’s 
strategy aims at vigorous growth in the com-
ing years, focusing particularly on services 

for retail customers and on the Wealth 
Mana gement business� The risk strategy 
defining S-Bank’s key principles and objec-
tives related to risks has been designed to 
support S-Bank’s business model and 
growth strategy� 

Comprehensive risk management is a conti-
nuous process integrated into S-Bank’s strat-
egy, decision making, processes, reporting 
and internal control framework� Risk manage-
ment refers to the procedures used to iden-
tify, assess, measure and monitor risks 
related to the company’s operations� It also 
encompasses the maintenance and develop-
ment of risk mitigation methods that will 
keep potential risks and their consequences 
at an acceptable level� 

The primary objective of risk management is 
to support the level of profitability, maintain 
capital adequacy and liquidity above the 
mini mum target levels defined by the Board 
of Directors, manage the reputation risk and 
secure disturbance-free operations in both 
the short and the long term� 

Risk strategy
S-Bank Group has an risk strategy approved 
by the parent company’s Board of Directors 
that applies to all the Group companies and 
their business and support functions� The 
risk strategy defines the Group’s risk capacity 
and risk appetite, as well as the risk manage-

ment objectives and framework within the 
Group� The risk strategy is fine-tuned with 
risk type specific principles and procedures� 
Additionally, the business and support func-
tions maintain more detailed guidelines and 
descriptions to support risk management in 
their own organisations�

Risk capacity and risk appetite
The Board of Directors annually defines the 
quantitative and qualitative aspects of the 
risk capacity and risk appetite� 

Risk capacity sets the maximum level for 
risk-taking in the Group in the short and long 
term� Securing sufficient capital adequacy 
and liquidity and ensuring compliance with 
regulation are key factors of the risk capacity�
 
Risk appetite reflects the approved amount 
and type of exposures that S-Bank is willing 
to take in its business operations over a certain 
period while pursuing its set objectives� It also 
defines such aspects as the internal minimum 
target levels for capital adequacy and liquidity� 
The basis of risk appetite is to achieve a stable 
and an adequate return on the Group’s equity 
in the short and long run� The purpose is also 
to secure business continuity, conduct opera-
tions responsibly and ensure that S-Bank’s 
risk-taking is controlled and planned� Another 
purpose is to ensure that the confidentiality, 
integrity and availability of customer, personal 
and business data are not compromised� 

Risk limits
The risk capacity and appetite are imple-
mented in S-Bank’s operations and reflected 
in the risk limit structure� These limits are 
updated regularly and whenever needed if 
risks associated with business operations and 
the operating environment so require� 

The Board of Directors sets numerical targets 
and acceptable levels for different risk types� 
These limits reflect possible restrictions stip-
ulated by regulation, taking risk appetite into 
consideration� Decision making mandates are 
defined and delegated to an appropriate level 
to ensure fluent daily control of business 
operations� These targets and limits are moni-
tored and controlled as part of regular report-
ing procedures� 

In addition to the Pillar 1 capital require-
ments set by the authorities, S-Bank calcu-
lates and complies with an internal capital 
adequacy requirement for its Pillar 2 risks� 
These requirements apply to S-Bank Group, 
its parent company and its subsidiaries� 

The governance, structure and organisation 
of risk management as well as risk monitor-
ing, control and reporting are discussed in 
the note concerning the Group’s risks and 
risk management� Capital adequacy and 
liquidity management are also described in 
the same note� 
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Below is a summary of S-Bank Group’s risk 
position at the close of the financial period� 
The most significant risks that can potentially 
affect S-Bank’s profitability, capital adequacy 
and liquidity are related to business volumes, 
lending and borrowing margins, general inte-
rest rates, economic performance, unfavour-
able development in credit losses and the 
cost-efficiency of business operations�

The most significant risk types from the per-
spective of the Pillar 1 capital requirements 
are credit risks and operational risks� In addi-
tion to calculating Pillar 1 capital require-
ments, S-Bank also calculates an internal 
Pillar 2 capital requirement in order to assess 
all the material risks related to its operations 
and to ensure a comprehensive overview of 
its risk profile�

Credit risk constitutes 90% (EUR 2�4 billion) 
of S-Bank’s total risk weighted assets (RWAs)� 
The standardised approach is used for calcu-
lating the Pillar 1 capital requirement for 
credit risk� The most substantial items requir-
ing capital include housing loans, retail expo-
sures and corporate exposures� There were no 
major shifts in the credit portfolio distribution 
between different loan types during 2018� 
S-Bank sustains a low credit risk profile in 
line with its conservative risk appetite, sup-
ported by active risk management and moni-
toring measures� 

S-Bank does not have a trading book� For 
this reason, S-Bank is not subject to the 
Pillar 1 capital requirement for market risk� 
As S-Bank’s market risks arise from the 

banking book, these are – in accordance 
with the Pillar 1 requirement and methods 
– included in the regulatory capital require-
ments for credit risk using the standardised 
approach� In addition, market risk is mea-
sured with an internal market risk model as 
part of the Pillar 2 and ICAAP processes 
(Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process)�

Operational risk accounts for 10% of 
S-Bank’s total RWAs� The basic indicator 
approach (Pillar 1) is used for calculating the 
capital requirement for the operational risk� 
Losses attributable to operational risks rea-
lised in 2018 were very low in comparison to 
the regulatory capital requirement for opera-
tional risk� S-Bank’s operational risk profile 
is materially impacted by system failures and 
disruptions, fraud and possible deficiencies 
in the services procured from external service 
providers� 

S-Bank’s capital position remained stable, 
exceeding the regulatory requirements and 
the internal minimum target level of 15%� 
S-Bank’s total capital adequacy ratio was 
16�8% at the close of the financial year� To 
support the growth of its business and pre-
pare for regulatory changes concerning capi-
tal requirements, S-Bank carried out a share 
issue to its current shareholders towards the 
end of the year� The share issue increased 
S-Bank’s Common Equity Tier 1 capital by 
EUR 40 million in December 2018� S-Bank 
is adequately capitalised to ensure the con-
tinuity of its operations even under stressed 
conditions� 

S-BANK GROUP’S RISK POSITION

Table 2: S-Bank’s key risk ratios         

EUR MILLION 31 DEC. 2018 31 DEC. 2017

Risk-weighted exposure amounts (in euros)

Total risk-weighted exposure amounts 2,696�0 2,531�7

Credit and counterparty risk, standardised 
approach 2,419�7 2,251�9

Market risk 0�0 0�0

Operational risk, basic indicator approach 273�1 276�9

Credit valuation adjustment (CVA) 3�1 2�9

Own funds (in euros)

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital 401�8 372�2

Tier 2 (T2) capital 50�0 50�0

Total capital 451�8 422�2

Pillar 1 minimum capital requirement (8%) 215�7 202�5

Pillar 1 total capital requirement (12�79% 
in 2018 and 10�53% in 2017) 344�8 266�7

Capital ratios (as a percentage of total risk-
weighted exposure amounts)

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio 14�9% 14�7%

Total capital adequacy ratio 16�8% 16�7%

Leverage ratio (CRR)

Leverage ratio (%) 6�0% 6�4%

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%) 156�4% 162�9%

Net stable funding ratio (NSFR)

Net stable funding ratio (%) 145�9% 144�6%
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The capital buffer in relation to the total regu-
latory Pillar 1 capital requirement (12�79%) 
was EUR 107�0 million�

S-Bank’s leverage ratio of 6�0% is also strong, 
while the minimum regulatory requirement is 
set at 3%� In addition, S-Bank’s liquidity 
position was first-rate at the end of the year� 
The liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) was 156%, 
while the minimum regulatory requirement is 
set at 100%� 
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Table 3: S-Bank’s capital requirement, 31 December 2018

Equity Minimum capital requirement Capital conservation buffer Countercyclical buffer Pillar 2 (SREP) additional 
capital requirement Total capital requirement

 % EUR million % EUR million % EUR million % EUR million % EUR million

CET1 4�5% 121�3 2�5% 67�4 0�04% 1�1 2�25% 60�7 9�29% 250�5

AT1 1�5% 40�4 1�50% 40�4

T2 2�0% 53�9 2�00% 53�9

Total 8.0% 215.7 2.5% 67.4 0.04% 1.1 2.25% 60.7 12.79% 344.8

CAPITAL ADEQUACY AND OWN FUNDS

The management of capital adequacy is also 
discussed in the notes to the financial state-
ments (consolidated note 2: The Group’s 
risks and risk management)� S-Bank Group’s 
risks and risk management are also pre-
sented in the same note� 

On 30 January 2018, The Finnish Financial 
Supervisory Authority (FSA) set a discretion-
ary Pillar 2 additional capital requirement 
(SREP) for S-Bank, based on interest rate risk 

in the banking book and the concentration of 
credit risk� The requirement amounts to 
2�25% and it became effective on 30 Sep-
tember 2018� The additional capital require-
ment was set on the basis that the risks in 
question had not been accounted for in the 
regulatory capital requirement (Pillar 1)� The 
discretionary additional capital requirement 
is valid until further notice with expiry on 30 
September 2021 at the latest� The require-
ment must be met with CET1 capital�

Table 3 sets forth the distribution of the Pil-
lar 1 total capital requirement in S-Bank on 
31 December 2018�

In addition to the above-mentioned capital 
requirements, the Finnish FSA set a systemic 
risk buffer (CET1) on 29 June 2018 for all 
credit institutions authorised in Finland� The 
requirement for S-Bank is one per cent� This 
requirement will enter into force on 1 July 
2019 and will be subject to a revision annually�

Table 4 describes the link between S-Bank’s 
risk position and minimum capital require-
ments� The table presents an overview of all 
risk-weighted exposure amounts (RWAs)� 
Off-balance sheet items are reported within the 
appropriate exposure classes� The table also 
indicates the minimum capital requirement 
(8%) for each exposure amount� S-Bank’s total 
RWAs increased by EUR 164�3 million, mainly 
due to strategic growth in lending to retail  
customers� 
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Table 4: Overview of RWAs         

31 DEC. 2018 31 DEC. 2017

 EUR MILLION RWAs
Minimum capital 

requirements RWAs
Minimum capital 

requirements

1 Credit risk (excluding counterparty credit risk), standardised approach 2,411.7 192.9 2,250.5 180.0

     Central governments or central banks 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

     Regional governments or local authorities 0�8 0�1 0�0 0�0

     Public sector entities 1�0 0�1 1�4 0�1

     Institutions 133�1 10�6 126�5 10�1

     Corporates 551�2 44�1 577�8 46�2

     Retail 646�2 51�7 577�3 46�2

     Secured by mortgages on immovable property 974�1 77�9 876�1 70�1

     Exposures in default 21�3 1�7 14�8 1�2

     Covered bonds 46�5 3�7 36�1 2�9

     Collective investment undertakings 24�7 2�0 30�7 2�5

     Equity exposures 0�5 0�0 0�3 0�0

     Other exposures 12�4 1�0 9�6 0�8

6 Counterparty credit risk 4.8 0.4 4.3 0.3

7      Of which mark to market 1�6 0�1 1�4 0�1

12      Of which credit valuation adjustment (CVA) 3�1 0�3 2�9 0�2

19 Market risk 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

24 Operational risk, basic indicator approach 273.1 21.8 276.9 22.2

27 Amounts below the thresholds for deduction (subject to a 250%  
risk weight) 6.4 0.5 0.0 0.0

29 Total 2,696.0 215.7 2 531.7 202.5
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Table 5: Summary of S-Bank’s capital adequacy information          

OWN FUNDS (EUR MILLION) 31 DEC. 2018 31 DEC. 2017

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital  
before regulatory adjustments 441.9 413.9

Share capital 82�9 82�9

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 283�8 243�8

Retained earnings 78�2 75�6

Profit/loss from previous financial periods 71�5 63�3

Profit/loss for the financial period 6�7 12�4

Fair value reserves -3�0 11�6

Other reserves 0�0 0�0

Regulatory adjustments to Common Equity  
Tier 1 (CET1) capital 40.0 41.7

Intangible assets 38�3 38�7

Deferred tax assets 0�0 1�7

Value adjustments due to the requirements 
for prudent valuation 1�7 1�3

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital 401.8 372.2

Additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital before 
adjustments 0.0 0.0

Adjustments to Additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital 0.0 0.0

Additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital 0.0 0.0

Tier 1 (T1) capital 401.8 372.2

Tier 2 (T2) capital before adjustments 50.0 50.0

Subordinated debt 50�0 50�0

Adjustments to Tier 2 (T2) capital 0.0 0.0

Tier 2 (T2) capital 50.0 50.0

Total capital 451.8 422.2

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Total capital 451�8 422�2

Minimum capital requirement 215�7 202�5

Capital adequacy ratio 16.8% 16.7%

Tier 1 capital 401�8 372�2

Minimum capital requirement 215�7 202�5

Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 14.9% 14.7%

Total risk-weighted exposure amounts (RWAs) 2,696.0 2,531.7

of which credit risk 2,419�7 2,251�9

of which market risk 0�0 0�0

of which operational risk 273�1 276�9

of which credit valuation adjustment (CVA) 3�1 2�9

Ratio of CET1 capital to risk-weighted exposure 
amounts (%) 14.9% 14.7%

Ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted exposure 
amounts (%) 14.9% 14.7%

Ratio of own funds to risk-weighted exposure 
amounts (%) 16.8% 16.7%

Table 5 presents a summary of S-Bank’s own 

funds� S-Bank’s total capital adequacy ratio 

was 16�8% (16�7) at the close of the finan-

cial year� The entry into force of IFRS 9 and 

the calculation of expected credit losses 

resulted in a reduction of own funds by  

EUR 9�2 million on the opening balance 

sheet for 2018� Unfavourable market condi-

tions and widening credit spreads across the 

global fixed-income markets were the most 

significant factor that decreased the fair 

value reserve� 
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Figure 1: Changes in own funds and the capital adequacy position

398.2 406.0
422.2 416.1

451.8

356.2 364.0 372.2 366.1

401.8

215.6 217.1
202.5 209.1 215.7

282.9 284.9
266.7 275.9

344.8

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

31 Dec 2016 30 Jun 2017 31 Dec 2017 30 Jun 2018 31 Dec 18

Own funds (T1+T2)

Tier 1 capital (T1) Pillar 1 minimum capital requirement (8.0%)

"Pillar 1 total capital requirement 31 Dec 2018 (12.79%)

EUR million

The figure 1 presents a summary of the 
semi-annual development of the Pillar 1 mini-
mum capital requirement, the total capital 
requirement and own funds� The additional 
Pillar 2 (SREP) capital requirement raised the 
total capital requirement in the second half 
of 2018� At the end of the reporting period, 
the capital buffer was EUR 236�1 million in 
relation to the Pillar 1 minimum capital 
requirement and EUR 107�0 million in rela-
tion to the Pillar 1 total capital requirement� 
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GROUP STRUCTURE AND S-BANK’S SUBSIDIARIES

Figure 2: Legal structure of S-Bank Group
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FIM Asset Management Ltd
FIM Asset Management Ltd administers the 
S-Bank, FIM and LocalTapiola funds and pro-
vides portfolio management services to the 
entire S-Bank Group� S-Bank owns 100% of 
FIM Asset Management Ltd’s share capital� 
In the period under review, the operating loss 
of FIM Asset Management Ltd amounted to 
EUR -0�4 million (0�5)�
 
FIM Private Equity Funds Ltd
FIM Private Equity Funds Ltd is an alterna-
tive fund manager, providing S-Bank Group 
with portfolio management services for pri-
vate equity funds� Additionally, FIM Private 
Equity Funds Ltd is the portfolio manager 
in the real estate and forest funds managed 
by FIM Asset Management Ltd� S-Bank 
owns 100% of FIM Private Equity Funds 
Ltd’s share capital� In the period under 
review, the operating loss of FIM Private 
Equity Funds Ltd amounted to EUR -0�2 
million (-0�2)�
 
FIM Real Estate Ltd
FIM Real Estate Ltd is the general partner in 
S-Bank Group’s real estate funds� FIM Real 
Estate Ltd is a subsidiary of FIM Private 
Equity Funds Ltd, which holds 80% of its 
shares� In the period under review, the  

opera ting profit of FIM Real Estate Ltd 
amounted to EUR 1�2 million (0�8)�
 
FIM Infrastructure Mezzanine Debt Fund GP 
Ltd, FIM Private Debt Fund I GP Ltd (previ-
ously FIM Infrastructure Equity Fund GP 
Ltd), FIM SIB Ltd
These companies serve as general partners in 
funds managed by FIM Private Equity Funds 
Ltd� These companies do not have any other 
business operations and are 100% owned by 
FIM Private Equity Funds Ltd�

S-Asiakaspalvelu Ltd
S-Asiakaspalvelu Ltd a wholly-owned subsid-
iary of S-Bank Ltd� It provides data process-
ing and other services related to a credit 
institution’s core operations as a service com-
pany in accordance with the Finnish Act on 
Credit Institutions (610/2014)�
 
During the period under review, S-Asi-
akaspalvelu Ltd’s revenue totalled EUR 5�7 
million (6�4), of which intra-group revenue 
accounted for EUR 4�2 million (4�7)� The 
remaining revenue consisted of telephone 
services for co-op members offered to the 
cooperatives� Its expenses mostly consist of 
personnel expenses� S-Asiakaspalvelu’s 
opera ting profit was EUR 0�2 million (0�6)�
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GOVERNANCE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting was held on 14 
March 2018� The Annual General Meeting 
approved the financial statements for 2017 
and discharged the members of the Board of 
Directors and the CEO from liability� The 
meeting elected seven members and three 
deputy members to the Board of Directors� 
The meeting elected KPMG Oy Ab as the 
company’s auditor�

An extraordinary general meeting was held on 
24 October 2018� The meeting resolved on 
the organising of a share issue to the share-
holders�

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Annual General Meeting confirms the 
number of members of the Board of Directors 
and elects the members of the Board for a 
term of one year at a time� The Board of 
Directors elects a Chair and Vice Chair from 
amongst its members� The Board of Directors 
has confirmed rules of procedure, according 
to which it is responsible for the strategic 
development of the bank, steering and cont-
rolling its operations, as well as deciding on 
the company’s main operating principles and 
general values in accordance with the appli-
cable legislation and regulations� 

At the Annual General Meeting of S-Bank, the 
following members were elected to S-Bank 

Ltd’s Board of Directors: Jari Annala, CFO of 
SOK; Juha Ahola, Treasurer of SOK; Juha 
Mäkinen, Senior Managing Director at Local-
Tapiola East; Olli Vormisto, Managing Direc-
tor of the Hämeenmaa Cooperative Society; 
and as new members, Veli-Matti Liimatainen, 
Managing Director of the Helsinki Coopera-
tive Society Elanto, and Jari Eklund, Director 
of the LocalTapiola Group, as new members� 
In addition, Heli Arantola, EVP Categories 
and Concepts at HKScan Plc, was elected to 
the Board as an independent member� 

Jari Annala was elected as the Chairman of the 
Board and Jari Eklund as its Vice Chairman�

The deputy members nominated by S Group 
and elected to S-Bank’s Board of Directors 
were Hannu Krook, Managing Director of the 
Varuboden-Osla Handelslag Cooperative, and 
Harri Miettinen, Managing Director of the 
Kymi Region Cooperative Society� The deputy 
member nominated by LocalTapiola Group 
and elected to S-Bank Ltd’s Board of Direc-
tors was Erik Valros, Managing Director of 
LocalTapiola Uusimaa�

The following two members resigned from the 
Board of Directors: Matti Niemi, Managing 
Director of the Helsinki Cooperative Society 
Elanto (as of 31 December 2017), and Harri 
Lauslahti, Innovation Director of the Local-
Tapiola Group�

The Board convened 13 times (14) during 
the financial period, and the average atten-
dance rate of members was 96% (97)� The 
fees paid to the members of the Board 
totalled EUR 30,000 (30,000)�

CEO
The CEO is appointed by the Board of Direc-
tors of S-Bank� The CEO is responsible for the 
bank’s day-to-day management in accord-
ance with the instructions and orders issued 
by the Board of Directors, applicable legis-
lation and regulations, and the Articles of 
Association� The CEO acts as the chairman 
of the Group Management Team appointed 
by the Board of Directors� The Group Manage-
ment Team assists the CEO in the bank’s 
day-to-day management� The Deputy CEO 
will handle the CEO’s duties if the CEO is 
prevented from attending to them�

The CEO of S-Bank Ltd is Pekka Ylihurula 
and the Deputy CEO is Aki Gynther, EVP, 
Head of Retail and Corporate Banking�

PERSONNEL
At the end of the year, S-Bank Group employed 
a total of 685 people (656)� Of this number, 
565 (526) worked for S-Bank Ltd, 80 (91) 
for S-Asiakaspalvelu Ltd, and 40 (39) for the 
FIM companies� S Group’s regional coopera-
tives and LocalTapiola Group’s regional com-
panies operate as S-Bank’s agents�

SALARIES AND REMUNERATION
S-Bank Group’s remuneration principles are 
confirmed by the Board of Directors� S-Bank’s 
Board of Directors decides on all available 
remuneration methods, and regularly tracks 
and assesses the performance of the remu-
neration systems and compliance with the 
decided operating principles and procedures�
 
The Compensation and Nomination Commit-
tee of S-Bank’s Board of Directors is a body 
that assists the Board, annually preparing 
performance-based compensation principles 
for the bank’s personnel, in accordance with 
its rules of procedure, and submitting them 
to the Board for confirmation� The Compen-
sation and Nomination Committee works to 
ensure that the bank’s policies concerning 
salaries and remuneration are consistent with 
sound and effective risk management and do 
not encourage excessive risk-taking� The 
Compensation and Nomination Committee 
consists of at least two members and a Chair-
man appointed by the bank’s Board of Direc-
tors� 

At S-Bank Group, the remuneration model 
consists of a basic salary and perfor-
mance-based variable compensation� The 
objective of the variable compensation mod-
els is to encourage employees to focus on  
the key activities needed to reach the  
strategic and operational goals� The variable 
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compensation systems used by S-Bank Group 
are valid for a maximum of one calendar year 
at a time, with the exception of the long-term 
incentive scheme� The targets in the variable 
compensation models are based on the entire 
bank’s shared targets, unit-level targets and/
or personal targets, and they can vary by per-
sonnel group� The performance-based com-
pensation is paid in cash� In 2018, S-Bank 
Group established a personnel fund to which 
the employees can transfer some of their var-
iable compensation earned in 2018�

The salaries and fees paid to personnel at 
S-Bank Group totalled EUR 40�4 million 
(37�4) in 2018� S-Bank Ltd paid a total of 
EUR 30�6 million (27) in salaries and EUR 
3�3 million (3�4) in other remuneration� 
S-Asiakaspalvelu paid EUR 2�7 million (2�9) 
in salaries and EUR 0�2 million (0�2) in other 
remuneration� The FIM companies paid EUR 
3�1 million (3�1) in salaries and EUR 0�5 
million (0�7) in other remuneration� More-
over, S-Bank Group paid EUR 0�2 million 
towards additional pensions�

The fees paid to the members of the Board 
of Directors of S-Bank Ltd totalled EUR 
30,000 (30,000)� The fees paid to the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors of FIM Asset 
Management Ltd totalled EUR 12,000 
(9,000)� The members of the Board of Direc-
tors of FIM Real Estate Ltd were paid EUR 
13,800 (11,000) in fees� 

In 2018, S-Bank Ltd paid EUR 5�4 million 
(4�9) in salaries and EUR 1 million (0�7) in 
other remuneration to persons whose profes-
sional activities have a material impact on the 
risk profile of the credit institution� A total of 
61 persons (56) received salaries and remu-
neration under this category� At FIM compa-
nies, persons in this category of staff were 
paid a total of EUR 2�5 million (2�1) in sal-
aries and EUR 0�4 million (0�5) in other 
remuneration in 2018� A total of 28 persons 
(23) received salaries and remuneration 
under this category� In accordance with 
S-Bank Ltd’s remuneration policies, part of 
the variable compensation is postponed if the 
remuneration of an individual exceeds EUR 
50,000 for an earnings period of one year� In 
2018, no individual’s compensation was 
postponed�

More information on the salary and remuner-
ation policies is available on S-Bank’s web-
site at www�s-pankki�fi�

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE 
END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
In January 2019, S-Bank’s Wealth Manage-
ment business strengthened its position in 
responsible investing by concluding a trans-
action in which FIM Private Equity Funds Ltd 
acquired Epiqus Oy� Epiqus Oy, a fund man-
ager specialising in impact investment 
funds, will become a subsidiary of FIM Pri-
vate Equity Funds Ltd and its employees will 

be transferred to S-Bank’s Wealth Manage-
ment business�

OUTLOOK FOR 2019
The global economic outlook for 2019 is 
moderate, although it involves some risks� 
The pace of economic growth will slow down 
in many countries� A rise in interest rates, a 
decrease in monetary stimulus and political 
uncertainty will hamper economic growth 
across the globe this year� The risks facing 
economic performance are higher� We fore-
cast that interest rates will remain low in the 
eurozone this year� Worries over economic 
growth and political uncertainty will keep the 
investment environment challenging�

We expect Finland to see more moderate eco-
nomic growth in 2019� Household spending 
will maintain growth, but a slowdown in 
const ruction will curb investment� As demand 
levels off in Finland’s key export markets, 
growth in exports will be more subdued� Infla-
tion will pick up somewhat, while growth in 
employment will even out� Activity in the 
housing market will most likely remain at its 
current level, and we estimate that housing 
prices will rise slowly� 

S-Bank Group expects its profitability to 
improve significantly in 2019� This is under-
pinned by the measures started in 2018 for 
increasing income and boosting the effi-
ciency of operations�

PROPOSAL BY THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS FOR THE DISPOSAL 
OF DISTRIBUTABLE FUNDS
The Board of Directors proposes that the par-
ent company S-Bank Ltd’s profit for the finan-
cial year of EUR 7,123,020�41 be entered 
in the retained earnings account and that no 
dividend be distributed�
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CALCULATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Net income:                                                                                

Net interest income + net fee and commission income + other income                        

Net interest income:

Interest income – interest expenses

Net fee and commission income:

Fee and commission income – fee and commission expenses

Other income:

Net income from securities and currency operations + net income from financial assets 
measured at fair value through the fair value reserve + net income from hedge accounting + 
other operating income

Operating expenses:

Administrative expenses + depreciation, amortisation and impairment on consolidated 
goodwill and tangible and intangible assets + other operating expenses

Cost-to-income ratio:

Administrative expenses + depreciation, amortisation and impairment on tangible assets and 
intangible assets + other operating expenses (excluding impairment losses)

Net interest income + return on equity investments + net fee and commission income + net 
income from securities and currency operations + net income from financial assets measu-
red at fair value through the fair value reserve + net income from hedge accounting + net 
income from investment properties + other operating income + share of in the profits of 
associated companies (net)

Return on equity (ROE), %:

Operating profit/loss – income tax
x 100

Equity and minority interest + accumulated appropriations less deferred tax 
liability (the average at the beginning and end of the year)*

Return on assets (ROA), %:

Operating profit/loss – income tax
x 100

Average balance sheet total (the average at the beginning and end of the year)

Equity ratio, %:

Equity and minority interest + accumulated appropriations less deferred tax 
liability* x 100

Balance sheet total

Capital adequacy ratio, %:

Total capital
x 8%

Total minimum capital requirement

Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio, %:

Tier 1 capital, total
x 8%

Total minimum capital requirement

Leverage ratio, %:

Tier 1 capital, total
x 100

Balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures

* Only in the calculation of company-specific KPIs; the Group does not have any appropriations or any 
related deferred tax liability
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY REPORT
S-Bank is a Finnish bank that provides its 
customers with banking and wealth manage-
ment services� S-Bank was established in 
2007 and is founded on strong cooperative 
values, which means responsibility is natu-
rally at the core of its operations� S-Bank also 

offers its customers the chance to make 
responsible choices�

This has also come across to our customers, 
as Finns chose S-Bank as the most responsi-
ble bank in 2018 for the sixth year in a row 

in the Sustainable Brand Index, the largest 
survey on sustainable development in the 
Nordic countries1�

The key responsibility themes identified for 
the operations of S-Bank are benefiting cus-

tomers and society, as well as ensuring the 
well-being of the personnel� These themes 
were identified through background analyses, 
surveys of key stakeholders and management 
workshops conducted in autumn 2017� 

S-BANK GROUP’S BUSINESS MODEL
S-Bank Ltd focuses on products and services 
offered to retail customers� In addition to this, 
S-Bank offers targeted services to companies�
 
S-Bank provides services under two brands� 
The S-Bank brand is used to offer services for 
daily banking, saving and investment, and the 
financing of various needs� Under the FIM 
brand, the bank offers private banking services 
as well as services for institutional investors� 
The operations of the Group’s subsidiaries are 
described in further detail in the section 
Group structure and S-Bank’s subsidiaries�

S-Bank serves its customers at the customer 
service points located in S Group’s business 
locations and through its telephone service, its 
online bank, the S-mobiili app and various social 
media channels� S-Bankers serve customers, 
mainly in matters related to housing loans, in 
13 cities and towns� In addition, FIM’s private 
bankers offer their services at six localities�

The regional cooperatives of S Group act as 
agents of S-Bank, offering its banking ser-
vices at their business locations�
 
S-Bank’s services are primarily offered to the 
co-op members of S Group and their house-
holds, who receive basic banking services 
free of charge� S-bank aims to maintain rea-
sonable prices for other services, and all ser-
vices are priced transparently� The cash bene-
fits paid to co-op members, such as the 
Bonus earned from shopping and pay-
ment-method benefits, are paid to the cus-
tomer’s account in S-Bank�
 
The bank’s earnings model is mainly based on 
accepting customer deposits, granting loans 
and engaging in investment activities� The 
bank’s largest source of income, net interest 
income, is the difference between interest 
income received and interest expenses paid� 
Interest income is mainly earned from credit 

and loans granted to customers� Interest 
expenses depend on the interest paid on 
deposits and the interest paid on funds 
obtained from other funding sources�

The second largest source of income is fee 
and commission income, which comes from 
services related to lending, payment trans-
mission, services related to the use of cards 
and the Wealth Management business� Fee 
and commission expenses include expenses 
related to the Wealth Management business 
and service fees paid to service providers for 
the use of cards� Net fee and commission 
income is the difference between fee and 
commission income and expenses� In the 
Banking business, the amount of net fee and 
commission income is dependent on the 
degree and extent of the use of banking ser-
vices� In the Wealth Management business, 
net fee and commission income is dependent 
on the amount of assets under management� 

The amount of these assets is influenced by 
the actions of the Wealth Management busi-
ness as well as the performance of the secu-
rities markets� Since the management fees for 
funds are calculated as percentages of the 
funds’ net asset value, market performance is 
directly reflected in the amount of these fees�
 
Operating expenses mainly consist of person-
nel expenses, IT expenses and other admin-
istrative expenses, including agency fees paid 
to the cooperative societies�

In order for business operations to be profit-
able the bank must manage its balance 
sheet, risks and expenses effectively� The 
bank’s duty is to ensure sufficient capital 
adequacy and liquidity under all conditions�

S-Bank Group’s business is subject to a 
licence, widely regulated and supervised by 
the authorities�

1In the Sustainable Brand Index survey about 40,000 respondents in the Nordic countries, of whom 9,600 were from Finland, were interviewed from January to March 2018� The target group for the survey were 
people aged 16–70 years�
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Table 6: Ease of doing business with S-Bank

2018 2017

Telephone service3 4�1 4�1

Customer service points3 4�6 4�6

Online bank3 4�5 4�4

S-mobiili4 4�6 4�6

(scale 1–5, 1 = Very difficult and 5 = Very easy)

FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE CUSTOMER
In accordance with its vision, “Superior ease 
and benefits”, S-Bank aims to be a fair part-
ner for its customers with which they can take 
care of their banking needs easily and con-
veniently� Basic banking services – a bank 
account, card and banking IDs for electronic 
services – that S-Bank offers free of charge to 
all the co-op members and their families form 
the cornerstone of S-Bank’s responsibility�
 
S-Bank aims to offer everyone the chance to 
have a slightly wealthier future� S-Bank’s goal 
is to make saving a new national pastime and 
to lower the threshold for saving by making 
saving in funds as easy and cheap as possi-
ble� In 2018, 13�4% of customers who 
started saving with S-Bank were first-time 
savers�

S-Bank’s services are easily accessible 
through digital channels and the telephone 
services, or at one of the customer service 
points in connection with a shopping trip� 
Customers can also withdraw and deposit 
cash at the checkouts of approximately 

1,000 S Group stores around Finland� The 
aim is to provide seamless customer service 
through different channels�
 
Customer trust and satisfaction are one of the 
most important measures of success for 
S-Bank� The bank tracks customer satisfac-
tion on two levels� The quality of customer 
service is measured continuously in connec-
tion with individual service encounters 
through the different channels� Additionally, 
a broader customer survey is conducted twice 
a year to measure customers’ satisfaction 
with their customer relationship as a whole� 
In 2018, the customers who used S-Bank’s 
services actively gave S-Bank an overall score 
of 8�3 out of 102�

Many factors contribute to the ease of doing 
business with S-Bank� Key factors include 
open and understandable communications, 
clear pricing and easy-to-use services� 
S-Bank’s customers consider it to be very 
easy on average to do business through the 
different channels�

2Source: S-Bank’s customer satisfaction survey in 2018� Question: What overall score would you give 
S-Bank? On a scale of 1–10, where 1 = Very weak and 10 = Excellent (conducted by Kantar TNS) 

3The figures are channel-specific average scores from 2018� Question: How easy was it to achieve 
what you wanted to do? Source: measurements of S-Bank’s customer service encounters, January–
December 2018 (conducted by Bisnode)� 
4Ease of use has been measured for the bank section of S-mobiili� The figure is the mean value of 
monthly weighted averages� Source: survey carried out on S-mobiili, January–December 2018�
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FOR THE WELL-BEING OF THE PERSONNEL  
S-Bank aims to make its customers feel their 
expectations are always exceeded� S-Bank also 
strives to challenge the traditional practices in 
the banking sector� Success in achieving these 
aims depends on a competent and committed 
personnel� The well-being and competence of 
its personnel and good management are thus 
important focus areas for S-Bank�

NUMBER OF PERSONNEL
At the end of 2018, a total of 685 (656) 
people were in an active employment rela-
tionship with S-Bank Group�

Most employment relationships with S-Bank 
are permanent and full-time� However, some 
positions in customer service and the back 
office can be staffed with part-time employ-
ees� Part-time work may also be the employ-
ee’s own choice, because they want to work 
flexibly while studying, for instance� S-Bank 
offers internships for students in addition to 
part-time employment� Employment relation-
ships may also be for a fixed term, for exam-
ple, when recruiting substitutes for perma-
nent employees or addressing temporary 
resource needs� S-Bank also employs people 
on apprenticeship contracts� During their 
two-year apprenticeship training, the employ-
ees work in customer service positions, com-
pleting a vocational qualification in business 
management at the same time�

S-Bank makes it easy for its employees to 
combine work with their private lives� Over 

the course of the year, the number of employ-
ees who took family leave (excluding part-
time child-care leave) was 65, of whom 50 
were women and 15 were men� At the end 
of the year, 28 employees were on study 
leave�

During 2018, a total of 152 new employees 
started work at S-Bank� A total of 133 
employees left the bank, with 6 employees 
retiring� No employees stopped working 
because of a disability� In autumn 2018, 
S-Bank held cooperation negotiations with 
the employees concerning redundancies, 
which led to a reduction of 9 employees�

PERSONNEL SATISFACTION 
AND GOOD MANAGEMENT
S-Bank offers its employees versatile work 
tasks and the opportunity to influence their 
own job descriptions� Employees are given 
plenty of responsibility as they develop oper-
ations and the services offered to more than 
three million S-Bank customers�

S-Bank tracks employee satisfaction and the 
well-being of the personnel with an annual 
personnel survey� In 2018, the job satisfac-
tion index derived from the outcomes of key 
questions in the survey was 73�1 (on a scale 
of 0–100)� This good result was 2�3 points 
higher than in the previous year and clearly 
exceeded the norm for expert positions in 
Finland� The response rate of 89�7% was also 
excellent in 2018�

Table 7: Personnel gender distribution

Men Women Total

Permanent full-time 247 340 587

Permanent part-time 6 33 39

Fixed-term full-time 14 38 52

Fixed-term part-time 5 2 7

Total 272 413 685

Figure 3: Nature of employment and working hours

Working hours

7%

93%

part-time full-time

Nature of employment

fixed-term permanent

91%

9%
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The results of the survey improved in all areas, 
but especially in questions related to the com-
pany as a whole� The immediate work commu-
nity was cited as the biggest strength of S-Bank� 
The personnel were particularly satisfied with 
team-level communications and participation, 
as well as with the work of their managers�

S-Bank has identified good management as a 
key factor influencing personnel motivation 
and commitment� The bank focuses on devel-
oping and supporting managers in their work 
by actively communicating with them and 
arranging training and discussion events and 
manager events, among other things� S-Bank 
emphasises good cooperation and open dis-
cussion between the management and the 
employees� 

DEVELOPMENT OF EXPERTISE
In order for S-Bank to execute its strategy 
successfully, it is crucial for it to possess the 
right kind of expertise and for this expertise 
to be constantly developed in a changing 
regu latory and operating environment� 

The level of expertise of individual employees 
is annually assessed in performance apprais-
als, where each team member assesses their 
expertise together with their manager and 
agrees on any necessary development meas-
ures� In addition to the one-on-one perfor-
mance appraisals, S-Bank uses team-level 
expertise discussions where an entire team 
can discuss its existing and required expertise� 

In a changing operating environment and 
with digitalisation becoming more ubiqui-
tous, learning is a part of the day-to-day work 

of every employee, often occurring during the 
performance of one’s duties� In addition to 
personal learning, internal job mobility helps 
to deepen communications and cooperation 
between units� 

The development of expertise is also supported 
with various training and coaching events� 

REMUNERATION
Remuneration supports S-Bank’s vision, the 
achievement of the strategic goals and imple-
mentation of the bank’s values� S-Bank aims 
to commit its personnel to profitable opera-
tions and to the company in the long term 
through competitive, motivating and fair 
remuneration� The remuneration principles 
are confirmed every year�

Remuneration at S-Bank consists of a basic 
salary and variable compensation� The aims 
of the variable compensation models are to 
supplement the salary and promote the 
achievement of the strategic and operational 
goals� S-Bank uses a variety of annual com-
pensation models for different personnel 
groups� They are based on the result of the 
business units and the individual perfor-
mance of the employees� In 2018, S-Bank 
established a personnel fund based on a pro-
posal by the employees� S-Bank also offers its 
employees comprehensive personnel benefits�

S-Bank uses a system to assess how demand-
ing work tasks are to assist it in determining 
a fair and motivating salary level� Wage gaps 
between men and women are reviewed annu-
ally� No gender gaps in salaries were detected 
in the review conducted in 2018� 

Figure 4: Personnel age distribution
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At S-Bank, 66% of the personnel are aged 25–44�
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FOR THE BENEFIT OF SOCIETY
S-Bank provides benefits and services, and thus 
well-being, to the co-op members of S Group�
 
ETHICAL AND COMPLIANT OPERATIONS 
In addition to complying with laws and regu-
lations, S-Bank is committed to observing its 
code of ethics, which is in line with the 
bank’s values and is underpinned by the prin-
ciples of openness, fairness and transpar-
ency� The code of ethics also observes the 
good banking principles – including bank 
secrecy and privacy protection for customers 
– prepared by Finance Finland�
 
The code of ethics is discussed with all new 
employees, who must commit to observing 
the code before starting their employment 
relationship� In addition, code of ethics train-
ing is arranged for the entire personnel� At the 
end of 2018, 86�7% of the active personnel 
had completed the code of ethics training�

The personal interests of the employees or 
those of their related parties may not influ-
ence their decisions in the course of their 
duties� Employees have an obligation to 
report any conflicts of interest they detect to 
their supervisor or to the Compliance func-
tion� S-Bank’s Compliance function monitors 
compliance with internal guidelines, the code 
of ethics and official regulations in accord-
ance with its annual plan, which is approved 
by the Board of Directors� Moreover, the oper-
ational and support functions perform inter-
nal control measures to ensure compliance 

with guidelines and regulations� Ethical vio-
lations and conflicts of interest may be 
reported confidentially through a whistleblow-
ing channel� S-Bank aims to identify and 
prevent conflicts of interest in all its opera-
tions before they arise�

S-Bank is committed to respecting all inter-
nationally recognised human rights� The same 
is also expected from the bank’s partners�

S-Bank maps out its operational risks as part 
of its continuing operations� The key risks to 
which S-Bank is exposed are described in this 
Report by the Board of Directors (2�4�3 S-Bank 
Group’s risk position)� Additionally, risks and 
risk management are described in more detail 
in Note 2 to the consolidated financial state-
ments: Group risks and risk management�

Preventing money laundering 
and terrorist financing
Processes aiming at the prevention of money 
laundering and terrorist financing are part of 
S-Bank’s day-to-day operations� They ensure 
that the bank’s services and systems are not 
used directly or indirectly for any illegal activ-
ities� To prevent money laundering, S-Bank 
has the obligation to know its customers� 
S-Bank’s customer registers and the account 
transactions of customers are continuously 
monitored and compared with sanction lists 
published by the authorities in order to pre-
vent terrorist financing� Continuous monitor-
ing is also carried out in order to identify 

suspicious transactions referred to in anti-
money laundering regulations�

The personnel and management of S-Bank and 
S-Bank’s agency operations are regularly 
trained in the prevention of money laundering 
and terrorist financing� The aim of this training 
is to maintain the personnel’s competence in 
identifying money laundering risks and comply-
ing with regulatory duties, as well as to ensure 
the trustworthiness of the bank’s operations�

Insider and trading guidelines
S-Bank’s insider and trading guidelines 
include regulations applicable to all the 
employees and the senior management con-
cerning the possession of insider information, 
the maintenance of insider registers and trad-
ing rules� The guidelines aim to ensure that 
insider information is properly managed� 
Trading conducted by all persons included in 
the insider register and persons exercising 
significant influence is regularly monitored, 
and the results of the monitoring are reported 
to the bank’s senior management�
 
Related party lending
S-Bank’s related party lending policy speci-
fies the terms and procedures applied to 
credit or other forms of financing granted to 
the bank’s related parties� S-Bank regularly 
monitors the terms and procedures applied 
to credit or other forms financing granted to 
related parties in order to ensure compliance 
with regulations and ethical operations�

Assessment of trustworthiness
All new employees undergo an assessment of 
trustworthiness to determine any connections 
they have that could lead to conflicts of inte-
rest� The trustworthiness of members of the 
Boards of the Group companies, the execu-
tive management and persons in key posi-
tions is assessed regularly�
 
ENVIRONMENT
S-Bank does not have an extensive network of 
its own branches, as it operates as a lessee 
mostly at the business locations of the  
S Group regional cooperatives� Similarly, 
S-Bank’s headquarters are located at the same 
property as the headquarters of SOK, which 
means the direct environmental impacts of the 
branch network arise as part of the power and 
heating consumption of S Group’s network of 
business locations� S Group aims to reduce 
emissions in its own operations primarily by 
cutting energy consumption and increasing 
the use of renewable energy�

S-Bank strives to promote paperless bank-
ing, including the use of e-invoices and elec-
tronic balance statements� Ever since 
S-Bank was founded, its balance statements 
have been delivered electronically to the 
customer’s online bank, with less than one 
percent of customers also receiving a paper 
statement� At the close of 2018, 50�1% of 
the invoices sent by S-Bank to its customers 
were electronic e-invoices or NetPosti 
invoices�
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In 2018, S-Bank piloted the possibility of 
allowing customers to sign agreements elec-
tronically at customer service points and 
archive their copies of agreements in the online 
bank� This practice, which promotes paperless 
banking, will be adopted in 2019� S-Bank aims 
to reduce the number of customer letters sent 
by post by shifting its customer communica-
tions to its electronic channels�

RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT
S-Bank aims to be a pioneer in responsible 
investment� The bank firmly believes that 
increasingly better results can be achieved for 
the customers by systematically taking 
responsi bility into account in investment activ-
ities� S-Bank’s subsidiary FIM Asset Manage-
ment Ltd administers the S-Bank, FIM and 
LocalTapiola funds and provides the fund and 
wealth management services of S-Bank Group�

FIM became a signatory to the UN Principles 
for Responsible Investment (UN PRI) already 
in 2009� The UN PRI lays down general 
guidelines on how to incorporate responsi-
bility issues into investment processes� FIM’s 
own principles for responsible investment 
were updated in 2018� In addition to the UN 
PRI, FIM is also a signatory to the CDP, an 
international investor-driven initiative for 
reporting environmental impacts, and Fin-
land’s Sustainable Investment Forum (Fin-
sif), which promotes responsible investment�

The responsible investment strategies exe-
cuted by FIM consist of screening of interna-
tional norms, taking ESG (environmental, 

social and governance) issues into consider-
ation in its investment decisions, impact 
investment, exclusion and engagement�
 
When observing international norms, FIM 
aims to ensure that it invests in companies 
that adhere to international initiatives and 
recommendations related to responsibility 
and business practices, such as the UN 
Global Compact and the OECD guidelines for 
multinational enterprises� The UN Global 
Compact includes principles governing 
human rights, labour and corruption� The 
human rights principles include the elimina-
tion of all forms of forced and compulsory 
labour and the abolition of child labour� The 
implementation of international norms in the 
investments are monitored through external 
analyses and ratings�

ESG issues are considered in investment 
activities by, for instance, assessing how cli-
mate change or other key ESG issues impact 
the companies being examined� When it 
updated its principles for responsible invest-
ment in 2018, FIM highlighted the TCFD 
framework (Task Force on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosure) as an example of how 
risks and opportunities arising from climate 
change will be assessed in the future when 
making investment decisions� 

Impact investing is one of the strategies of 
responsible investment� In fact, FIM is one 
of the pioneers in impact investing in Fin-
land� In impact investing, capital is allocated 
to investments that aim to achieve positive 

and quantifiable social and environmental 
impacts in addition to financial gain� FIM 
acts as the project manager in the Lapset SIB 
project which was launched in 2018 with the 
aim of preventing the social exclusion of chil-
dren and youth� The Lapset SIB project is 
funded with a private-equity type investment 
instrument managed by FIM� The funds col-
lected by the Lapset ja nuoret I Ky private 
equity fund will be invested in projects, or 
interventions, that aim to reduce child pro-
tection costs and loss of income for the pub-
lic sector as a result of social exclusion� The 
fund’s return is based on performance-based 
fees paid by the customers (the municipali-
ties), which are based on the reduction of the 
aforementioned costs and loss of income�

Active ownership is an important strategy for 
the responsible investor� FIM Funds revised 
their ownership policy in 2018� The new pol-
icy describes how and why an activist share-
holder policy is pursued� Active ownership 
includes such elements as exercising voting 
rights at general meetings, direct engagement 
with companies and participation in joint 
engagement projects with other investors� In 
2018, S-Bank’s Wealth Management busi-
ness joined the Climate Action 100+ initiative 
which a significant number of international 
investors have signed up for� The five-year 
project aims to influence more than 150 com-
panies that play a key role in achieving the 
targets of the Paris Climate Agreement�

FIM excludes companies in certain sectors 
from its direct investments� Its funds do not 

invest directly in the manufacturers of weap-
ons banned under international treaties� This 
category includes nuclear, biological and 
chemical weapons, as well as cluster bombs 
and anti-personnel mines� Furthermore, the 
funds do not invest in tobacco manufacturers 
or recreational cannabis manufacturers� FIM 
uses external analyses to determine the com-
panies belonging to the aforementioned cat-
egories� FIM has also used its own analyses 
to exclude mining and electricity generation 
companies whose business is heavily depend-
ent on coal� Companies in violation of inter-
national norms can also be excluded from 
FIM’s investments�

FIM publishes the carbon footprints of its 
funds in its responsible investment reports, 
with the aim of increasing transparency and 
comparability with regard to the carbon emis-
sions of the funds� The carbon footprint is 
published for direct equity and corporate bond 
funds for which emissions data, either reported 
or estimated by an external party, is available 
for more than 50% of the fund’s investments�

In 2017–2018, FIM introduced two products 
to the market in which responsible invest-
ment is taken a step further from FIM’s gen-
eral principles for responsible investment� 
These funds are the FIM Emerging Markets 
ESG equity fund and Finland’s first bond 
fund investing mostly in green bonds, FIM IG 
Green ESG� At the close of 2018, these 
funds, which belong to FIM’s Responsibility 
Plus fund range, had a total of EUR 216�5 
million in capital�
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(EUR ’000) Note 1.1.–31.12.2018 1.1.–31.12.2017

Interest income 3 81,106 81,175

Interest expenses 3 -7,142 -7,910

NET INTEREST INCOME  73,964 73,265

Return on equity investments 4 0 58

Fee and commission income 5 103,790 100,612

Fee and commission expenses 5 -42,754 -41,413

Net income from securities and currency 
operations 6 2,162 -395

   Net income from securities trading 2,370 -561

   Net income from currency operations -207 166

Net income from financial assets measured 
at fair value through the fair value reserve 2,088 6,809

Net income from hedge accounting 7 -371 -367

Other operating income 8 14,813 15,728

Administrative expenses -114,529 -113,214

   Personnel expenses -49,541 -46,155

    Salaries and fees -40,120 -37,410

    Indirect personnel expenses -9,422 -8,745

     Pension expenses -7,804 -7,196

     Other indirect personnel expenses -1,618 -1,549

   Other administrative expenses -64,988 -67,058

(EUR ’000) Note 1.1.–31.12.2018 1.1.–31.12.2017

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
on consolidated goodwill -3,472 -4,336

Depreciation and impairment on tangible 
and intangible assets 10 -9,265 -8,183

Other operating expenses 9 -5,862 -5,982

Expected credit losses on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost 11 -8,752 -

Expected credit losses and impairment 
losses on other financial assets 11 -197 -

Impairment losses on loans and other 
commitments * 11 - -6,563

Share of the profits of associated 
companies -16 1

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) 11,601 16,020

Income taxes -4,720 -3,541

Profit (loss) from ordinary activities  
after taxes 6,881 12,479

Profit or loss for the period attributable to 
minority interests -199 -127

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 6,682 12,352

* Impairment losses on loans and other commitments were recognised in accordance with IFRS 9  
in 2018�
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

ASSETS (EUR ’000) Note 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017
Cash and cash equivalents 12, 28, 29, 30 468,436 493,015

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 12, 29, 30 1,002,523 860,478

Other 1,002,523 860,478

Receivables from credit institutions 12, 13, 28, 29, 30 27,838 25,737

Repayable on demand 15,601 14,823

Other 12,237 10,914

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 12, 14, 28, 29, 30 4,187,001 3,724,854

Repayable on demand 3,952 2,977

Other 4,183,049 3,721,877

Debt securities 12, 15, 28, 29, 30 665,438 464,280

From others 665,438 464,280

Shares and interests 12, 16, 28, 29 25,209 30,965

Shares and interests in associated companies 16, 28, 29 9 5

Derivatives 12, 17, 18, 28, 29, 30 649 999

Intangible assets 38,337 38,696

Goodwill 74 892

Consolidated goodwill 5,460 8,931

Intangible rights 741 0

Other non-current expenses 32,063 28,873

Tangible assets 20, 29 138 232

Other tangible assets 138 232

Other assets 21, 29 7,102 4,605

Accrued income and prepayments made 22, 29 23,658 25,071

Deferred tax assets 23, 29 2,550 1,674

TOTAL ASSETS 6,448,888 5,670,612
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LIABILITIES (EUR ’000) Note 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017 

LIABILITIES

Liabilities to credit institutions 12, 28, 29, 30 302 10,109

To credit institutions 302 10,109

Repayable on demand 302 109

Other 0 10,000

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 12, 28, 29, 30 5,883,806 5,047,522

Deposits 5,832,669 5,005,766

Repayable on demand 5,827,466 4,999,990

Other 5,203 5,775

Other liabilities 51,137 41,757

Repayable on demand 49,190 39,747

Other 1,947 2,010

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 12, 28, 29, 30 13,103 6,260

Other liabilities 24, 29 31,706 112,110

Other liabilities 31,706 112,110

Accrued expenses and prepayments received 25, 29 19,410 19,781

Subordinated debts 12, 26, 28, 29, 30 50,000 50,000

Other 50,000 50,000

Deferred tax liabilities 23, 29 8,448 10,763

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,006,774 5,256,546
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LIABILITIES (EUR ’000) Note 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017 

EQUITY AND MINORITY INTERESTS

Share capital 27 82,880 82,880

Other restricted reserves 27 -2,981 11,590

Fair value reserve  

Carried at fair value -2,981 11,590

Non-restricted reserves 27 283,809 243,813

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 283,809 243,813

Retained earnings (losses) 27 71,484 63,262

Profit (loss) for the period 27 6,682 12,352

Equity attributable to minority interests 27 240 169

TOTAL EQUITY AND MINORITY INTERESTS 442,114 414,066

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6,448,888 5,670,612

OFF-BALANCE SHEET LIABILITIES (EUR ’000) 33

Commitments given to third parties in favour of customers 23,768 24,881

Guarantees and pledges 23,768 24,881

Irrevocable commitments given in favour of customers 176,803 145,661

Other 176,803 145,661

In the 2017 financial statements, irrevocable and revocable commitments were reported under off-balance sheet commitments� The comparative figures have been adjusted to correspond to 
the new interpretation, according to which irrevocable commitments are reported as off-balance sheet commitments in the balance sheet and the notes�
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR million 2018 2017

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit for the period 12 16

Adjustments to the profit for the period 15 14

Increase (-) or decrease (+) in operating assets -467 -239

Receivables from the public and public 
sector entities -463 -234

Other assets -6 -5

Increase (-) or decrease (+) in operating 
liabilities 747 444

Liabilities to credit institutions -10 -15

Liabilities to the public and public  
sector entities 836 464

Other liabilities -80 -5

A� Total cash flow from operating activities 306 234

Cash flow from investing activities

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -12 -8

Shares and interests in associated companies 0 0

B� Total cash flow from investing activities -12 -8

Cash flow from financing activities

Subordinated debts, deductions 0 8

Other monetary increases to equity items 40 0

Dividends paid and other distribution of profits 0 0

Change in minority interest 0 0

C� Total cash flow from financing activities 40 8

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 
(A+B+C) 333 233

EUR million 2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the 
period 1,865 1,635

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
period 2,199 1,869

Interest income 84 79

Interest expenses -7 -8

Profit adjustments for the period

Net income from hedge accounting 0 0

Depreciation according to plan 13 13

Share of the profits of associated companies 0 0

Impairment losses on loans and other 
receivables 1 1

Non-cash items and other adjustments 1 0

Other adjustments 0 0 

Other impairments 0 0 

Expected credit losses and impairment losses 
on other financial assets 0 -

Interest accruals on debt securities 1 0

Adjustments, total 15 14

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 468 493

Debt securities 1,677 1,324

Shares and interests 25 26

Receivables from credit institutions 28 26

Total 2,199 1,869

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period include an adjustment item due to a 
change in classification in accordance with IFRS 9�
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES USED IN THE 
PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basic information
S-Bank Group consists of S-Bank Ltd and its 
subsidiaries� S-Bank is a deposit bank that 
engages in credit institution operations pursu-
ant to the Finnish Act on Credit Institutions 
(610/2014)� The bank engages in the opera-
tions and related activities referred to in Chap-
ter 5, section 1, of the above-mentioned Act, 
as well as offering investment services pursuant 
to Chapter 1, section 15, of the Act on Invest-
ment Services (747/2012)� As the parent com-
pany, S-Bank performs such tasks of the Group 
companies that must be carried out in a cen-
tralised manner, such as the Group’s adminis-
tration, guidance and supervision�
 
S-Bank’s headquarters are located at Fle-
minginkatu 34, FI-00510 Helsinki, Finland�
 
On 6 February 2019, the Board of Directors 
approved the financial statements for the 
period 1 January–31 December 2017�

General accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Finnish Accounting 

Act and decree; the Act on Credit Institutions; 
the Ministry of Finance decree on financial 
statements, consolidated financial statements 
and Board of Directors’ review of credit insti-
tutions and investment service companies; as 
well as the Finnish Financial Supervisory 
Authority’s regulations governing the financial 
sector� The general instructions issued by the 
Finnish Accounting Standards Board (KILA) 
have also been considered, as applicable, 
when preparing the financial statements�

In addition, the capital requirements direc-
tive (CRD IV), the EU Capital Requirements 
Regulation (“CRR”, EU 575/2013) and the 
related implementation regulations, as well 
as the regulations of the European Banking 
Authority and the reports of the Finnish 
Financial Supervisory Authority were observed 
when preparing the financial statements�

The financial statement information is presented 
in thousands of euros, unless stated otherwise�

Consolidation principles
The consolidated financial statements 
include S-Bank and all the subsidiaries in 
which the bank has a controlling interest� A 
controlling interest arises when the Group has 
the right to control a company’s financial and 
operational policies in order to obtain  
benefits from its operations� The following  

subsidiaries are consolidated into the finan-
cial statements: FIM Asset Management Ltd, 
FIM Private Equity Funds Ltd, FIM Real 
Estate Ltd, S-Asiakaspalvelu Ltd, FIM Infras-
tructure Mezzanine Debt Fund GP Ltd, FIM 
Private Debt Fund I GP Ltd and FIM SIB Ltd�
 
Subsidiaries established or acquired during 
the period under review are consolidated into 
the consolidated financial statements as of the 
date of establishment or acquisition using the 
acquisition cost method� The associated com-
panies S-Crosskey Ab and ASIAN Pro Oy have 
been consolidated using the equity method�

Intra-group transactions, receivables and lia-
bilities have been eliminated in the consoli-
dated financial statements�

Items denominated in 
foreign currencies
The financial statements are presented in 
euros� The euro is the operating currency of 
the Group and the parent company� Trans-
actions in foreign currencies are recorded at 
the exchange rates prevailing on the trans-
action date� At the balance sheet date, for-
eign currency balance sheet items are con-
verted into euro at the closing rate�

Exchange rate differences are recognised as 
exchange rate profits or losses in the income 

statement� The exchange rate differences for 
financial items are recognised under net 
income from securities trading and currency 
operations, and for accounts payable, they 
are recognised under other administrative 
expenses�

Comparability
New accounting policies concerning financial 
instruments were introduced on 1 January 
2018 with the adoption of IFRS 9: Financial 
Instruments� The comparable information for 
2017 presented in the financial statements 
were prepared using accounting policies 
based on IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Reco gnition and Measurement�

Adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018
S-Bank adopted IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018� 
The adoption was based on amendments to the 
regulations and guidelines of the Finnish 
Financial Supervisory Authority concerning the 
financial sector’s accounting, financial state-
ments and report by the Board of Directors, 
which entered into force on 15 February 2018� 
IFRS 9 introduced certain clarifications to the 
accounting treatment of financial instruments, 
the key impacts of which for S-Bank are related 
to the recognition of expected credit losses in 
the lending portfolio� The table below illus-
trates the effects of the transition to the stand-
ard on S-Bank Group’s equity�
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Reclassifications due to the transition to 
IFRS 9
The transition provisions of IFRS 9 have been 
followed in the reclassification� According to 
the transition provisions, gains or losses are 
not recognised through profit or loss but 
instead in retained earnings under equity�

In connection with the transition, S-Bank has 
reclassified its financial assets and liabilities 
in accordance with IFRS 9� Financial assets 
have been classified based on business mod-
els used in the management of cash assets 
and on the contractual cash flow character-
istics of the financial assets� The classifica-
tion of S-Bank’s financial liabilities was not 
adjusted in the transition to IFRS 9� The 
changes made to the classification of finan-
cial assets and liabilities are described in the 
table below�

Table 8: Effects of IFRS 9 on S-Bank Group’s equity

EUR MILLION Share capital Fair value reserve

Reserve for 
invested non-

restricted equity Retained earnings
Non-controlling 

interests Total equity

Balance sheet at 31 Dec. 2017 82.9 11.6 243.8 75.6 0.2 414.1

Effects of transition to IFRS 9

Effects of expected credit losses (ECL) 0�7 -9�9 -9�2

Reclassification of financial assets -5�8 5�8 0�0

Opening balance sheet at 1 Jan. 2018 82.9 6.5 243.8 71.5 0.2 404.9
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Table 9: Classification of financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IFRS 9

RECLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH IFRS 9 (EUR MILLION) 31 DEC. 2017 1 JAN. 2018

Financial assets IAS 39 IFRS 9 Carrying amount, IAS 39 Carrying amount, IFRS 9

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortised cost 493�0 493�0

Receivables from credit institutions Loans and receivables Amortised cost 25�7 25�7

Receivables from the public and public sector entities Loans and receivables Amortised cost 3,724�9 3,716�9

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks
Available-for-sale  

financial assets
Fair value through other 
comprehensive income 860�5 860�5

Debt securities
Available-for-sale  

financial assets
Fair value through other 
comprehensive income 259�4 259�4

Debt securities (investment certificates)
Available-for-sale  

financial assets
Fair value through  

profit or loss 204�9 204�9

Other shares and interests 
Fair value through  

profit or loss
Fair value through  

profit or loss 30�7 30�7

Other shares and interests (available-for-sale)
Available-for-sale  

financial assets
Fair value through other 
comprehensive income 0�2 0�2

Derivatives
Fair value through  

profit or loss
Fair value through  

profit or loss 1�0 1�0

Financial liabilities IAS 39 IFRS 9 Carrying amount, IAS 39 Carrying amount, IFRS 9

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading Fair value through  
profit or loss

Fair value through  
profit or loss

-6�3 -6�3

Subordinated debts Amortised cost Amortised cost -50�0 -50�0
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Impairment model in accordance with IFRS 9
The impairment model in IFRS 9 is based on 
the calculation of the expected credit losses� 
The impairment model in accordance with 
IFRS 9 and the calculation of the expected 
credit losses are described below (Impair-
ment of financial instruments and Calcula-
tion of expected credit losses)� Additionally, 
the key credit risk management methods, 
S-Bank’s credit risk exposure and quantita-
tive and qualitative information on monetary 
amounts arising from the expected credit 
losses are presented in Note 2 to the consol-
idated financial statements: Group risks and 
risk management, Credit and counterparty 
risks� 

In June 2018, S-Bank adopted a model for 
adjusting the total amount of expected credit 
losses so that it corresponds to expectations 
of future economic performance� The forecast 
economic performance is based on economic 
scenarios prepared by S-Bank� Three scena-
rios are used – strong scenario, basic scenario 
and weak scenario – and their probabilities 
are based on S-Bank’s estimates� For the 
purposes of IFRS 9, the macroeconomic 
scena rios are prepared three times a year� 
When calculating the amount of expected 
credit losses, the effects of the economic 
outlook are taken into account using an 
adjustment factor� The adjustment factor is 
based on the trend in housing prices and the 
unemployment rate in the different scenarios� 

Since information on the precise behaviour 
of the macroeconomic model and its effects 
on the expected credit losses has only been 
collected for 2018, S-Bank recognises the 
need for prudence� For this reason, the 
effects of the model on the calculation of the 
expected credit losses are not accounted for 
at their full weight� The weight is determined 
on the basis of an assessment by the manage-
ment, which takes into consideration the 
uncertainty involved in the factors used in the 
model and their underlying assumptions, as 
well as accounting for the model risk� 

Table 10 describes the bridge calculations of 
impairments in accordance with IAS 39 and 
the expected credit losses calculated in 
accordance with IFRS 9� Before the adoption 
of the macroeconomic model, the estimated 
level of expected credit losses as at 1 January 
2018 was EUR 15�9 million, and after the 
adoption of the macroeconomic model the 
figure was EUR 14�1 million� Therefore the 
amount of expected credit losses in the open-
ing balance sheet has been reduced by EUR 
1�8 million due to the effect of the macro-
economic model (including the manage-
ment’s estimate)� The impairments calculated 
using the previous model in accordance with 
IAS 39 were about EUR 4�2 million� During 
the period under review, economic forecasts 
were positive, so the effects of the macroeco-
nomic model reduced the amount of expected 
credit losses during the reporting period� 
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Table 10: IAS 39 – IFRS 9 bridge calculation, taking the macroeconomic model into account

IMPAIRMENTS, EXPECTED CREDIT 
LOSSES (EUR ’000) IAS 39  

31 Dec.2017

 IFRS 9 1 Jan. 2018, before adoption of the macro model    IFRS 9 1 Jan. 2018, after adoption of the macro model  

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 
Total 

IFRS 9 ECL  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 
 Total  

IFRS 9 ECL 

Secured credit granted to retail customers 919          318         3,075         1,254              4,647           282         2,729         1,113         4,125   

Unsecured credit granted to retail customers 3,301          1,044              5,931           620              7,595               926         5,265            550         6,741   

Investing activities -        823              -              -                    823           731               -                 -              731   

Corporate customers 26        1,323             -                4              1,327         1,174               -                  3         1,178   

Corporate customers, housing companies -           86          137       -                    223            76            122               -              198   

Off-balance sheet commitments -        668          655             3              1,325          593            581                2         1,176   

Total 4,247 4,261 9,797 1,881        15,939   3,783 8,697 1,670 14,149

The table indicates that out of the expected 
credit losses calculated in accordance with 
IFRS 9, taking the macroeconomic model 
into account, impairments had the most sig-
nificant effect, in euro terms, on receivables 
from retail customers� On transition to calcu-
lations in accordance with IFRS 9, they 
totalled approximately EUR 10�9 million� The 
difference is also evident in the recognition 
of expected credit losses in investing activi-
ties and receivables from corporate custom-
ers (about EUR 2�1 million in total)� Expected 
credit losses of about EUR 1�1 million were 
booked on off-balance sheet receivables� The 
effect of the transition to IFRS 9 on the total 
capital adequacy, calculated as at 31 Decem-
ber 2017, was about -0�4 percentage points�

The classification of impairments has been 
further specified relative to the classification 
described in the financial statements for 
2017� The ‘Companies and entrepreneurs’ 
and ‘Large enterprises’ categories presented 
in the financial statements for 2017 have 
been combined into the single category of 
‘Corporate customers’ in the table above� The 
effects of the change are minor, as the 
expected credit losses presented in the 
financial statements for the ‘Companies and 
entrepreneurs’ item was about EUR 0�1 mil-
lion�  Moreover, the expected credit losses 
calculated for off-balance sheet commit-
ments are presented in the table above as a 
separate item (EUR 1�1 million), whereas in 
the financial statements for 2017, the 

expected credit losses on off-balance sheet 
commitments were included in each relevant 
item�

The IFRS 9 impairment model has been fur-
ther developed during the reporting period� 
Account overdrafts and unlikely-to-pay items 
were included in the calculation of the 
expected credit losses in September 2018� 
The effect of this revision on the amount of 
expected credit losses is not material�

The treatment of forbearance in the calcu-
lation of expected credit losses was revised 
in October 2018� Following the revision, 
forbearance on performing loans will always 
be classified under stage 2 and forbearance 

on non-performing loans will be classified 
under stage 3� The revision somewhat 
increased the loans in stage 3, and thus the 
amount of expected credit losses� Forbear-
ance is presented in more detail below in 
the section Impairment of financial instru-
ments�

The changes and deferrals in the loss allow-
ance for the reporting period and the recon-
ciliation of the expected credit losses illus-
trate the effects of the revisions presented 
above� The calculations are presented in 
note 2 to the consolidated financial state-
ments (Credit and counterparty risks: Table 
23 and Table 24)�
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Financial assets and liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement of finan-
cial instruments
After initial recognition, the Group’s financial 
assets are measured at amortised cost, fair 
value through other comprehensive income or 
fair value through profit or loss� The classifi-
cation depends on the purpose for which the 
financial assets and liabilities have been 
acquired� Items recognised at fair value 
through other comprehensive income are ini-
tially measured at fair value added with or less 
direct transaction costs arising from the acqui-
sition of each item� Loans and receivables are 
initially measured at their acquisition cost, 
which is the fair value of the consideration 
paid, added with directly attributable transac-
tion costs� Subsequent to initial recognition, 
loans and off-balance sheet commitments are 
measured at amortised cost� Items recognised 
at fair value through profit or loss are meas-
ured at fair value at initial recognition�

Financial liabilities are measured at amor-
tised cost using the effective interest method, 
except for financial liabilities measured at 
fair value through profit or loss, which include 
derivative contracts� Financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost are recognised at 
fair value (acquisition cost less attributable 
expenses) when a contract is entered into, 
and subsequently at amortised cost�  Liabil-
ities measured at fair value through profit or 
loss are subsequently measured at fair value� 

The expenses attributable to transactions are 
recognised through profit or loss as they arise�

S-Bank Group applies the settlement date 
practice in recognising financial assets and 
liabilities on the balance sheet, excluding 
financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value through profit or loss� These latter 
financial assets and liabilities are recognised 
on the balance sheet using the trading date 
practice�

Financial assets are derecognised from the 
balance sheet once the contractual rights to 
the cash flows arising from the financial asset 
cease or once the rights with substantially all 
their risks and rewards are transferred to 
another party� Financial liabilities are 
removed from the balance sheet when they 
are extinguished, that is, when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged and it 
has expired�

Classification of financial assets and liabili-
ties

Financial assets

Financial assets are divided into three classi-
fications� Classification and measurement are 
based on the business model according to 
which a financial instrument is managed and 
on the characteristics of the financial instru-
ment’s contractual cash flows� Financial 
instruments are classified as follows:

•  Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss

•  Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income

•  Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost

Business model refers to the method with 
which financial assets are managed to collect 
cash flows� In different business models, 
cash flows arise from the collection of con-
tractual cash flows, the sale of financial 
assets or a combination of the two�

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss include financial assets 
held for trading, derivative contracts held for 
trading and financial assets initially measured 
at fair value through profit or loss�

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss include bonds and 
notes, and other domestic and foreign secu-
rities and participations that are traded 
actively and have been acquired for short-
term gain or as part of the management of 
the short-term liquidity position, as well as 
derivative contracts to which hedge 
accounting has not been applied� Addition-
ally, all non-equity shares and fund units 
are also measured at fair value through 
profit or loss�

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss are measured at fair 
value� The change in fair value is recorded in 
the income statement� The difference 
between the closing date value of the finan-
cial instruments designated at fair value and 
the carrying value from the previous financial 
statements is recognised as the income or 
expense for the period in the income state-
ment� If a financial instrument measured at 
fair value was acquired during the financial 
period, the difference between the closing 
date value of the financial instrument and its 
acquisition cost is recognised as the income 
or expense for the period�

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income

Items that meet the following criteria are 
measured at fair value through comprehen-
sive income: the item is held in accordance 
with a business model that aims at the pos-
session of financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows and in order to sell 
financial assets, and the contractual terms 
specify payments at specific times that are 
solely payments of the capital as well as inter-
est on the remaining capital�

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through comprehensive income statement 
items include debt securities and other 
domestic and foreign securities� Financial 
assets measured at fair value through other 
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comprehensive income are carried at fair 
value� The fair value of publicly traded invest-
ments is defined on the basis of their market 
values� Investments that are not publicly 
quoted are measured by means of valuation 
methods that are generally approved in the 
market� Should this not yield a reliably deter-
minable fair value, the acquisition cost is 
used� The change in fair value is recorded in 
the fair value reserve under equity� When a 
financial instrument is sold, the change in 
the fair value accrued in equity, together with 
accrued interest and capital gains or losses, 
is recognised in the income statement�

S-Bank has recognised some equity instru-
ments at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income� In their case, the bank has made 
an irreversible decision to recognise the 
changes in their fair value through other com-
prehensive income instead of through profit 
or loss�

The bank calculates the expected credit 
losses on financial assets measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income, 
and recognises these losses through profit or 
loss� The changes in the fair value of financial 
assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income and the loss allow-
ance are recognised in the fair value reserve� 
More detailed information on these calcula-
tions is provided in the section “Calculation 
of expected credit losses”�

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Items that meet the following criteria are 
measured at amortised cost: the item is held 
in accordance with a business model that 
aims at the possession of financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows, and the 
contractual terms specify payments at specific 
times that are solely payments of the capital 
as well as interest on the remaining capital� 
At S-Bank, financial assets that are not quoted 
on the active financial markets, for which the 
payments are fixed or determinable, are meas-
ured at amortised cost� Financial assets of this 
type include receivables from credit institu-
tions and receivables from the public and 
public sector entities�

After initial recognition, the assets measured 
at amortised cost are valued using the effec-
tive interest method� Transaction costs are 
included in the amortised cost measured 
using the effective interest method and amor-
tised through profit or loss over the term-to-ma-
turity of the receivable, provided that they 
have been determined as part of the effective 
interest method in IFRS 9�

S-Bank calculates the expected credit losses 
on financial assets measured at amortised 
cost� More detailed information on these cal-
culations is provided in the section “Calcula-
tion of expected credit losses”�

Financial liabilities

S-Bank classifies financial liabilities in 
accordance with IFRS 9 as follows:
•  Financial liabilities measured at amor-

tised cost
•  Financial liabilities measured at fair 

value through profit or loss

In general, financial liabilities are measured 
at the amortised cost on the balance sheet 
date using the effective interest method� 
Derivative contract liabilities held for trading 
are recognised at fair value through profit or 
loss�

Derivative contracts and hedge accounting

Derivative contracts

Derivative contracts are classified as hedging 
or held for trading, and at S-Bank, they 
include interest derivatives, currency deriva-
tives and optional derivatives� Derivative con-
tracts are primarily entered into for hedging 
purposes and always measured at fair value�

In accordance with S-Bank’s principles, the 
positive value changes of derivatives are pre-
sented as derivative assets and negative value 
changes are presented as derivative liabili-
ties� The changes in the value of derivatives 
held for trading are recognised under “Net 
income from securities trading” in the income 

statement� The changes in the value of deriv-
atives included in hedge accounting are rec-
ognised under “Net income from hedge 
accounting”�

Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is part of a hybrid 
instrument that also contains a non-deriva-
tive main contract� For this reason, part of the 
cash flow from the hybrid instrument fluctu-
ates in a manner similar to the cash flow from 
a standalone derivative contract�

Hybrid contracts where the host contract is 
an item included in financial assets are 
treated in accordance with IFRS 9 in their 
entirety� 

If a hybrid contract includes a host contract 
that is not included in the scope of applica-
tion of IFRS 9, the embedded derivative is 
separated from the host contract and pro-
cessed in accounting in accordance with 
IFRS 9� If the embedded derivative’s charac-
teristics or risks are not closely connected to 
the financial characteristics or risks of the 
host contract, it is treated as a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the 
embedded derivative� In this case it fulfils the 
definition of a derivative, and the hybrid con-
tract is not measured at fair value by record-
ing the changes in fair value through profit or 
loss�
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S-Bank has issued subordinated debenture 
loans� They can be classified as above-men-
tioned hybrid instruments due to the options 
included in the contracts which entitle the 
bank to the repayment of debt before the 
maturity date� 

S-Bank does not separate embedded deriva-
tives from the host contracts in the case of 
the above-mentioned debenture loans based 
on IFRS 9�

Hedge accounting

All derivatives are measured at fair value� 
Derivative contracts are entered into primarily 
for hedging purposes� S-Bank applies fair 
value hedge accounting to the above-men-
tioned derivative contracts that meet the doc-
umented effectiveness and other require-
ments for hedge accounting� In such cases, 
the interest rate risk exposure is hedged using 
interest rate swaps, which are determined as 
hedging items in hedge accounting� Hedge 
accounting at S-Bank complies with IAS 39 
as laid down in Section 6�2�2 of IFRS 9�

Hedging should be effective when hedge 
accounting is applied� The actual results of 
the hedge must be within a range of 
80–125% effectiveness� Effectiveness is 
measured monthly, both prospectively and 
retrospectively� If the hedging relationship 
does not meet the effectiveness require-
ments, hedge accounting is discontinued and 

the derivative is recognised under “Net 
income from securities trading” as of the 
previous effectiveness test�

S-Bank applies fair value hedging to deriva-
tive contracts entered into for the purpose of 
hedging the fair value changes of assets 
exposed to the interest rate risk� S-Bank 
hedges the risk related to changes in fair 
value mainly in the case of securities with a 
fixed interest rate, which are exposed to the 
interest rate risk� The interest rate risk is 
described in Note 2 to the consolidated 
financial statements: Group risks and risk 
management�

Changes in the fair value of a hedged item 
that are attributable to the hedged risk are 
recognised in the income statement under 
“Net result from hedge accounting”� Changes 
in fair value not attributable to the hedged 
risk are recognised in the fair value reserve� 
Changes in the fair value of the hedging items 
included in hedge accounting are recognised 
in the income statement under “Net result 
from hedge accounting”� When hedging is 
effective, the changes in the fair value offset 
each other and the net result is close to zero� 
S-Bank uses interest rate swaps as deriva-
tives for hedging�

Fair value hedging is discontinued in the fol-
lowing situations: the hedging instrument 
matures, is sold, dissolved or redeemed, the 
hedging relationship no longer meets the doc-

umented conditions of hedge accounting or 
the hedging relationship is severed�

Measuring financial instruments at fair value
Fair value is the price that would be obtained 
from the sale of an asset or the transfer of 
debt between market participants in a cus-
tomary business transaction executed on the 
valuation date�  

The fair value of a financial instrument is 
determined on the basis of prices quoted in 
active markets, or by using measurement 
methods that are generally accepted in the 
markets� A market is considered to be active 
if price quotes are readily and regularly avail-
able and they reflect actual and recurring 
market transactions between independent 
parties�

Valuations are determined on the basis of the 
prices of market transactions, the discounted 
cash flow method or the fair value at the bal-
ance sheet date of another essentially similar 
instrument� The valuation methods account 
for an estimate of the credit risk, the discount 
rates used, the possibility of early repayment 
and other factors that affect the reliable 
determination of the fair value of a financial 
instrument�

Financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value are divided into three categories 
according to the method with which their fair 
value is determined:

•  Level 1 fair values are determined using 
the quoted, unadjusted prices of com-
pletely identical financial asset and lia-
bilities in an active market� 

•  Level 2 fair values are determined using 
generally accepted valuation models in 
which the input data is, to a significant 
extent, based on verifiable market infor-
mation�  

•  Level 3 market prices are based on input 
data concerning an asset or liability that 
are not based on verifiable market infor-
mation but, to a significant extent, on 
the management’s estimates�

Impairment of financial instruments
The entry into force of IFRS 9 on 1 January 
2018 introduced significant changes to the 
testing of impairment� The new impairment 
model in accordance with IFRS 9 is based on 
the calculation of expected credit losses 
(ECL), where the expected credit loss is esti-
mated at the time a contract is recognised for 
balance sheet items measured at amortised 
cost or at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income and for off-balance sheet credit 
commitments and guarantee contracts� Any 
measurement of expected credit losses under 
IFRS 9 should reflect an unbiased and prob-
ability-weighted amount that is determined by 
evaluating the range of possible outcomes� 
The measurement should also reflect the time 
value of money as well as reasonable and sup-
portable information that is available on the 
reporting date without undue cost or effort and 
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that concerns past events, current conditions 
and forecasts of future economic conditions�

This section presents the material estimation 
methods and assumptions used in the impair-
ment of financial instruments, contractual 
changes to financial assets and the credit 
losses recorded on impaired liabilities� The 
next section presents information on the 
measurement of expected credit losses�

Classification of financial instruments for the 
measurement of impairment

A three-stage impairment model is used to 
measure credit risk, where a financial instru-
ment is grouped under one of the stages based 
on the risk level of the credit contract� Figure 
5 demonstrates the classification of financial 
instruments into three stages for the purposes 
of calculating impairment� In order to be able 
to estimate whether the risk level of a credit 
contract has increased relative to the initial 
recognition, and for the purposes of classifying 
the financial instrument, S-Bank uses the 
probability of default (PD) risk model� This risk 
model generates a PD risk estimate illustrating 
the probability of default over a 12-month 
period, in which variations are deemed to rea-
sonably reflect changes in the credit risk over 
the lifetime of the contract� In addition to the 
aforementioned quantitative criteria (change 
in PD estimate between the date of recogni-
tion and the reporting date), the grouping of 
financial instruments is influenced by, among 
other things, factors related to the maturing of 

the credit� The estimates provided by the risk 
model as well as effects of maturity and other 
criteria on the grouping of financial instrument 
are constantly monitored� 

Stage 1 – no significant changes in the credit 
risk

Stage 1 applies to receivables in which the 
credit risk has not increased significantly 
since the credit was granted and the value of 
which is not impaired� The expected credit 
loss is measured for the contracts for a period 
of 12 months and the effective interest is 
calculated on the gross carrying amount� In 
other words, stage 1 includes contracts in 
which:
•  an increase in the PD estimate is below 

the limits defined for the specific prod-
uct, and

•  the receivable has been past due for a 
maximum of 30 days�

Stage 2 – significant increase in credit risk

Stage 2 applies to receivables in which the 
credit risk has increased significantly since 
the credit was granted�  The lifetime expected 
credit loss is measured for the contract and 
the effective interest is calculated on the 
gross carrying amount� The criteria for assess-
ing significant increases in credit risk and the 
limit values of the probability of default are 
determined for each product and customer 
group, and they are based on analyses and 
expert opinions of S-Bank’s data� 

The credit risk is deemed to have increased 
significantly if the probability of default has 
materially increased since the time of record-
ing of the contract, in other words:
•  the PD estimate exceeds the limit value 

determined for the specific product,
•  the PD estimate has increased signifi-

cantly within the aforementioned limit 
values since the credit was granted,

•  a payment of capital or interest has been 
past due for more than 30 days but the 
receivable has not been impaired yet 
due to the credit risk,

•  changes in the credit risk since initial rec-
ognition cannot be estimated reliably, or

•  the contract is classified as a performing 
forborne exposure (forbearance is 

described in the section “Contractual 
changes in financial assets”)� 

If none of the above-mentioned stage 2 cri-
teria are fulfilled, the contract should be 
treated according to stage 1� Thereafter the 
criteria for transferring receivables to stage 2 
are observed for the contract consistently 
with other contracts in stage 1� 

Stage 3 – credit-impaired receivables

Stage 3 applies to credit-impaired receivables� 
The lifetime expected credit loss is measured 
for the contract and the effective interest is 
calculated on the net carrying amount� A 
receivable is deemed to be credit-impaired if:

Figure 5: Grouping of financial instruments into three 
stages for the measurement of impairment

Current risk level of the financial instrument in comparison to the risk at the time of lending

Stage 1 Stage  2 Stage  3

No significant change Significant increase
Credit-impaired receivables 

due to credit risk

Expected credit loss is 
measured for a period 

of 12 months

The lifetime expected 
credit loss is measured 

for the contract

The lifetime expected 
credit loss is measured 

for the contract
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• A payment of capital or interest has been 
past due for more than 90 days (non-perform-
ing contracts)�  
 o If an exposure has been classified in  
   part as non-performing on the balance-     
   sheet, the remaining undrawn off- 
   balance sheet amount is also classi- 
   fied as non-performing� 
 o If more than 20 per cent of the receiv- 
   ables from the same borrower on the  
   balance sheet are classified as non-per- 
   forming liabilities, all of the exposu- 
   res of the customer in question, both  
   on-balance sheet and off-balance  
   sheet, are classified as non-performing�  
• Payment in accordance with the contract  
 is unlikely to be received before the      
 receivable becomes non-performing (unli 
 kely-to-pay items)�
• The contract is forborne and it becomes  
 non-performing (see the section “Cont 
 ractual changes in financial assets”)�  

If the status of a stage 3 receivable changes 
so that none of the above-mentioned stage 3 
criteria are no longer fulfilled, the contract 
should be treated according to stage 1� 
Thereafter the criteria for transferring receiv-
ables to stage 2 are observed for the contract 
consistently with other contracts in stage 1� 

A credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
applied to purchased or originated credit-im-
paired (POCI) financial assets as of the date 
on which the financial asset measured at 

amortised cost was initially recognised� 
S-Bank does not have any financial assets of 
this type�

Contractual changes to financial assets

Changes to the terms of credit contracts are 
made on commercial grounds or if the cus-
tomer faces difficulties in performing pay-
ments on the contract� Contract terms can be 
amended on commercial grounds if a cus-
tomer receives a better offer from a compet-
itor and S-Bank considers it important to 
maintain the customer relationship� When 
amending contracts on commercial grounds, 
the customer’s credit risk must not have 
increased significantly (stage 2) and the cus-
tomer must not be in payment difficulties� In 
this case, the customer’s contract is classi-
fied automatically under stage 1 in impair-
ment measurement and the changes to the 
contract do not change its status�

If a change is made to a credit agreement due 
to the customer’s inability to pay, it is referred 
to as forbearance� Forbearance measures aim 
to assist the customer in managing short-
term payment difficulties� The key objective 
of granting forbearance measures is to pre-
vent performing borrowers from reaching a 
non-performing status or to pave the way for 
non-performing borrowers to exit their 
non-performing status� Forbearance meas-
ures always aim to return the exposure to a 
situation of sustainable repayment�

If a receivable has not already been classified 
as non-performing and forbearance measures 
are granted to it, it is classified as ‘performing 
forborne’� In this case, the contract is classi-
fied under stage 2 in impairment measure-
ment for a probation period of two years�

If the receivable is already non-performing and 
it is granted forbearance, it becomes ‘non-per-
forming forborne’� A performing forborne credit 
becomes non-performing if one of the factors 
causing non-performance is triggered� Such 
factors include a second forbearance within the 
probation period or payments more than 30 
days past due in relation to the payment sched-
ule� A non-performing forborne credit is given 
a minimum of a 12-month cure period and 
classified in impairment testing under stage 3� 
If the factor or factors causing non-perfor-
mance are removed, the contract is treated as 
performing forborne for a probation period of 
two years and classified under stage 2�

Recognition of realised credit losses

A credit contract or a part of it is recognised as 
a credit loss when it is unlikely that its amount 
will be recovered� S-Bank has internal defini-
tions for cases where the probability of a credit 
loss is high and a realised credit loss is recog-
nised on the receivable� Depending on the 
product, credit losses are recorded as follows: 
•  Credit losses on unsecured credit are 

recorded no later than 4 months after 
they have been transferred to collection�

•  Credit losses on secured receivables are 
recorded at the earliest when the collat-
eral has been realised and allocated to 
the receivable� In this case, the remain-
ing receivable may not be recorded as a 
credit loss if a payment schedule has 
been created for it�

Even if a receivable is accepted and 
recorded as a credit loss, collection will 
continue in the form of post-collection� 
After the recognition of a credit loss, the 
credit in question will no longer be included 
in the calculation of expected credit losses 
and thus will no longer be impaired� 

Collection of the receivable will continue 
until there are sufficient grounds for dis-
continuing it�  

The impairments for the reporting period are 
presented in note 2 to the financial state-
ments (Quantitative and qualitative informa-
tion on amounts arising from expected credit 
losses and exposure to credit risks)� In the 
future, the amount of expected credit losses 
is forecast to react sensitively to changes in 
the economic outlook� This may increase 
short-term fluctuation in profits�  

Calculation of expected credit losses
S-Bank uses the probability of default (PD), 
Loss Given Default (LGD) and Credit Conver-
sion Factor (CCF) parameters for measuring 
risks in the credit portfolio and for calculating 



43

the impairments of financial instruments� 
The CCF parameter can be employed to 
determine the amount of exposure, i�e� Expo-
sure at Default (EAD)� By utilising these 
parameters, the expected credit losses are 
calculated with the formula PD x LGD x EAD� 

The same models are also used in the calcu-
lation of expected credit losses (ECL) under 
IFRS 9�

Expected credit losses are calculated either 
for a period of 12 months or for the lifetime 

of the original contract, depending on the 
current risk level of the credit (see the 
information on the classification of finan-
cial instruments presented in the previous 
section and Figure 4: Classification of 
financial instruments into three stages for 

the measurement of impairment)�

Table 11 presents the credit risk models 
S-Bank employs in the calculation of 
expected credit risks for each customer 
group�

Table 11: Credit risk models used by S-Bank in the calculation of expected credit risks

Customer group Credit risk model Use Internal/external model

Retail customers PD model: probability of default within the next  
12 months 

Determining the risk at initial recognition and 
currently, classifying financial instruments for 
measurement of value

S-Bank internal model,
parameters derived from S-Bank’s credit portfolio

LGD model: S-Bank’s realised credit losses after 
collection measures� As a parameter in ECL calculation

S-Bank internal model,
parameters derived from S-Bank’s credit portfolio

CCF/EAD-model: exposure at default As a parameter in ECL calculation
S-Bank internal model,
parameters derived from S-Bank’s credit portfolio

Corporate customers PD-model: probability of default within the next  
12 months

Determining the risk at initial recognition and 
currently, classifying financial instruments for 
measurement of value

S-Bank’s internal model for corporate customers and 
PD estimates derived from a market database for 
housing companies

LGD-model: S-Bank’s realised credit losses after 
collection measures� As a parameter in ECL calculation Parameters derived from a market database

CCF/EAD-model: exposure at default As a parameter in ECL calculation Parameters derived from S-Bank’s credit portfolio

Investing activities PD and LGD As a parameter in ECL calculation Parameters derived from a market database
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ECLs are calculated by determining the PD, 
LGD and EAD for every future month and 
each separate contract� These three compo-
nents are multiplied by one another� The 
income for each future month is discounted 
to the reporting date and added together� The 
discount rate used in the ECL calculation is 
the interest rate of the original contract�

Classification of credit risks and probability 
of default

As presented above, S-Bank uses various 
credit risk models to forecast the probability 
of default, depending on the product and 
customer group� When forecasting the proba-
bility of default for a customer, S-Bank uses 
either a classification of the contract at the 
application stage or a classification based on 
its credit history� The application-stage clas-
sification is based on the personal and credit 
data collected from the customer on the 
application (e�g� income and collateral infor-
mation from retail customers and revenue 
and sector information from corporate cus-
tomers)� The information obtained on the 
credit application is supplemented with 
external information, such as payment 
default information available from Suomen 
Asiakastieto� A classification based on the 
credit history of the contract is made for retail 
customers who have had a valid credit agree-
ment with S-Bank for at least six months� In 
other words, when forecasting the customer’s 
probability of default, the customer informa-
tion is supplemented using the customer’s 

payment behaviour and other banking history, 
and if necessary, with an expert assessment 
by S-Bank, before calculating a final PD esti-
mate for the exposure� Based on the PD esti-
mates, loans are assigned a credit category� 
The 7-tier distribution of the categories is 
described below� The probability of default is 
the lowest in credit category 1 and the high-
est in credit category 7� The credit categories 
are calibrated in such a way that the risk 
grows exponentially in the higher risk catego-
ries� Thus the difference in the probability of 
default (PD estimate) between credit catego-
ries 1 and 2 is smaller than that between 
credit categories 5 and 6, for example�

The functioning of the credit categories and 
the credit risk models is tracked and cont-
rolled regularly� The risk models are validated 
and, if necessary, calibrated annually to 
ensure that their predictions are consistent 
with actual observations of credit in default�

Use of average parameters

S-Bank does not use group-specific PD esti-
mates when calculating expected credit 
losses� If the PD estimate for a contract at 
initial recognition is unavailable, the receiv-
able is classified in stage 2� In cases where 
the current PD estimate for a contract is not 
available, impairment is calculated using an 
averaged PD estimate for the same type of 
customer or product group� This also applies 
to cases where the initial PD estimate for the 
contract is not available�

Table 12: PD estimates for the credit categories

Credit category PD minimum (%) PD maximum (%)

1 0�00 < 0�15

2 0�15 < 0�25

3 0�25 < 0�50

4 0�50 < 0�75

5 0�75 < 2�50

6 2�50 < 10�00

7 10�00 < 100�00

In default 100�00

Forward-looking information used in the cal-
culation of expected credit losses

The calculation of a significant increase in 
credit and expected credit losses entails 
making forward-looking estimates� S-Bank 
has analysed historical data and identified 
the key economic variables that impact 
potential credit risks�  Using these varia-
bles, the total amount of expected credit 
losses is adjusted so that it corresponds to 
expectations of future economic perfor-
mance� 

The forecast economic performance is based 
on economic scenarios prepared by S-Bank� 
Three scenarios are used – strong scenario, 
basic scenario and weak scenario – and their 
probabilities are based on S-Bank’s estimates� 
For the purposes of IFRS 9, the macro-
economic scenarios are prepared three times 
a year� When calculating the amount of 
expected credit losses, the effects of the eco-
nomic outlook are taken into account using an 
adjustment factor� The adjustment factor is 
based on the trend in housing prices and the 
unemployment rate in the different scenarios� 
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Since information on the precise behaviour 
of the macroeconomic model and its effects 
on the expected credit losses has only been 
collected for 2018, S-Bank recognises the 
need for prudence� For this reason, the 
effects of the model on the calculation of the 
expected credit losses are not accounted for 
at their full weight� The weight is determined 
on the basis of an assessment by the mana-
gement, which takes into consideration the 
uncertainty involved in the factors used in the 
model and their underlying assumptions, as 
well as accounting for the model risk� 

Since its adoption, the macroeconomic 
model was updated with new forecasts in 
October 2018� At the same time, an update 
was made to the factor based on the manage-
ment’s estimate that affects the weight of the 
macroeconomic model, which was introduced 
in June 2018� The effects of the changes to 
the aforementioned variables are minor�

The introduction of the macroeconomic 
model and its effects on the calculation of 
expected credit losses are discussed above in 
the section “Adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 
2018”�Table 10 presents the bridge calcula-
tions of impairments in accordance with IAS 
39 and the expected credit losses calculated 
in accordance with IFRS 9, including the 
effects of the macroeconomic model�

Accounting policies in accordance with IAS 39
The comparative information in the financial 
statements has been prepared in accordance 
with IAS 39, under which financial assets are 

classified into four categories for the purpose 
of measurement:
•  Financial assets measured at fair value 

through profit or loss
•  Available-for-sale financial assets
•  Investments held to maturity
•  Loans and receivables

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial assets or liabilities measured at fair 
value through profit and loss include bonds 
and notes, and other domestic and foreign 
securities and participations that are traded 
actively and have been acquired for short-
term gain, as well as derivative contracts to 
which hedge accounting has not been 
applied� 

Investments held to maturity

Held-to-maturity investments include bonds 
and notes and other non-derivative financial 
assets which have fixed or floating cash flows, 
and which have matured on a certain date 
and were held to maturity� 
 
Loans and receivables

Loans and other receivables consist of finan-
cial assets that are not quoted on an active 
financial market which have fixed or floating 
cash flows and which are not classified as 
financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, investments held to 
maturity or available-for-sale financial assets� 

The transaction costs related to loans and 
other receivables are included in the amor-
tised cost measured using the effective inter-
est method and amortised through profit or 
loss over the term-to-maturity of the receiva-
ble� After initial recognition, loans and other 
receivables are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method�

Principles of income recognition

Interest income and expenses
Interest on financial assets and liabilities and 
interest-rate derivatives is accrued as interest 
income or expenses for the financial periods 
to which they are to be allocated over time� 
Fees that form an essential part of the effec-
tive interest on loans, receivables or deposits 
are recognised as interest income or 
expenses� 

Fee and commission income and expenses 
Fee and commission income and expenses 
arise from services offered to customers and 
from the resources needed to provide these 
services� Fee and commission income and 
expenses are recognised when the services 
have been rendered or received� Income and 
expenses for services distributed over several 
years are allocated to the appropriate years�

Intangible and tangible assets

Intangible assets
Intangible assets mainly consist of licence 
fees for software and connection charges� 
Software expenses also include costs arising 

from modification of the software licensed to 
the Group� Intangible assets are measured at 
original acquisition cost and amortised over 
their estimated economic lifetime, using the 
straight-line method�

Amortisation periods for intangible assets:
IT systems and licence fees: 5 years
Goodwill: 5 years
Renovations of rented premises: 5 years

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are measured at original 
acquisition cost, less accumulated deprecia-
tion and impairment, if any� Straight-line 
depreciation is recorded on tangible assets in 
accordance with each item’s economic life�

Depreciation periods for tangible assets:
Machinery and equipment: 3 years

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
At the end of each financial period, S-Bank 
assesses whether there is any evidence that 
the value of a receivable or an asset item is 
impaired� If there is evidence of impairment, 
the recoverable amount from the receivable 
or asset item is estimated based on objective 
criteria� The recoverable amount is defined 
as the higher of the asset’s fair value less cost 
to sell and value in use� An impairment loss 
is recognised when the carrying amount of an 
asset is higher than its recoverable amount� 
The impairment loss and its changes are rec-
ognised on the income statement and the 
balance sheet using a review of impairment 
at least four times per year�
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Income taxes
Income taxes include current taxes for the 
financial period and adjustments to taxes for 
previous periods, as well as changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities� The tax 
effects of items that are recognised directly 
in equity are correspondingly recognised 
directly in equity� Taxes are calculated using 
the tax rates valid on the closing date and, if 
there is a change in tax rates, at the available 
new tax rate�

Future changes to the accounting 
policies used in the preparation of 
S-Bank Group’s financial statements
S-Bank will adopt the International Financial 
Reporting Standards as of 1 January 2019� 
In accordance with the transition rules, the 
Group will report IFRS-compliant compara-
tive information for the 2018 financial year 
in its interim reports and its financial state-
ments for 2019�

The Group will in future report three seg-
ments: the Banking business, the Wealth 
Management business and other�

Owing to revisions to the regulations and 
guidelines of the Finnish Financial Supervi-
sory Authority concerning accounting, finan-
cial statements and the report by the Board of 
Directors, S-Bank Group adopted IFRS 9 as of 
1 January 2018� Full adoption of IFRS report-
ing is expected to result in minor changes to 
the consolidated balance sheet and income 

statement� Changes will be made due to the 
application of the following standards:

•  IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers

•  IFRS 16: Leases
•  IAS 19: Employee Benefits
•  IAS 38: Intangible assets

IFRS 15 will impact the recognition of certain 
fees as income� IFRS 16 will alter the treat-
ment of leases, as a leased commodity will 
be treated by the lessee as if it were acquired� 
Moreover, the reporting of pension liabilities 
in accordance with IAS 19 will result in minor 
changes to previous policies� The revisions 
brought by IAS 38 concern the capitalisation 
of hours performed allocated to projects� 

The tables below describe the estimated 
effects of the transition to IFRS� The tables 
do not account for the effect of deferred 
taxes�
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Table 13: Estimated effects of the transition to IFRS on consolidated equity at 1 January 2018

Share
capital

Comprehensive 
income items  

(Fair value reserve)

Reserve for 
invested non-

restricted equity
Retained  
earnings

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity

Opening balance sheet at 1 January 2018 after adoption of IFRS 9 82.9 6.5 243.8 71.5 0.2 404.9

IAS 16 and IAS 38, intangible assets

Capitalisation of hours performed in projects  0�8 0�8 

IAS 19, employee benefits  

Pension liabilities   -0�4  -0�4

IFRS 15, revenue  

Changes to the accrual of fees -1�0 -1�0

Opening balance sheet at 1 Jan. 2018 82.9 6.5 243.8 70.9 0.2 404.3

Table 14: Estimated effects of the transition to IFRS on balance 
sheet items (excl. consolidated equity) for 2018

EUR million 1 Jan. 2018 31 Dec. 2018 

IAS 16 and IAS 38 (receivables) 0�80 2�60

IFRS 15 (liabilities) 1�00 1�70

IFRS 16 (receivables) 5�30 5�40

IFRS 16 (liabilities) 5�30 5�40

IAS 19 (liabilities) 0�40 0�30

Consolidated goodwill (receivables) 8�93 8�93

Table 15: Estimated effects of the transition to IFRS on profit for 2018

EUR million 1 Jan.–31 Dec. 2018 

IAS 16 and IAS 38 (increase in depreciation and 
amortisation) -0�3

IAS 16 and IAS 38 (decrease in personnel 
expenses) 2�1

IFRS 15 (decrease in income) -0�7

IFRS 16
(increase in depreciation and 
amortisation) -2�2

IFRS 16 (decrease in lease expenses) 2�2

IAS 19 (adjustment of expenses) 0�1

Reversal of consolidated  
goodwill amortisation (decrease in amortisation) 3�5
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NOTE 2 TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: GROUP 
RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

S-Bank Group engages in banking and wealth 
management operations� Due to the nature 
of its operations, risks and risk management 
hold a key role in the management of busi-
ness operations and changes in the operating 
environment� The most significant risk types 
from the perspective of the Pillar 1 capital 
requirements are credit risks and operational 
risks� In addition to calculating Pillar 1 capi-
tal requirements, S-Bank also calculates an 
internal Pillar 2 capital requirement in order 
to assess all the material risks related to its 
operations and to ensure a comprehensive 
overview of its risk profile� 

The Report by the Board of Directors in the 
financial statements includes a general desc-
ription of risk management (Risk manage-
ment) and presents the key indicators con-
cerning S-Bank’s risk exposure� The report 
also discusses S-Bank’s capital adequacy and 
own funds (Capital adequacy and own funds)� 
Part Eight of the EU Capital Requirements 
Regulation (CRR, 575/2013) sets out the 
requirements on disclosure of information 
(Pillar 3) concerning institutions’ risks, risk 
management and capital adequacy� The Pillar 
3 report (Capital and Risk Management 
Report) in accordance with this regulation is 
published in a document separate from the 
financial statements� The report is available 
on S-Bank’s website, at www�s-pankki�fi�

Governance of risk management
S-Bank’s risk management is built on three 
lines of defence as illustrated in Figure 6�

The first line of defence consists of S-Bank’s 
business and support units, which conduct 
business operations in accordance with 
S-Bank’s strategy and business plan� The 
business and support units are responsible 
for risk-taking, the identification of risks, day-
to-day risk management and risk reporting� 

The second line of defence consists of the 
Group-level internal control functions, which 
are independent of the business units� These 
are Risk Control and Compliance� The Risk 
Control function monitors and assesses risk-
taking, the identification of risks and the 
efficiency of risk management in the Group� 
The function also oversees the execution of 
the risk strategy, as well as monitoring the 
total risk exposures in relation to the risk 
capacity and appetite� The Compliance fun-
ction assesses and monitors S-Bank’s comp-
liance with relevant external regulations, 
internal policies and the decisions of S-Bank’s 
management� 

The Internal Audit is the third line of defence 
and is independent of the functions being 
audited� The purpose of the function is to 
audit and evaluate the effectiveness of the 
risk management and internal control measu-
res carried out by the Group� Thus, the Inter-
nal Audit also reviews the activities of the 
Risk Control and Compliance functions�

1ST LINE OF DEFENCE 
Business and supporting units

3RD  LINE OF DEFENCE 
Internal Audit

2ND  LINE OF DEFENCE 
Independent internal control functions:

Risk Control and Compliance

Figure 6: Three lines of defence in risk management
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Roles and responsibilities 
in risk management
Figure 7 depicts S-Bank’s administrative 
structure, which also describes the gover-
nance of risk management� The roles and 
responsibilities of the relevant governing 
bodies in terms of risk management are desc-
ribed consequently�

Board of Directors
The parent company’s Board of Directors is 
responsible for overall risk management in 
S-Bank Group, ensuring that the Group’s 
operations are appropriately organised in 
compliance with applicable laws and regu-
lations� The Board approves the risk stra-
tegy and defines the risk capacity, risk 
appetite and risk management objectives of 
S-Bank, as well as ensuring that the Group 
has appropriate operating and risk manage-
ment principles for implementing the stra-
tegy and achieving the objectives� In addi-
tion, the Board of Directors confirms the 
risk category specific principles related to 
risk management, approves the principles 
of risk modelling and calculation, and sets 
sufficient limits on risks as part of the risk 
strategy�
 
The Board of Directors ensures that S-Bank 
continuously has adequate capital to cover 
all material risks arising from the business 
operations and changes in the external busi-
ness environment and that the Group’s risk-
bearing capacity is adequate� The Board of 
Directors monitors the bank’s capital and its 
allocation, the sufficiency of liquidity and risk 
limits�

The Board of Directors is assisted by the Risk 
and Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee, which have no 
independent decision-making power� Both 
committees are composed of members of the 
Board of Directors�
 
CEO and Group Management Team
S-Bank’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO), 
assisted by the Group Management Team, is 
responsible for the practical execution of risk 
management in accordance with the princip-
les set by the Board of Directors� The CEO 
and the Group Management Team ensure that 
the objectives and limits set for S-Bank’s risk 
capacity and risk appetite are considered in 
the bank’s strategic process, planning of ope-
rations and risk management� Additionally, 
they are responsible for achieving the set 
objectives and managing and monitoring any 
risks threatening these objectives�
 
Business and support functions
The directors of S-Bank’s business and sup-
port units are primarily responsible for the 
risks in their respective areas and for ensu-
ring that the operations of their units are car-
ried out in accordance with S-Bank’s guide-
lines and principles� These units are also 
responsible for running their operations wit-
hin the set risk limits� Therefore the business 
and support units are responsible for identi-
fying and assessing the risks associated with 
their processes, as well as managing and 
monitoring these risks� Each business unit 
and support unit is responsible for providing 
a clear and adequate description of the per-
tinent frameworks, operational requirements 

Kuvio 7: S-Pankin hallinnollinen rakenne 

and risk management requirements in its 
operations�

The business units also have separate Execu-
tive Teams that include business unit direc-
tors� The Executive Teams are responsible for 
the execution, implementation and monito-
ring of quantitative and qualitative targets, as 
well as for the development and profitability 
of the business units� The business units may 
apply stricter risk limits than those confirmed 
by the Board of Directors�

Risk Committee
The main duty of the Risk Committee is to 

ensure that the Board of Directors and the 
Risk and Audit Committee are provided with 
adequate and appropriate information on 
S-Bank’s risks, risk management and capital 
adequacy so as to assist them in discharging 
their duties and responsibilities and support 
them in decision making� The Risk Commit-
tee confirms the key risk management prin-
ciples and procedures for processing by the 
Risk and Audit Committee and approval by 
the Board of Directors� Moreover, the Risk 
Committee ensures that proposals for decisi-
ons are compliant with regulation as well as 
with the risk capacity and risk appetite con-
firmed by the Board of Directors�
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Independent functions
Risk Control is a function tasked with com-
prehensively monitoring and assessing 
S-Bank’s risk-taking level and the implemen-
tation of risk management� The Risk Control 
function monitors the execution of the risk 
strategy and the total risk exposure, ensuring 
that the risks taken by S-Bank are proportio-
nate to its risk capacity and the set objecti-
ves� The Risk Control function maintains and 
develops methods for measuring, assessing 

and reporting risks, and supports the busi-
ness units in identifying and managing risks� 
The function prepares regular reports on 
S-Bank’s risks, risk exposure and risk mana-
gement level to S-Bank’s management, the 
Risk Committee, the Risk and Audit Commit-
tee, the Board of Directors and the authori-
ties�
 
The Compliance function is tasked with 
making sure that S-Bank has adequate and 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RISK AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

RISK COMMITTEE: 
 Key risks and  their mitigation,  
adequacy and level of risk  

management as well as internal  
controls, complianceGROUP MANAGEMENT TEAM

BUSINESS AND  
SUPPORT UNITS

INTERNAL AUDIT:  
Adequacy, appropriateness and  
efficiency of risk management

Risk strategy:  
risk appetite and 
 capacity

Procedures and reporting  
process related to  

achievment of set objectives

Principles of risk  
management

Implementation of risk  
mangement

RISK CONTROL AND 
COMPLIANCE

Figure 8: Risk reporting

appropriate policies and procedures in place 
for ensuring compliance with regulatory 
requirements� The function monitors changes 
in legislation and regulations and ensures 
compliance with them within the Group� In 
addition, Compliance monitors and assesses 
the adequacy and effectiveness of any 
measures taken to remedy non-compliance�
 
The Internal Audit function performs inde-
pendent reviews and verification activities 

that focus on auditing the adequacy, functio-
nality and effectiveness of the internal cont-
rol and risk management frameworks across 
the entire Group� These features are evalua-
ted with a risk-oriented approach in accor-
dance with the auditing plan approved by the 
Board of Directors annually� When conduc-
ting audits according to plan, the Internal 
Audit function uses auditing criteria that are 
based on external regulations, internal guide-
lines and set objectives� 
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Risk monitoring and reporting
S-Bank monitors risks continuously, and each 
employee must be aware of their personal 
responsibilities in risk management� Employ-
ees are tasked with observing the implemen-
tation of risk management within their area 
of responsibility and instructed to report any 
observed deviations and deficiencies in risk 
management in accordance with agreed pro-
cedures� 

Risks are measured, monitored and reported 
in such a way that the Board of Directors of 
S-Bank and the executive management have 
adequate and relevant information on risks 
and their management procedures� S-Bank’s 
internal risk reporting process includes, 
alongside financial reporting, regular analy-
ses on the achievement of the objectives set 
by the Board of Directors� Risk-taking in rela-
tion to the risk capacity is monitored regularly 
and assessed, for example, when updating 
the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process (ICAAP) and Internal Liquidity Ade-
quacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) reports, 
processing strategy or making decisions con-
cerning important business projects or invest-
ments for S-Bank� Figure 8 illustrates the risk 
reporting process� 

As part of continuous risk reporting, the risk 
exposure of S-Bank and the Group companies 
and the practical implementation of risk 
mana gement are assessed daily based on set 
risk limits� Market and liquidity risks are mon-
itored and reported on daily� Credit risks, cap-
ital adequacy and operational risks are mon-

itored continuously and reported on a monthly 
and quarterly basis, and whenever necessary�
 
The Risk Control function is responsible for 
producing reports on key risks and the level of 
risk management to S-Bank’s management, the 
Risk Committee, the Risk and Audit Committee 
and the Board of Directors as illustrated in the 
figure below� In addition to regular reports, the 
aforementioned bodies are provided with a sep-
arate report and analysis if any major changes 
or deviations occur that may influence S-Bank’s 
risk position or capital adequacy�

The Internal Audit function evaluates the pro-
cesses concerning risk and capital manage-
ment in accordance with the annual auditing 
plan� The Internal Audit function regularly 
reports on the results of the audits, key audit 
observations, any improvement recommenda-
tions and the realisation of the audit plan to 
the Risk and Audit Committee and the Board 
of Directors, as well as to all the other rele-
vant bodies in the organisation�

Capital and liquidity management
Capital and liquidity management are funda-
mental parts of the risk management process� 
The objective of sound capital and liquidity 
management is to ensure that S-Bank contin-
uously has an appropriate capital and liquidity 
position required to achieve its strategic busi-
ness goals� Furthermore, the aim is to ensure 
that S-Bank continuously has sufficient capi-
tal and liquidity buffers to guard against unex-
pected events� Figure 10 illustrates the capital 
and liquidity management framework�

QUARTERLY REPORTING
• Extensive analysis on key 

events from the risk and  
asset / liability management 
point of view

• Development of measures 
targeted to improve risk 
management

OTHER REPORTING
• When applicable, e�g if 

operations or capital 
adequacy exhibit major 
changes or deviations 

MONTHLY REPORTING
• An analysis of the 

risk exposure and 
consequent changes 

RISK CONTROL FUNCTION REPORTING

Figure 9: The Risk Control function’s reports that 
are independent of the business units

RISK STRATEGY
•  Risk appetite and risk-

bearing capacity
•  Risk modeling and 

measurement
• Risk limits and thresholds

BUSINESS PLANNING 
• Budgeting
•  Income statement and 

balance sheet projections
• Key Performance Indicators

STRATEGY
•  Risk 

identification 
and analyses

ICAAP AND ILAAP
• Pillar 1 and 2 calculation, comprehensive risk analysis
• Stress testing and sensitivity analyses
• Capital and Liquidity adequacy forecast
• Asset structure projections

CONTINUOUS 
MONITORING 

AND REPORTING

CAPITAL 
MANAGEMENT 
AND PLANNING

Figure 10: Capital and liquidity management framework



52

Capital and liquidity management are based 
on a proactive approach that accounts for 
S-Bank’s strategy, business plan and risk 
strategy� The process begins with strategic 
and comprehensive risk analyses� S-Bank uti-
lises a variety of stress scenarios to estimate 
how potentially unfavourable developments 
could affect capital adequacy and liquidity at 
the Group level as well as at an individual 
subsidiary level over a certain time frame� 
Factors taken into consideration include var-
ious development patterns in the macroeco-
nomic, regulatory and competitive environ-
ment� Moreover, the scenarios include 
potential changes in S-Bank’s business vol-
umes and in the behaviour of its customers�

Stress testing
Stress testing exploits various sensitivity anal-
yses, enabling assessment of the impact of 
certain assumptions and parameters in 
selected risk categories and risk models� The 
sensitivities of expected credit risk losses are 
calculated with the Probability of Default (PD) 
and Loss Given Default (LGD) parameters� 
Possible concentration risks arising from cor-
porate counterparties and the effects of 
potential changes in the value of collateral for 
immovable property are taken into account 
while stressing credit risk effects on capital 
adequacy� From a market risk point of view, 
the Net Interest Income (NII) risk is calcu-
lated as the deviation between the budgeted 
and the scenario specific net interest income, 
taking into consideration changes in the mar-
ket interest rate levels� The effects of changes 
in the risk-free yield curve on market prices 
are calculated based on Economic Value (EV) 

risk calculations� The credit spread risk is 
assessed based on historical data by simulat-
ing effects of changes on the fair value reserve 
under a chosen scenario and taking into 
account relevant credit spreads� The stressing 
of interest rate risk in the banking book is 
presented in more detail below (section Inter-
est rate risk in the banking book)�
 
S-Bank prepares, at least once a year, a long-
term capital plan that provides a comprehen-
sive overview of its capital and risk positions 
in various stress scenarios� The capital plan 
also describes the measures that could be 
taken in negative scenarios to restore capital 
to the target levels, if necessary� The Internal 
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ICAAP) accounts for the material risk types 
to which S-Bank is exposed� Table 16 illus-
trates the relevant risk types for S-Bank and 
how they are accounted for in the calculation 
of capital in accordance with regulatory 
requirements (Pillar 1) and using the internal 
risk-based approach (Pillar 2)� 

S-Bank does not have a trading book� For this 
reason, S-Bank is not subject to the Pillar 1 
capital requirement for market risk� As 
S-Bank’s market risks arise from the banking 
book, these are – in accordance with the Pil-
lar 1 requirement and methods – included in 
the regulatory capital requirements for credit 
risk using the standardised approach� In the 
ICAAP, the capital requirement for market 
risk is calculated according to S-Bank’s inter-
nal market risk parameters and model� Mar-
ket risks are described in further detail  
below (Market risk)� The Pillar 2 capital  

Table 16: Risk types in ICAAP

RISK TYPE AND ALLOCATION OF CAPITAL Pillar 1 Pillar 2

Credit risk Yes Yes

Concentration risk No Yes

Operational risk Yes Yes

Market risk; foreign exchange rate risk Yes Yes

Market risk; interest rate risk in the banking 
book No Yes

Market risk; spread risk No Yes

Market risk; equity risk No Yes

Market risk; real estate risk No Yes

Strategic and business risk No Yes

Liquidity risk No ILAAP
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requirements for strategic and business risks 
are based on various scenario analyses�

Liquidity stress tests are, as a general rule, 
conducted annually as a part of the Internal 
Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ILAAP)� The ILAAP report, together with the 
ICAAP report, provides a comprehensive over-
view of S-Bank’s liquidity risk position in 
various stress scenarios� 

Liquidity stress testing is based on the 
30-day liquidity analyses, i�e� the Liquidity 
Coverage Ratio (LCR), and the adequacy of 
available long-term stable funding compared 
to the required long-term funding, i�e� the 
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)� The key 
aim of stress testing is to ensure the ade-
quacy of S-Bank’s liquid assets in order to 
cover unexpected liquidity outflows, and to 
confirm that the LCR and NSFR ratios fluc-
tuate within the accepted limits�
 
The immediate short-term effects of liquidity 
shocks can be evaluated through the cost of 
accumulating S-Bank’s cash and liquidity 
reserves, which is impacted by, for example, 
potential losses due to the selling of securi-
ties at unfavourable prices� Indirect effects 
are related to constraints on business opera-
tions and opportunity costs incurred due to a 
weakened liquidity position� Longer-term 
effects of a stressed liquidity position are 
related to the reputation risk, which may 
result in higher costs for long-term funding 
and lower-than-expected business volumes� 
Ultimately the short- and long-term direct 
and indirect effects of a weakened liquidity 
position would have a negative impact on 

S-Bank’s profitability, regardless of whether 
the liquidity shock is sudden or gradual� 

Credit and counterparty risks

S-Bank’s business focuses on credit cards as 
well as consumer loans and housing loans 
granted to retail customers� The majority of 
S-Bank’s corporate lending portfolio consists 
of financing extended to new housing com-
panies for the construction of apartment 
buildings� S-Bank maintains a low credit risk 
profile in line with its conservative risk appe-
tite, supported by active management and 
monitoring of credit risks� 

Credit risk refers to the probability of a coun-
terparty failing to meet its contractual pay-
ment obligations, thus causing a credit loss 
for S-Bank� The risk may arise in cases where 
lending is not based on accurate and suffi-
cient information or if changes occur in the 
customer’s financial condition or in the value 
of the collateral pledged by the customer over 
the lifetime of the credit�
 
The Pillar 1 credit risk capital requirement 
includes the Treasury portfolio since S-Bank 
does not have a trading book� 

The Board of Directors approves S-Bank’s 
credit risk strategy and credit decision man-
dates, which are in line with good banking and 
lending practices and with external regulation� 
The credit risk strategy contains key lending 
goals and limitations that are aligned with 
S-Bank’s strategy and the business plan 
derived from it as well as with the risk strategy� 
Credit risks arising from the Treasury portfolio 

and the limits set for them are described in 
the Treasury’s annual investment plan�
 
Credit risks are managed by the business and 
support units through the framework of prin-
ciples and limits set in the Group risk stra tegy, 
the credit risk strategy and the Treasury unit’s 
investment plan� This ensures that the bank 
has sufficient capital reserves to cover the risk 
exposure and that the aims of the risk appe-
tite and risk management are achieved� The 
credit risk management framework includes 
the credit granting process, credit risk miti-
gating factors such as collateral mana gement 
and guarantees, pricing, credit risk monitor-
ing, control and reporting� Credit risk manage-
ment is based on continuous credit and cus-
tomer monitoring� This enables the bank to 
detect any non-performing loans and to react 
to them with the necessary measures� 

S-Bank does not have securitisation positions 
on its balance sheet� 

S-Bank utilises various credit risk models for 
managing and measuring credit risks and cal-
culating impairment on financial instruments� 
The measurement of liabilities exposed to the 
credit risk is impacted by the prevailing eco-
nomic conditions and the amount of expected 
cash flows over time� Assessment of the credit 
portfolio’s risk exposure also entails estimat-
ing the probability of default and the amount 
of resulting credit losses�  The measurement 
of impairment on financial instruments and 
the calculation of credit losses are described 
in the accounting policies used in the prepa-
ration of the financial statements (Impairment 
of financial instruments and Calculation of 

expected credit losses)� Contractual changes 
in the financial assets and recognition of real-
ised credit losses are also discussed in the 
same sections�

S-Bank’s credit risk exposure and risk con-
centrations
Credit risk is the most significant risk type for 
S-Bank, as it constitutes 90% (EUR 2�4 bil-
lion) of S-Bank’s total risk exposure (further 
information Table 5: Summary of S-Bank’s 
capital adequacy information)� Table 17 indi-
cates the gross and total carrying amounts of 
the credit risk liabilities included in S-Bank’s 
material balance sheet items� The total car-
rying amounts are derived by deducting 
expected credit losses from the gross carrying 
amounts� Since the expected credit losses on 
debt securities are recognised through the 
fair value reserve, their amount is not pre-
sented in Table 17� However, expected credit 
losses of EUR 0�9 million have been recog-
nised on this item, as described below (see 
the section Quantitative and qualitative infor-
mation on amounts arising from expected 
credit losses and exposure to credit risks)� 
The expected credit losses on off-balance 
sheet items are also presented in connection 
with this� 

The most significant credit risk exposure for 
S-Bank, accounting for about 65% of the on-
balance sheet carrying amount, consists of 
receivables from the public and public sector 
entities� This item includes loans granted to 
retail customers and corporate customers� 
This item also creates the most significant 
risk exposure for S-Bank in the form of 
expected credit losses� 
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Table 17: S-Bank’s credit risk exposure  

BALANCE SHEET ITEMS, EUR MILLION Gross carrying amount Expected credit loss (ECL) Total carrying amount

Cash and cash equivalents 468�4 0�0 468�4

Receivables from credit institutions 27�8 0�0 27�8

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 4,204�8 -12�8 4,192�0

Debt securities 1,674�1 0�0 1,674�1

Shares and interests 25�2 0�0 25�2

Derivatives 0�7 0�0 0�7

Other items 60�6 0�0 60�6

Total 6,461.7 -12.8 6,448.9

The concentration risk may arise from a con-
centration of S-Bank’s exposure in a geo-
graphical area, industry, collateral type or an 
individual customer (single name)� Concen-
tration risks are managed within the defined 
limits and monitored regularly as part of the 
management’s risk reporting� Moreover, con-
centration risks are assessed through stress 
testing in the context of capital planning 
(ICAAP) as a part of scenario analyses� 

From a geographical perspective, the major-
ity (about 92%) of S-Bank exposure is in 

Finland, followed by the other Nordic coun-
tries (about 5%)� No significant changes 
have taken place in the geographical distri-
bution of the exposures since 2017� S-Bank 
has a large customer base in terms of lend-
ing to retail customers, and the concentra-
tion risk is mitigated by the fact that the 
customers and collateral are dispersed 
across Finland and the credit portfolio is 
distributed across different credit products� 
Therefore no concentration risk arises  
from the geographical distribution of the  
exposures� 
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Table 18 illustrates the distribution of credit 
risk exposures across industry and exposure 
group� The table presents the industries and 
exposure groups deemed material� The indus-
tries and exposure groups that were not 
deemed material are collectively stated under 
“Other exposures” or in the column “Other 
industries total”� The majority, or around 
54%, of S-Bank’s credit risk exposures are 
unclassified by industry� This column con-
sists mostly of credit granted to retail custom-
ers� Lending to corporate customers mainly 

consists of financing for construction by new 
housing companies� After the construction 
stage, the credit risk is divided among the 
shareholders of the housing company� There-
fore S-Bank does not have a concentration of 
risks in an individual industry� No significant 
changes have taken place in the distribution 
by industry of the exposures since 2017� 

The value of collateral is monitored and 
updated over the lifetime of credit, and 
information on the characteristics of collat-

eral is maintained in order to identify and 
manage potential risk concentrations� 
Immovable property is S-Bank’s largest indi-
vidual category of collateral� However, 
immovable property collateral is distributed 
across numerous individual loans and is geo-
graphically dispersed across Finland� The 
effects of potential changes in the value of 
immovable property collateral on the Group’s 
capital adequacy are assessed as part of the 
scenario analyses in the capital plan� Collat-
eral and collateral management are also 

discussed below (Collateral and credit 
enhancement)�

The concentration risk may arise for S-Bank 
mainly from credit institutions and corporate 
customers� These risks are managed at the 
Group level by setting total limits for each 
individual customer and monitoring the 
development of large single name risks�  
Capital is allocated to this risk as part of 
S-Bank’s capital plan (Table 16: Risk types 
in ICAAP)�

Table 18: Concentration of exposures by industry
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EUR MILLION M

an
uf

ac
tu

rin
g

El
ec

tr
ic

ity
, g

as
, 

he
at

in
g 

an
d 

ai
r 

co
nd

iti
on

in
g 

su
pp

ly

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n

W
ho

le
sa

le
 a

nd
 

re
ta

il 
tr

ad
e

Tr
an

sp
or

t 
an

d 
st

or
ag

e

Fi
na

nc
ia

l a
nd

 
in

su
ra

nc
e

R
ea

l e
st

at
e

Pr
of

es
si

on
al

, 
sc

ie
nt

ifi
c 

an
d 

te
ch

no
lo

gi
ca

l 
ac

tiv
iti

es

Ad
m

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t 

se
rv

ic
e

Pu
bl

ic
 

ad
m

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

 
an

d 
de

fe
nc

e,
 

co
m

pu
ls

or
y 

so
ci

al
 

se
cu

rit
y

O
th

er
 in

du
st

rie
s

U
nc

la
ss

ifi
ed

To
ta

l

Cash and cash equivalents 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 468�4 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 468�4

Receivables from credit institutions 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 27�8 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 27�8

Receivables from the public and 
public sector entities 0�1 33�8 1�3 24�6 0�2 69�3 654�9 4�6 0�6 0�0 6�3 3,396�5 4,192�0

Debt securities 111�2 0�0 25�2 10�0 22�8 903�8 18�5 8�0 38�4 512�9 23�5 0�0 1,674�1

Shares and interests 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 16�5 8�5 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�2 0�0 25�2

Derivatives 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�7 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�7

Other items 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 60�6 60�6

Total 111.3 33.8 26.5 34.6 23.0 1,486.5 681.9 12.6 38.9 512.9 30.0 3,457.1 6,448.9
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Quantitative and qualitative information on 
amounts arising from expected credit 
losses and exposure to credit risks
This section discusses quantitative and 
qualitative information on expected credit 
losses and S-Bank’s exposure to credit risks� 
The measurement of impairment on finan-
cial instruments and the calculation of 
credit losses are described in the account-
ing policies used in the preparation of the 
financial statements (Impairment of finan-
cial instruments and Calculation of expected 
credit losses)� Further information is avail-
able in the relevant note to the consolidated 
financial statements (Note 11 to the consol-

idated financial statements: Expected credit 
losses on financial assets, guarantees and 
other off-balance sheet liabilities measured 
at amortised cost and expected credit losses 
and impairment losses on other financial 
assets)�
 
S-Bank is exposed to risks arising from 
exposures  held by retail and corporate cus-
tomers, investing activities (debt securi-
ties) and off-balance sheet commitments� 
Table 19–Table 21 describe the cash 
amounts exposed to credit risks, excluding 
collateral or other credit enhancement 
arrangements� The information is distrib-

uted across credit risk rating categories in 
the table� The probability of default is the 
lowest in credit category 1 and the highest 
in credit category 7�

Credit granted to retail customers forms the 
largest exposure to credit risk in the form of 
expected credit losses� The exposures of 
retail customers include housing loans and 
consumer credit, of which the latter gener-
ate a relatively larger credit risk, as they are 
unsecured credit products� The exposures 
of corporate customers are mostly held by 
large companies with a good credit rating� 
These loans are mostly used to finance the 

construction of new housing companies� 
Since they are secured by mortgages on 
immovable property, these loans pose a 
smaller risk, which also reduces the amount 
of expected credit losses� 

At the close of the financial period, the 
expected credit losses (ECL) totalled EUR 
14�5 million�  The expected credit losses 
have grown steadily during the review period 
in the same proportion with the increase in 
the credit risk exposure� The expected credit 
losses were within the risk appetite limits 
set in the credit risk strategy by the Board 
of Directors�

Table 19: Credit risk exposure (retail customers)  

LENDING TO RETAIL CUSTOMERS, 
31 DEC. 2018, EUR ’000

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL Total

Category 1 2,309,351�7 231,176�7 0�0 2,540,528�4

Category 2 182,340�4 26,118�8 0�0 208,459�2

Category 3 155,453�8 28,617�5 0�0 184,071�2

Category 4 63,498�6 23,598�8 0�0 87,097�4

Category 5 181,764�0 26,872�0 0�0 208,636�0

Category 6 73,139�6 28,041�0 0�0 101,180�6

Category 7 593�1 67,313�9 0�0 67,907�0

In default 0�0 0�0 19,113�5 19,113�5

Gross carrying amount 2,966,141.1 431,738.8 19,113.5 3,416,993.4

ECL provision 1,273�5 8,108�3 2,594�7 11,976�6

Net carrying amount 2,964,867.6 423,630.5 16,518.8 3,405,016.8
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Table 20: Credit risk exposure (corporate customers) 

LENDING TO CORPORATE 
CUSTOMERS, 31 DEC. 2018, EUR ’000

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL Total

Category 1 310,444�8 10,835�4 0�0 321,280�2

Category 2 175,087�5 914�9 0�0 176,002�3

Category 3 104,459�5 68�6 0�0 104,528�1

Category 4 66,996�0 805�0 0�0 67,801�0

Category 5 64,647�8 1,197�3 0�0 65,845�1

Category 6 49,134�3 14,354�4 0�0 63,488�7

Category 7 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

In default 0�0 0�0 14�9 14�9

Gross carrying amount 770,769.7 28,175.7 14.9 798,960.3

ECL provision 736�7 96�5 0�6 833�8

Net carrying amount 770,033.1 28,079.2 14.3 798,126.6

Table 21: Credit risk exposure (investing activities)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES,  
31 DEC. 2018, EUR ’000

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL Total

Category 1 771,823�6 0�0 0�0 771,823�6

Category 2 93,600�5 0�0 0�0 93,600�5

Category 3 208,278�9 0�0 0�0 208,278�9

Category 4 16,585�6 0�0 0�0 16,585�6

Category 5 153,974�9 0�0 0�0 153,974�9

Category 6 7,085�4 0�0 0�0 7,085�4

Category 7 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

In default 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

Total 1,251,348.9 0.0 0.0 1,251,348.9

ECL provision 927�1 0�0 0�0 927�1
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Table 22: Credit risk exposure (off-balance sheet commitments)

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS, 
31 DEC. 2018, EUR ’000

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL Total

Category 1 1,346,669�7 47,297�3 0�0 1,393,967�0

Category 2 100,137�8 13,707�9 0�0 113,845�7

Category 3 81,011�1 6,774�7 0�0 87,785�8

Category 4 38,525�4 11,206�2 0�0 49,731�6

Category 5 149,085�2 7,770�4 0�0 156,855�6

Category 6 21,341�5 1,436�5 0�0 22,778�1

Category 7 117�6 4,381�3 0�0 4,498�9

In default 0�0 0�0 158�6 158�6

Total 1,736,888.3 92,574.4 158.6 1,829,621.3

ECL provision 200�2 564�5 7�9 772�6
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S-Bank does not have any financial instru-
ments consisting of acquired or originated 
financial assets that are impaired due to the 
credit risk�
 
Changes and deferrals in the loss allowance
This section demonstrates how significant 
changes in the gross carrying amounts of 
financial instruments that occurred during 
the period have impacted changes in the loss 
allowance� Table 23 and Table 24 describe 
the deferrals and changes in expected credit 

losses per financial instrument category dur-
ing the period� The tables present the recon-
ciliation between the opening and closing 
balance of the loss allowance, where Table 
23 contains the receivables from retail and 
corporate customers as well as off-balance 
sheet items and Table 24 contains the calcu-
lations for investing activities (debt securi-
ties)� 

The expected credit losses for the reporting 
period have grown steadily in the same  

proportion as the increase in the credit risk 
exposure� The total amount of expected 
credit losses (ECL) grew by EUR 361�2 thou-
sand during the financial period�  Changes in 
the risk parameters totalled EUR -647�4 
thousand during the financial period� The 
item in question is impacted by changes 
made during the period to the calculation of 
the loss allowance, among other things� 
These changes include the introduction of 
the macroeconomic model, an increase in the 
factor applied by the management to the 

weight of the macroeconomic model and 
changes in the treatment of forbearance 
when classifying loans into stages, which 
impact the item in question�  The changes 
are discussed in the accounting policies used 
in the preparation of the financial statements 
(Adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 and 
Impairment model in accordance with IFRS 
9)� In other respects, the changes and defer-
rals that have occurred in the loss allowances 
are in line with the credit risk strategy and 
the prevailing economic conditions� 

Table 23: Reconciliation of expected credit losses (receivables from customers and off-balance sheet items)

RECEIVABLES FROM CUSTOMERS AND OFF-BALANCE  
SHEET ITEMS, 2018, EUR ’000

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL Total

ECL 1 Jan. 2018 3,052.0 8,696.7 1,669.6 13,418.3

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 -197�3 3,911�9 0�0 3,714�6

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 3 -24�7 0�0 958�9 934�3

Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 131�6 -2,620�0 0�0 -2,488�3

Transfers from stage 2 to stage 3 0�0 -654�1 792�6 138�5

Transfers from stage 3 to stage 1 0�6 0�0 -72�0 -71�3

Transfers from stage 3 to stage 2 0�0 26�7 -39�8 -13�1

Changes in the risk parameters -376�7 -251�3 -175�5 -803�5

Increases due to origination and acquisition 420�1 1,069�4 84�4 1,573�9

Decreases due to derecognition -773�7 -578�5 -269�8 -1,621�9

Decrease in allowance account due to write-offs -21�6 -831�6 -345�1 -1,198�3

Net change in ECL -841�5 72�5 933�7 164�6

ECL 31 Dec. 2018 2,210.4 8,769.3 2,603.2 13,582.9
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Table 24: Reconciliation of expected credit losses (investing activities)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES, 2018, EUR ’000
Stage 1

12-month ECL
Stage 2

Lifetime ECL
Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Total

ECL 1 Jan. 2018 730.6 0�0 0�0 730.6

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 3 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

Transfers from stage 2 to stage 3 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

Transfers from stage 3 to stage 1 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

Transfers from stage 3 to stage 2 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

Changes in the risk parameters 156�1 0�0 0�0 156�1

Increases due to origination and acquisition 171�1 0�0 0�0 171�1

Decreases due to derecognition -130�8 0�0 0�0 -130�8

Decrease in allowance account due to write-offs 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

Net change in ECL 196�5 0�0 0�0 196�5

ECL 31 Dec. 2018 927.1 0.0 0.0 927.1

The recognition of realised credit losses is 
discussed above in the accounting policies 
used for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements (Impairment of finan-
cial instruments)� For S-Bank, the largest 
amount of credit losses is generated by 
unsecured credit, which is recognised as a 
credit loss at an early stage (within 4–7 
months after the receivable is past due)� 
Early recognition as a credit loss naturally 
reduces the amount of expected credit 
losses� However, collection agencies are still 
applying active measures to collect these 

debts, which will eventually reduce the 
amount of credit losses recognised on the 
income statement through recoveries�  
During the reporting period, a total of EUR 
12�2 million in financial assets were written 
off as realised credit losses that are still sub-
ject to collection measures�

The note to the consolidated income state-
ment presents numerical information on 
expected credit losses and realised credit 
losses (Note 11 to the consolidated financial 
statements: Expected credit losses on finan-

cial assets, guarantees and other off-balance 
sheet liabilities measured at amortised cost 
and expected credit losses and impairment 
losses on other financial assets)� During the 
period under review, EUR 13�3 million was 
recognised as realised credit losses on the 
income statement� Reversals recorded 
amounted to EUR 4�7 million� 

Collateral and credit enhancement
S-Bank uses collateral, guarantees and 
derivatives to manage credit risks� As credit 
enhancement arrangements, they also 

affect the granting of secured credit� The 
Board of Directors of S-Bank decides on the 
accepted collateral types and their valuation 
principles�
 
S-Bank generally requires comprehensive 
collateral in order to mitigate the credit risk 
in all types of credit, excluding credit cards 
and unsecured credit granted to retail cus-
tomers� The methods specified in the credit 
granting guidelines are used to ensure that 
collateral is acceptable, binding, comprehen-
sive and cashable�
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The guiding principle is that credit may only 
be granted to customers with an adequate 
repayment ability, regardless of the value of 
possible collateral� Depending on its type, 
collateral is measured at market value or fair 
value� Based on the principle of prudence, a 
haircut is applied to the value of collateral in 
order to mitigate credit risk, and the size of 
this haircut depends on several criteria� The 
values of immovable property collateral are 
monitored and updated regularly over the 
lifetime of credit� Expected credit loss calcu-
lations take into account the effect of collat-
eral and the uncertainties and costs associ-
ated with its realisation through the 
parameters indicating the Loss Given Default 
(LGD)�

S-Bank uses normal guarantees, such as 
govern ment guarantees or guarantee commit-
ments given by a natural or legal person� 

Guarantees transfer the credit risk from the 
counterparty to the guarantor� The risk-miti-
gating factors used when calculating the 
credit risk capital adequacy requirement 
include immovable property collateral and 
unfunded credit protection (such as govern-
ment guarantees for student, housing and 
housing company loans and S-Asuntotakaus 
guarantees provided by an external service 
provider for retail customers’ housing loans)�
 
No significant changes occurred during 2018 
in the quality of the collateral held by S-Bank�
 
Table 25 presents quantitative information 
on collateral held for credit-impaired finan-
cial assets (stage 3)� Off-balance sheet expo-
sures are included in each respective finan-
cial asset item� The collateral values of stage 
3 secured exposures covers the gross carrying 
amounts of these exposures� 

Table 25: Credit-impaired exposures and their collateral           

CREDIT-IMPAIRED 
FINANCIAL ASSETS,  
EUR ’000

Gross carrying 
amount

ECL 
provision

Net carrying 
amount

Fair value of 
collateral

Lending to retail customers 19,113�5 2,602�6 16,510�9 21,868�5

Lending to corporate customers 14�9 0�6 14�3 300�0

Credit-impaired financial assets, 
total 19,128.4 2,603.2 16,525.2 22,168.5

The calculation of expected credit losses use 
the value zero for the Loss Given Default 
(LGD) parameter in secured investment 
account credit limits and in loans secured by 
mortgages on immovable property if the 
amount of outstanding capital is less than 
50% of the fair value of the collateral given 
for the credit� In these cases, no loss allow-
ance is recorded for the credit�
 
The use of derivatives for managing credit 
risks is discussed in the next section (Coun-
terparty credit risks)�

Counterparty credit risks
According to the EU Capital Requirements 
Regulation, a counterparty credit risk (CCR) 
can arise from a derivative contract in a case 
where the counterparty is unlikely to meet its 
contractual obligations when the contract’s 
market value is positive� Derivative contracts 
are used when hedging a specific balance 
sheet item, position or cash flow against 
future value changes� S-Bank uses deriva-
tives solely for risk management purposes�

S-Bank uses the mark-to-market method set 
out in Article 274 of the Capital Require-
ments Regulation when determining the 
counterparty credit risk and the current 
replacement cost of all derivative contracts 
with a positive market value� The manage-
ment of the market risk related to derivative 
positions is described below (Market risks)�

S-Bank enters into ISDA (International Swaps 
and Derivatives Association) and CSA (Credit 
Support Annex) agreements with its counter-

parties in derivative contracts� These agree-
ments reduce the counterparty credit risk� 
The agreements specify the general terms 
and conditions related to derivatives and the 
collateral application methods between the 
counterparties� When calculating the maxi-
mum amount of counterparty credit risk 
related to financial instruments, the open 
position includes cash and cash equivalents, 
investments, deposits and other financing 
transactions, such as derivative contracts�
 
Potential future credit risk is calculated on the 
basis of the values of the underlying assets, 
using the special percentages laid down in 
Article 274 of the Capital Requirements Reg-
ulation� The sum of the current replacement 
cost and the potential future credit risk con-
stitutes the exposure value of a derivative con-
tract� The risk-weighted exposure of the deriv-
atives (EUR 1�6 million) is used to determine 
the Pillar 1 minimum capital requirement for 
counterparty credit risk (EUR 0�1 million), 
which is taken into account as part of the 
minimum capital requirement for credit risk�

Derivative contracts also involve the risk of a 
credit valuation adjustment (CVA), which refers 
to an adjustment of the fair value (or price) of 
derivative contracts to account for the counter-
party credit risk�  The CVA includes the coun-
terparty’s credit margins and market risk fac-
tors, which influence the valuation of derivatives 
and, thus, also the risk� The risk-weighted 
exposure amounts related to the CVA risk 
amounted to EUR 3�1 million at the close of 
the period, and the Pillar 1 minimum capital 
requirement for this risk was EUR 0�3 million�
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Monitoring and reporting
The Banking business is responsible for credit 
risk management and the regular monitoring of 
the balance sheet and the credit portfolio� 
Reports are used to monitor the fulfilment of 
set objectives, the materialisation of risk levels, 
the distribution of the credit portfolio across 
different credit categories, the regional distri-
bution of credit, risk concentrations, collateral 
values, realised margins, the performance of 
credit rating models, the consistency of the 
credit management processes, and non-per-
forming loans and expected credit losses�
 
In addition, the Risk Control function oversees 
that the principles, limits and decision making 
authorisations set in the risk and credit risk 
strategy are observed in business operations� 
The function prepares regular reports on 
S-Bank’s credit risk profile and on the success 
of risk management to S-Bank’s management, 
the Risk Committee, the Risk and Audit Com-
mittee and the Board of Directors�
 
Operational risks
S-Bank’s operational risk profile is materially 
impacted by system failures and disruptions, 
fraud and possible deficiencies in services pro-
cured from external service providers� The real-
ised losses attributable to operational risks in 
2018 were very low (EUR 633 thousand) in 
comparison to the regulatory capital require-
ment reserved for them� In 2018, S-Bank 
became the first bank in Finland to achieve the 
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard 
(PCI DSS) status� PCI DSS provides technical 
and operational requirements designed to pro-
tect account data, which are implemented in 
S-Bank’s operational processes in accordance 
with the security strategy�

Operational risk refers to the possibility of 
losses arising from unclear or inadequate pro-
cesses, deficient systems, actions by the per-
sonnel or external factors� Legal and reputa-
tional risks are included in operational risks� 
The consequences of realised operational 
risks may include financial losses or a deteri-
oration in S-Bank’s reputation and its esteem 
and trustworthiness in the eyes of the public� 

The primary objectives of S-Bank’s opera-
tional risk management are to manage the 
reputational risk and to secure business con-
tinuity and compliance with external regula-
tion in both the short and the long term� 
Operational risk management ensures that 
S-Bank´s values and strategy are imple-
mented and good banking and lending prac-
tices are observed� The risk management 
process covers all material operational risks 
related to business operations� 

To support the achievement of S-Bank’s objec-
tives, risk management is carried out through-
out the organisation using the following meas-
ures:

•  Identifying, measuring, monitoring and 
reporting all of S-Bank’s material opera-
tional risks and their effects on the risk 
capacity and risk appetite�

•  Determining methods for risk manage-
ment and ensuring that they are effec-
tive, appropriate, cost-efficient and ade-
quate, while accounting for S-Bank’s 
risk appetite and internal control meas-
ures�

•  Integrating risk management into 
S-Bank’s management system, decision 
making and operating methods�

When identifying and assessing operational 
risks, S-Bank also accounts for the risks aris-
ing from the outsourcing of operations, as 
well as considering compliance risks, which 
consist of risks related to money laundering, 
terrorist financing and compliance with 
external regulation and internal policies� 
S-Bank’s operational risk management also 
involves various procedures that aim to iden-
tify, assess and manage risks� New products 
and services are approved in accordance 
with a specific approval procedure before 
they are adopted or provided to the custom-
ers� A similar procedure is used to approve 
new counterparties and contractual partners 
before S-Bank starts cooperating with them� 
Continuity plans are prepared against major 
disturbances in operations� Realised opera-
tional risks are managed with a procedure 
for managing deviations� S-Bank prepares 
for potential operational risks with insurance 
against damage caused by misuse or crimi-
nal activity and damage to property, for 
example�

The Operational Risk Control function, which 
is independent of S-Bank’s business opera-
tions, supervises and assesses the scope, 
adequacy and effectiveness of S-Bank’s oper-
ational risk management in a comprehensive 
manner� The Operational Risk Control func-
tion supports the implementation of risk 
management within the organisation and 
ensures that all risks are identified and 
assessed and that appropriate and adequate 
procedures are in place for managing risks� 
The function also maintains and develops 
methods for measuring, assessing and report-
ing risks, and supports the business units in 
identifying and managing risks� 

Monitoring and reporting
S-Bank monitors and supervises its opera-
tions continuously on various levels of the 
organisation� Every employee is responsible 
for the implementation of risk management 
within their area of responsibility and for 
reporting any deviations relating to opera-
tional risks� 
   
S-Bank employs an operating model and 
reporting system for managing realised oper-
ational deviations� A notification is made for 
situations or events that hamper ordinary 
operations or violate regulatory requirements 
or S-Bank’s guidelines� Actions by contract-
ing parties or subcontractors that adversely 
affect S-Bank’s operations are also consid-
ered deviations� The notification must 
describe the reasons leading to the event and 
assess the impacts of the event and the pos-
sible costs arising from it� If necessary, plans 
are made and procedures are determined for 
preventing similar events in the future� More-
over, S-Bank has an internal whistleblowing 
channel through which employees can report 
violations confidentially�

The Operational Risk Monitoring function 
reports regularly on the most significant real-
ised operational risks and on the level of risk 
management at S-Bank to the Board of Direc-
tors, the Risk and Audit Committee, the Risk 
Committee, the CEO and the Group Manage-
ment Team, as well as to the authorities� The 
Compliance function supervises compliance 
with regulations and the adequacy of various 
procedures, in addition to providing recom-
mendations for development measures and 
supervising the implementation of these 
measures� 



63

Market risk

S-Bank’s market risks are mainly comprised 
of the spread risk and the interest rate risk in 
the banking book, which are attributable to 
the structural interest rate risk in the balance 
sheet and the investment operations of the 
Treasury unit� Other market risks in S-Bank’s 
banking book, which include equity risks, real 
estate risks and exchange rate risks, are insig-
nificant� The market risk profile is managed 
with a conservative risk appetite� 

In general, market risk refers to the impact of 
fluctuation in the prices of securities, in inter-
est rates and currency exchange rates and in 
the market values of balance sheet items on 
the bank’s profits and balance sheet� S-Bank’s 
market risks mainly consist of the interest rate 
risk in the banking book and the interest rate 
risk attributable to the investment activities 
of the Treasury unit� Additionally, the Group’s 
banking book also includes equity, foreign 
exchange and real estate risks to a very small 
extent� S-Bank does not have a trading book 
or a trading portfolio, and for this reason 
S-Bank is not subject to a Pillar 1 capital 
requirement for market risk� As S-Bank’s mar-
ket risks arise from the banking book, the 
aforementioned capital requirement is 
included in the regulatory capital requirement 
for credit risk�

In the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process (ICAAP) for Pillar 2 capital, S-Bank 

accounts for the aforementioned risk types 
that are identified in the banking book, in 
addition to considering the risk arising from 
the credit risk component in debt securities, 
which is called the spread risk� Thus S-Bank’s 
Pillar 2 market risk as a whole consists of the 
interest rate risks in the banking book and the 
spread, equity, foreign exchange and real 
estate risks� Moreover, diversification benefits 
between the risk types in question, which are 
based on mutual correlations and which 
reduce the overall market risk, are also taken 
into account as part of the Pillar 2 review� 

The aim of S-Bank’s market risk management 
is to manage unexpected changes in the 
bank’s profits and capital adequacy as a result 
of fluctuations in market prices and to opti-
mise the return on equity within the scope of 
the risk appetite� Monitoring and prediction 
of the external business environment are par-
ticularly emphasised in market risk manage-
ment� Market risk management is based on a 
conservative risk appetite and the risk limits 
derived from it, which are monitored and 
reported actively to the management of 
S-Bank� Market risk concentrations are man-
aged with limits that are set at the Group level 
and the business unit level and determined 
as market risk-sensitivities in monetary terms� 
Internal transfer pricing is used as an aid in 
market risk management�

Market risks are reviewed in terms of present 
value, income and market price risks, which 

measure risks from different perspectives� 
The market price risk always relates to the 
market price sensitivity of balance sheet 
items and derivatives, as well as to the effects 
of market price fluctuations on fair value� 
Market risks are measured by means of allo-
cation, sensitivity figures, stress tests and 
scenario analyses� 

The Treasury unit is tasked with the day-to-
day management of the Group’s market risks 
within the scope of its authorisations� The 
Treasury unit sets targets and takes risk in its 
investing activities within the framework of 
the risk strategy and risk appetite approved 
by the Board of Directors of S-Bank�

Interest rate risk in the banking book
Most of S-Bank’s market risk arises from the 
interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB)� 
The IRRBB is reviewed as a structural interest 
rate risk in the Banking business and as the 
interest rate risk of debt securities in the 
Treasury unit’s investment portfolio�

The structural interest rate risk in the Banking 
business arises from differences between the 
interest rate fixings and maturities of receiv-
ables and liabilities, which is why the future 
net interest income of the Banking business 
(Net interest income (NII) risk/earnings-based 
risk) and the net present value of the balance 
sheet (economic value (EV) based risk) are not 
entirely foreseeable� The NII risk and the EV 
risk measure risks from different perspectives� 

The EV risk measures the net present value of 
liabilities and receivables on the balance 
sheet, i�e� the theoretical economic value of 
equity� The earnings-based risk is used to 
simulate the effects of the materialisation of 
risks on S-Bank’s profits within a set period 
of time� 

In addition to the structural interest rate risk 
arising from deposit and lending operations, 
S-Bank is exposed to interest rate risks from 
the Treasury unit’s investing activities� An 
interest rate risk arises when the values of 
debt securities in a portfolio change as a 
result of fluctuations in market rates (price 
risk)� The price risk relates to the market price 
sensitivity of balance sheet items, as well as 
to the effects of market price fluctuations on 
fair value� Thus, the price risk is an interest 
rate risk based on the present value measured 
for items continuously valued in the balance 
sheet� Table 26 presents the composition of 
the Treasury unit’s investment portfolio� 
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Table 26: Composition of Treasury portfolio

31 DEC. 2018, EUR MILLION Exposures
Risk-weighted exposure amounts 

(RWAs, credit risk, standard method) RWA density

Exposure classes

Central governments or central banks 463�2 0�0 0�0%

Regional governments or local authorities 484�3 0�0 0�0%

Public sector entities 5�0 1�0 20�0%

Institutions 420�3 128�2 31�5%

Corporates 293�3 293�2 100�0%

Covered bonds 465�3 46�5 10�0%

Collective investment undertakings 24�7 24�7 100�0%

Equity exposures 0�4 0�4 100�0%

Total 2,156.5 494.1

31 DEC. 2017, EUR MILLION Exposures
Risk-weighted exposure amounts 

(RWAs, credit risk, standard method) RWA density

Exposure classes

Central governments or central banks 516�3 0�0 0�0%

Regional governments or local authorities 264�0 0�0 0�0%

Public sector entities 7�1 1�4 20�0%

Institutions 384�3 117�9 31�8%

Corporates 307�6 310�8 101�0%

Covered bonds 360�6 36�1 10�0%

Collective investment undertakings 30�7 30�7 100�0%

Equity exposures 0�2 0�2 100�0%

Total 1,870.9 497.1

The interest rate risk is managed by planning 
the balance sheet structure, such as the 
maturity and interest rate fixings of assets 
and liabilities, and with interest rate deriva-

tives� The interest rate risk exposure is also 
described by the following table, which pre-
sents the breakdown of financial assets and 
liabilities by interest rate fixing� In the inter-

est rate fixings of S-Bank’s liabilities and 
receivables, the largest imbalance causing an 
EV risk is in the 0–1 month maturity portfolio, 
because S-Bank’s main source of financing 

is based on non-maturity deposits, for which 
the conservative maturity of one month is 
applied at the computational interest rate 
reset date of these deposits� 
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Table 27: Breakdown of financial assets and liabilities by interest rate fixing 

a b c d e f 

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, 31 DEC. 2018, EUR MILLION 0–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years More than 10 years Total

1 Cash and cash equivalents 468�4 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 468�4

2 Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 188�8 68�4 661�0 84�3 0�0 1,002�5

3 Receivables from credit institutions 27�8 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 27�8

4 Receivables from the public and public sector entities 1,760�6 2,348�5 59�8 17�7 0�3 4,187�0

5 Debt securities 318�4 164�3 165�6 17�1 0�0 665�4

6 Derivatives (assets) 0�6 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�6

7 Financial assets, total 2,764.8 2,581.2 886.5 119.1 0.3 6,351.9

8 Liabilities to credit institutions 0�3 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�3

9 Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,879�5 0�8 3�4 0�0 0�0 5,883�8

10 Bonds issued to the public 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

11 Subordinated debts 0�0 50�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 50�0

12 Derivatives (liabilities) 4�6 2�1 6�4 0�0 0�0 13�1

13 Financial liabilities, total 5,884.5 52.9 9.8 0.0 0.0 5,947.2

14 Financial assets and liabilities, total -3,119.7 2,528.3 876.7 119.1 0.3 404.7
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a b c d e f 

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, 31 DEC. 2017, EUR MILLION 0–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years More than 10 years Total

1 Cash and cash equivalents 493�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 493�0

2 Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 261�0 62�7 406�2 130�6 0�0 860�5

3 Receivables from credit institutions 25�7 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 25�7

4 Receivables from the public and public sector entities 1,817�6 1,780�8 103�5 18�4 4�6 3,724�9

5 Debt securities 176�7 88�0 175�0 24�6 0�0 464�3

6 Derivatives (assets) 0�8 0�0 0�2 0�0 0�0 1�0

7 Financial assets, total 2,774.9 1,931.5 684.8 173.6 4.6 5,569.4

8 Liabilities to credit institutions 10�1 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 10�1

9 Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,043�2 2�1 2�2 0�0 0�0 5,047�5

10 Bonds issued to the public 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 0�0

11 Subordinated debts 0�0 50�0 0�0 0�0 0�0 50�0

12 Derivatives (liabilities) 2�4 3�3 0�6 0�0 0�0 6�3

13 Financial liabilities, total 5,055.7 55.3 2.8 0.0 0.0 5,113.9

14 Financial assets and liabilities, total -2,280.9 1,876.2 682.0 173.6 4.6 455.5
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Table 28: Sensitivity analysis for the interest rate risk in the banking book             

NET INTEREST INCOME (NII) RISK,  
EUR MILLION 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

+100 basis points 27�7 27�0

-100 basis points -7�7 -7�7

ECONOMIC VALUE (EV) RISK,  
EUR MILLION 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

+100 basis points -31�0 -25�6

-100 basis points 102�5 75�6

Table 29: Treasury portfolio price risk          

PRICE RISK, TREASURY PORTFOLIO,  
EUR MILLION 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Korkoshokki Portfolio Sensitivity Sensitivity, % Portfolio Sensitivity Sensitivity, %

+100 basis points
1,952�1

-17�4 -0�9%
1,870�9

-16�4 -1�1%

-100 basis points 18�0 0�9% 17�0 1�2%

The Board of Directors has set a maximum 
amount for S-Bank’s economic value risk, 
net interest income risk and price risk� The 
interest rate risk in the Banking business is 
monitored with an interest rate gap analysis, 

in which liabilities and receivables are 
grouped over time periods on the basis of 
their interest rate fixings� The impacts of 
changes in the interest rate curves on the 
interest rate risk exposure of S-Bank are 

monitored daily with the net present value 
method (price risk) for balance sheet items 
susceptible to market price fluctuations and 
monthly using the earnings-based risk and 
EV methods�

The table below presents the interest rate risk 
stress in the banking book, describing the 
parallel change of the market interest rate 
curve applied to a financing or credit agree-
ment at all interest rate curve maturities� 
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Spread risk
The operations of the Treasury unit are also 
exposed to the spread risk arising from fixed-
rate and floating-rate bonds in the portfolio� 
The spread risk is related to a change in the 
market’s general opinion of the creditworthi-
ness of an investment instrument’s issuer or 
to a shift in the general market sentiment 
towards investments that involve a credit risk, 
due to which the investments depreciate in 
value� The amount of the spread risk is moni-
tored regularly as part of day-to-day interest 
rate risk reporting�
 
The spread risk is assessed daily in accord-
ance with S-Bank’s internal market risk 
model, based on historical observations of 
stressed volatility levels for credit risk premi-
ums� The market risk model applies a 
12-month observation horizon and a 99�5% 
confidence level� The internal Pillar 2 capital 
requirement for spread risk is also calculated 
based on the internal market risk model�

The Board of Directors has set a maximum 
amount for the spread risk� Counterparty limits 
are defined by assessing the credit risk of coun-
terparties, mainly on the basis of credit ratings 
provided by credit rating agencies� Investing 
activities are cautious, and assets are invested 
in liquid securities with a good credit rating� 

Equity, foreign exchange and real estate risks 
and other market risks
Balance sheet equity risks materialise directly 
as a result of changes in the market prices of 

equities� Minor equity risks arise from the 
operations of the Treasury unit, and their 
mana gement and limitation are based on sim-
ple allocation limits� S-Bank uses equities 
primarily to diversify market risks, and there-
fore the level of equity risks is kept moderate� 
Despite their low risk level, equity market risks 
are monitored regularly and the limits that 
regulate risk-taking are adjusted as necessary� 

Real estate risks arise as part of S-Bank’s 
investing activities, and they are mainly 
intended to diversify the market risks in the 
portfolio� Real estate risks are primarily 
mana ged with allocation limits, and the risk 
level is kept low� 

S-Bank is exposed to foreign exchange risks 
only when it invests in bonds that are denomi-
nated in foreign currencies as part of its 
investing activities, or in connection with trad-
ing denominated in foreign currencies carried 
out by customers, or in connection with for-
eign currency accounts� The permitted cur-
rencies are specified in the foreign exchange 
risk limits and the risks are primarily hedged� 

As part of its investing activities, S-Bank is 
exposed to indirect market risks through fund 
investments in forest real estate� This risk is 
kept extremely moderate by means of invest-
ment limits� 

Monitoring and reporting
S-Bank’s Treasury unit monitors the market 
risk daily and the Banking business is  

responsible for the operational measuring, 
monitoring and reporting of market risks in 
compliance with the organisation’s agreed 
internal procedures� 

The Risk Control function also monitors mar-
ket risk exposures on a daily basis� In addi-
tion, the Risk Control function supervises the 
management of S-Bank’s market risks and 
the effectiveness and use of the applied mar-
ket risk models� The key aspects of market 
risks, the effectiveness of risk management 
and the impact of risks on capital adequacy 
are reported to S-Bank’s management, the 
Risk Committee, the Risk and Audit Commit-
tee and the Board of Directors�

Liquidity risks

S-Bank is exposed to liquidity risks from 
lending to customers and in funding and 
Treasury operations� S-Bank’s liquidity posi-
tion is strong, and the liquidity risk appetite 
is conservative� The liquidity position is main-
tained through active risk management meas-
ures and continuous monitoring� The main 
objective of the Treasury unit’s investing 
activities is to ensure that S-Bank’s liquidity 
position is at all times above the minimum 
regulatory requirements and the minimum 
internal targets�

The liquidity risk is defined as the risk of 
S-Bank being unable to meet its payment 
obligations when they are due or being forced 
to fund these obligations at a higher-than-nor-

mal cost� The liquidity risk also refers to the 
uncertainty arising from the difference 
between the short-term inflow and outflow of 
cash, as well as to the structural financing 
risk, which is the uncertainty related to the 
financing of longer-term lending� The reasons 
behind the materialisation of a liquidity risk 
may be specific to the bank or to the market� 
The key risk factors in S-Bank’s liquidity risk 
are:
•  a withdrawal of deposits in different cus-

tomer segments
•  a sudden increase in the utilisation rate 

of (committed) credit lines and limits
•  an increase in S-Bank’s collateral 

requirements
•  a decrease in the mark-to-market prices 

of securities in the liquidity reserve

S-Bank measures its liquidity coverage ratio 
(LCR) in accordance with parameters deter-
mined by the authorities and with an internal 
liquidity risk model and parameters� The lim-
its and calculation parameters applied in 
internal modelling are approved by the Board 
of Directors of S-Bank and they are in line 
with the risk appetite defined in the risk strat-
egy� The framework of limits is used to ensure 
that the liquidity position is continuously 
above the minimum regulatory requirements 
and the internal target levels� S-Bank’s 
liquidity strategy also includes a liquidity 
continuity plan, which determines the meas-
ures needed for preserving an adequate 
liquidity position in a stressed market envi-
ronment�   
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Liquidity and refinancing risks are monitored 
on a daily basis with cash flow forecasts and 
LCR reports and monthly with a gap analysis, 
in which assets and liabilities are grouped 
over time periods according to their maturity� 
This distribution is presented in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements (Note 
30: Breakdown of financial assets and liabil-
ities according to maturity)� The distribution 
of financial liabilities based on contractual 
maturities is weighted towards the 0–1-
month maturity band due to the fact that 
S-Bank’s funding is based on deposits by 
retail customers� From a liquidity risk pers-
pective, however, these deposits are a stable 
and permanent source of funding, as accord-
ing to statistics on depositor behaviour their 
maturity is considerably longer than one 
month� The maturity of derivative liabilities 
is focused on the 1–5-year band, which cor-
responds to the average maturity of the 
hedged investment portfolio� 

S-Bank’s internal modelling of the liquidity 
risk is a key part of the annual Internal 
Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ILAAP), in which S-Bank’s liquidity risk pro-
file is assessed comprehensively from both a 
qualitative and quantitative perspective� As 
part of the process, S-Bank reassesses its 
liquidity risk profile and updates the internal 
model for measuring liquidity risk and ade-
quacy and the internal liquidity risk manage-
ment guidelines� In the same process, sce-
nario analyses are used to prepare forecasts 
for changes in S-Bank’s liquidity position in 

various scenarios affecting the balance sheet 
and the external operating environment� The 
results of the process are reported to the 
management and Board of Directors of 
S-Bank� Liquidity stress tests are discussed 
in the section Capital and liquidity manage-
ment� 

Liquidity risk management is based on ensur-
ing that the amount of S-Bank’s unencum-
bered, liquid assets exceed the liquidity net 
outflows in normal and stressed operating 
environments in the short term (0–2 days), 
medium term (0–30 days) and long term 
(more than 30 days)� 

Liquidity risk concentrations arise from con-
centrations in the customer segments with 
deposits and financing limits and in the 
liquidity buffer� Liquidity concentration risks 
pertaining to a customer segment are man-
aged using segment-specific outflow factors 
pursuant to liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) 
regulations, which means that the increase 
of risk concentrations in a segment that is 
risky in terms of liquidity is always taken into 
account by reserving more liquid assets for 
the increased concentration� In turn, any con-
centration in the liquidity buffer is limited by 
counterparty-specific limits and requirements 
on the structure of the buffer in compliance 
with the LCR regulations�

Liquidity management also includes collat-
eral management, i�e� ensuring that S-Bank 
has an adequate number of eligible liquid 

securities at its disposal to cover the collat-
eral required by various business operations� 
Moreover, minimum requirements for liquid-
ity management include meeting the central 
bank’s minimum reserve obligation and the 
regulatory Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and 
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) require-
ments�

The management of S-Bank’s liquidity risk 
has been delegated to the Treasury unit� The 
liquidity risk is transferred from the business 
units to the Treasury unit in accordance with 
the principles of internal transfer pricing� The 
Treasury unit manages the liquidity buffers in 
accordance with the authorisations given to 
it� The unit is responsible for the operational 
execution of the risk appetite pursuant to the 
risk strategy with regard to the liquidity risk� 
Monitoring and prediction of the external 
business environment are emphasised in 
liquidity risk management� Applying a stricter 
liquidity risk appetite is appropriate if liquid-
ity in the market is considered stressed� The 
LCR is used to monitor S-Bank’s liquid assets 
and to manage the liquidity risk� The NSFR, 
a longer-term liquidity indicator, is used to 
measure structural liquidity risk in the Bank-
ing business�

S-Bank’s liquidity risk position
S-Bank’s liquidity position is extremely 
strong� Table 30 demonstrates the change in 
the liquidity buffer based on year-end infor-
mation� The figures account for the valuation 
haircuts applied to balance sheet items� 

S-Bank’s liquidity portfolio pursuant to the 
LCR requirements, which consists of unen-
cumbered, high-quality liquid assets, 
amounted to EUR 1,4 billion at year-end�  
Level 1 high quality assets amounted to 84% 
and level 2 high quality assets to 16% of total 
liquidity portfolio market value� Net outflows 
totalled EUR 886 million, and the LCR was 
156% (163)� No significant changes took 
place in the allocation of S-Bank’s liquidity 
buffer during the reporting period� 
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Table 30: Liquidity (LCR) by balance sheet item

LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO (LCR), EUR MILLION 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Market value Buffer value Market value Buffer value

Level 1a 955 955 809 809

Assets from regional governments or local authorities 494 494 294 294

Funds from central administrations 21 21 22 22

Central bank reserves available for withdrawal 440 440 493 493

Level 1b 259 241 219 204

Extremely high-quality covered bonds 259 241 219 204

Level 2a 209 178 126 107

High-quality covered bonds (third country, CQS1) 123 105 56 48

High-quality covered bonds (CQS2) 81 69 62 53

Corporate bonds (CQS1) 5 4 7 6

Level 2b 25 12 13 7

Corporate bonds (CQS2 and CQS3) 25 12 13 7

Total 1,448 1,386 1,167 1,127

Liquidity outflows, total 932 753

Liquidity inflows, total 46 61

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%) 156% 163%
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Figure 11 and Figure 12 illustrate the 
change in the liquidity buffer based on 
year-end information from the perspective 
of market value and buffer value� 

S-Bank’s funding is primarily based on the 
deposit portfolio and thus the main sources 
of funding are the deposit and savings 
accounts of its retail customers� Other 
sources of funding include the Treasury 

unit’s wholesale market deposits from 
companies and other credit institutions as 
well as certificates of deposits� The figure 
below illustrates the structure of S-Bank’s 
funding� Even though the structure of 
S-Bank’s funding is concentrated on retail 
customer deposits, the funding is highly 
diversified because the average deposit 
among S-Bank’s retail customers is very 
low� 

Figure 11: Composition of the LCR buffer (market value), including CRR haircuts
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Figure 12: Composition of the LCR buffer (buffer value), including CRR haircuts 
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Figure 13: Structure of S-Bank’s funding, EUR million
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Table 31: Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) 

NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO (NSFR),  
EUR MILLION 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Buffer value Buffer value

Available stable funding, total 5,296�6 4,645�4

Required stable funding, total 3,631�0 3,212�1

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) 145�9% 144�6%

The Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) measu-
res the adequacy of the bank’s structural 
long-term (1 year) funding� The NSFR is 

defined as the available stable funding rela-
tive to the required stable funding� Table 31 
presents the development of the NSFR� 
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The total amount of the available stable fund-
ing was nearly 1�5 times the required stable 
funding on 31 December 2018� The ratio 
remained relatively stable compared to 2017�
 
Another key indicator of adequate long-term 
funding in the Group’s business model is the 
ratio between lending and borrowing, which 
was 72% (74) on 31 December 2018� This 
ratio describes and forecasts the need for 
other sources of funding and takes into con-
sideration short-term liquidity requirements� 
The stable funding risks at S-Bank are related 
to the funding of an increase in lending with 
deposits from the public� The ratio between 

lending and borrowing and the development 
of the retail customer deposit portfolio, which 
is crucial for S-Bank’s funding, are monitored 
continuously (see Figure 14)� The Treasury 
unit’s liquidity strategy and the plan for 
restoring liquidity, which is included in the 
strategy, specify the measures that must be 
taken if the ratio between lending and bor-
rowing exceeds specific thresholds�

In 2018, S-Bank began preparations for 
expanding its funding structure in order to 
ensure the availability of market-based long-
term funding at competitive pricing in the 
coming years�

Monitoring and reporting
The Treasury unit and the Risk Control func-
tion monitor and assess S-Bank’s liquidity 
position daily on the basis of the reports 
submitted to them, and they report on the 
situation to S-Bank’s management on a reg-
ular basis� In addition, the Risk Control 
function assesses the management of 
S-Bank’s liquidity risks as well as the effec-
tiveness and use of the liquidity risk models� 
The key aspects of the liquidity risk are 
reported to S-Bank’s management, the Risk 
Committee, the Risk and Audit Committee 
and the Board of Directors� 

Liquidity and refinancing risks are monitored 
on a daily basis with cash flow forecasts and 
LCR reports and monthly with a gap analysis, 
in which assets and liabilities are grouped 
over time periods according to their maturity� 
This distribution is presented in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements (Note 
30: Breakdown of financial assets and liabil-
ities according to maturity)� 
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Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements: Net interest income

2018 2017

Interest income

Receivables from credit institutions -299 -98

Receivables from the public and public sector 
entities 72,090 69,306

Debt securities 9,111 11,567

Derivatives 200 400

Other interest income 4 0

Total 81,106 81,175

Interest income from stage 3 financial assets 1,632

Interest expenses

Liabilities to credit institutions -364 -365

Liabilities to the public and public sector 
entities -4,073 -3,603

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading -1,837 -3,177

Subordinated debts -838 -731

Other interest expenses -31 -33

Total -7,142 -7,910

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
The information in the notes to the consolidated income statement is presented 
in thousands of euros�

Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements: Return on equity investments

2018 2017

Dividend income from investments classified as 
financial assets held for trading - 19

Dividend income from associated companies 0 40

Total 0 58

Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements: Fee and commission income and expenses

2018 2017

Fee and commission income

From lending 29,316 25,455

From borrowing 3,341 3,686

From payment transactions 8,946 8,386

From funds 52,872 51,444

From wealth management 1,514 1,402

From legal duties 288 210

From securities brokerage 4,386 7,674

From insurance brokerage 527 521

From issuance of guarantees 119 -107

From other activities 2,483 1,940

Total 103,790 100,612

Fee and commission expenses

From paid commission fees -41 -38

Other -42,713 -41,375

Total -42,754 -41,413
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Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements: Net income from securities and 
currency operations

2018

Capital gains 
and losses 

(net)

Changes in 
fair value 

(net) Total

From debt securities 61 -11 50

From shares and interests 2,171 518 2,689

From derivatives -419 50 -369

Net income from securities 
trading, total 1,813 557 2,370

Net income from currency 
operations 0 -207 -207

Net income from securities and 
currency operations 1,813 350 2,162

Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements: Net income from hedge accounting

2018 2017

Net result from hedging instruments -7,252 3,657

Net result from hedged items 6,881 -4,024

Total -371 -367

Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements: Other operating income

2018 2017

Other income 14,813 15,728

2017

Capital gains 
and losses 

(net)

Changes in 
fair value 

(net) Total

From debt securities -139 -29 -168

From shares and interests 153 15 168

From derivatives -1,162 601 -561

Net income from securities 
trading, total -1,148 587 -561

Net income from currency 
operations 0 166 166

Net income from securities and 
currency operations -1,148 753 -395
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Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements: Depreciation and impairment on 
tangible and intangible assets

2018 2017

Depreciation according to plan

Intangible assets -9,171 -7,912

Tangible assets -94 -271

Total -9,265 -8,183

Depreciation according to plan includes EUR 1�2 million in depreciation related to the 
scrapping of ICT systems�

Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements: Other operating expenses

2018 2017

Lease expenses -4,257 -4,560

Other expenses -1,605 -1,422

Total -5,862 -5,982

Auditor’s fees

Audit -326 -345

Tax consultancy -14 -8

Other services -118 -94

Total -458 -447

Payments to the Financial Stability Authority

Financial stability contribution -814 -449

Deposit guarantee fund contribution -3,317 -4,052

Administrative fee -32 -31

Total -4,163 -4,533

The Deposit Guarantee Fund reimbursed the deposit guarantee contribution collected for the 
Financial Stability Fund and the Financial Stability Fund reimbursed the stability 
contribution, which had replaced the bank tax� These did not result in a profit or loss for 
S-Bank� The funds accumulated in the old deposit guarantee fund and the bank tax paid in 
previous years is estimated to cover the contributions paid to the Financial Stability 
Authority until 2020�
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Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements: Expected credit losses on financial assets, guarantees and other off-balance sheet liabilities measured at amortised cost, and 
expected credit losses and impairment losses on other financial assets

31 Dec. 2018

Contract-specific 
expected credit 
losses, gross * Reversals **

Reversals 
recognised in the 

income statement

Realised credit losses 
recognised in the 

income statement

Expected credit losses on financial assets, guarantees and other off-balance sheet 
commitments measured at amortised cost

Receivables from credit institutions 24 0 0 0

Receivables from the public and public sector entities -593 1,198 4,719 -13,306

Commitments given on behalf and in favour of customers 404 0 0 0

Total -165 1,198 4,719 -13,306

Expected credit losses and impairment losses on other financial assets, total

Expected credit losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income in accordance with IFRS 9�4�1�2A -197 0 0 0

Total -197 0 0 0

Total expected credit losses -361 1,198 4,719 -13,306

* Contract-specific expected credit losses (ECL) recognised in the income statement during the reporting period� There are no group-specific ECLs at the moment�

** Expected credit losses as at the opening balance sheet on receivables recognised as realised credit losses during the reporting period

31 Dec. 2017, Impairments on credit, other 
commitments and other financial assets

Contract-specific 
realised credit 

losses, gross

Contract-specific 
impairments, 

gross

Group-specific 
impairments, 

gross Allowances
Recognised in the 
income statement

Receivables from the public and public sector entities -11,214 485 3,762 5,277 -627
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Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements: Classes of  
financial assets and liabilities Fair value through profit or loss

Classes of financial assets, 31 Dec. 2018 Amortised cost
Fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Carried at fair 
value

Hedging 
derivatives Total

Cash and cash equivalents 468,436 468,436

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 1,002,523 1,002,523

Receivables from credit institutions 27,838 27,838

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 4,187,001 4,187,001

Debt securities 242,674 422,764 665,438

Shares and interests 469 24,740 25,209

Derivatives 649 649

Total 4,683,275 1,246,135 472,243 649 6,402,302

Classes of financial assets, 31 Dec. 2017
Loans and 

receivables Available-for-sale
Hedging 

derivatives Total

Cash and cash equivalents 493,015 493,015

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 860,478 860,478

Receivables from credit institutions 25,737  25,737

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 3,724,854  3,724,854

Debt securities 464,280 464,280

Shares and interests 30,965 30,965

Derivatives  999 999

Total 4,243,606 1,386,689 999 5,631,294

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
The information in the notes to the consolidated balance sheet 
is presented in thousands of euros�
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Classes of financial liabilities, 31 Dec. 2018 Amortised cost Hedging derivatives Total

Liabilities to credit institutions 302 302

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,883,806 5,883,806

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading  13,103 13,103

Subordinated debts 50,000  50,000

Total 5,934,108 13,103 5,947,211

Classes of financial liabilities, 31 Dec. 2017 Amortised cost Hedging derivatives Total

Liabilities to credit institutions 10,109 10,109

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,047,522 5,047,522

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading  6,260 6,260

Subordinated debts 50,000  50,000

Total 5,107,632 6,260 5,113,892
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Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements: Receivables from credit institutions

31 Dec. 2018
Repayable on 

demand

Other than 
repayable on 

demand
Loss 

allowance* Total

From Finnish credit 
institutions 2,533 11,801 0 14,335

From foreign credit 
institutions 13,067 436 0 13,503

Receivables from credit 
institutions, total 15,601 12,237 0 27,838

* The loss allowance is the expected credit loss included in each item (other than repayable on 
demand)�

31 Dec. 2017
Repayable 

on demand

Other than 
repayable on 

demand Total

From Finnish credit 
institutions 2,602 10,479 13,081

From foreign credit 
institutions 12,221 436 12,656

Receivables from credit 
institutions, total 14,823 10,914 25,737

Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements: Receivables from the public and 
public sector entities

31 Dec. 2018
Receivables from the public 

and public sector entities
Loss  

allowance*

Corporates and housing companies 725,941 642

Financial and insurance institutions 62,327 168

Households 3,389,925 11,960

Non-profit organisations serving households 4,135 21

Foreign entities 4,673 20

Receivables from the public and public sector 
entities, total 4,187,001 12,810

* The loss allowance is the expected credit loss included in each item�

31 Dec. 2017
Receivables from the public 

and public sector entities

Corporates and housing companies 648,465

Financial and insurance institutions 110,381

Households 2,957,447

Non-profit organisations serving households 5,279

Foreign entities 3,282

Receivables from the public and public sector entities, total 3,724,854

31 Dec. 2017 Impairment losses

Impairment losses at the start of the year 3,620

Receivable-specific impairment losses recorded for the period 485

Group-specific impairment losses recorded for the period 3,762

Group-specific impairment losses reversed during the period -3,620

Impairment losses at the end of the year 4,247

Credit losses at the end of the financial period 6,563

Non-performing receivables at the end of the financial period 14,267
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Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements: Debt securities

31 Dec. 2018 Publicly quoted Total Loss allowance

Debt securities issued by public sector entities

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

Local government securities 359,727 359,727

Debt securities issued by public sector entities, total 359,727 359,727

Debt securities issued by other than public sector entities

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

Commercial papers 63,037 63,037

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,245,197 1,245,197 -927

Debt securities issued by other than public sector entities, total 1,308,234 1,308,234 -927

Debt securities, total 1,667,961 1,667,961

Of which eligible for refinancing with central banks 1,002,523 1,002,523

Of which those that accumulate no interest, total 25,807 25,807

* The loss allowance is the expected credit loss for each item�
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31 Dec. 2017 Publicly quoted Total

Issued by public sector entities

Available-for-sale financial assets

Treasury bills 155,940 155,940

Local government securities 36,451 36,451

Other bonds issued by public sector entities 30,065 30,065

Other debt securities 108,010 108,010

Debt securities issued by public sector entities, total 330,466 330,466

Debt securities issued by other than public sector entities 

Available-for-sale financial assets

Certificates of deposit issued by banks 4,503 4,503

Commercial papers 44,442 44,442

Bonds issued by banks 686,306 686,306

Other debt securities 259,042 259,042

Debt securities issued by other than public sector entities, total 994,293 994,293

Debt securities, total 1,324,758 1,324,758

Of which eligible for refinancing with central banks 860,478 860,478

Of which those that accumulate no interest, total 11,670 11,670
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Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements: Shares and interests

31 Dec. 2018 Publicly quoted Other Total

Shares and interests

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 24,740 0 24,740

Equity instruments recognised at fair value through other comprehensive income in 
accordance with IFRS 9�4�1�4 0 469 469

Shares and interests in associated companies 0 9 9

Total 24,740 478 25,218

31 Dec. 2017 Publicly quoted Other Total

Shares and interests

Available-for-sale financial assets 30,706 259 30,965

Shares and interests in associated companies 0 5 5

Total 30,706 264 30,970
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Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements: Derivatives

31 Dec. 2018
Notional 

value
Positive fair 

value
Negative fair 

value

For hedging purposes

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 746,200 41 -11,264

Maturities of derivative exposures 
designated for hedge accounting

less than one year 120,000

1–5 years 549,000

more than five years 77,200

For non-hedging purposes

Interest rate derivatives

Options, bought 200,000 158 0

Options, written 150,000 0 -809

Interest rate swaps 50,000 0 -464

Maturities of derivative exposures not 
designated for hedge accounting

less than one year 100,000

1–5 years 270,000

more than five years 30,000

31 Dec. 2017
Notional 

value
Positive fair 

value
Negative fair 

value

541,200 157 -4,591

135,000

284,000

122,200

200,000 406 0

150,000 0 -828

160,000 18 -422

150,000

330,000

30,000
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Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements: Information presented on hedge accounting

31 Dec. 2018
Notional value, 

total
Assets,  

fair values
Balance sheet item  

including the hedged item

Changes in fair value of the hedging 
instruments used for calculating hedge 

ineffectiveness during the period

Hedging derivatives

Fair value hedge

Interest rate derivatives 746,200 -11,223 Derivatives and other  
liabilities held for trading 334

Total 746,200 -11,223 334

Changes in the fair value of a hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the income statement under “Net result from hedge accounting”� Changes in the fair 
value not attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the fair value reserve� Changes in the fair value of the hedging items included in hedge accounting are recognised in the income 
statement under “Net result from hedge accounting”� When hedging is effective, the changes in the fair value offset each other and the net result is close to zero�
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Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements: Intangible assets

Changes in intangible assets in 2017
Intangible 

rights
IT software and 

licences Advances paid Goodwill
Consolidated 

goodwill Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan� 2017 0 59,101 7,233 4,119 21,679 92,132

Increases 0 3,114 5,365 0 0 8,478

Transfers between items 0 5,525 -5,525 0 0 0

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec� 2017 0 67,740 7,073 4,119 21,679 100,611

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and 
impairment at 1 Jan� 2017 0 -38,852  -2,403 -8,412 -49,667

Accumulated amortisation for allowances and 
transfers 0 0  0 0 0

Depreciation 0 -7,088  -824 -4,336 -12,248

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and 
impairment at 31 Dec� 2017 0 -45,940  -3,227 -12,748 -61,914

Carrying amount 1 Jan� 2017 0 20,249 7,233 1,716 13,267 42,466

Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 2017 0 21,800 7,073 892 8,931 38,696

Changes in intangible assets in 2018
Intangible 

rights
IT software and 

licences Advances paid Goodwill
Consolidated 

goodwill Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan� 2018 0 67,740 7,073 4,119 21,679 100,611

Increases 571 -1,334 11,202 0 0 10,439

Transfers between items 328 2,415 -2,415 0 0 328

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec� 2018 899 68,821 15,859 4,119 21,679 111,378

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and 
impairment at 1 Jan� 2018 0 -45,940  -3,227 -12,748 -61,914

Accumulated amortisation for allowances and 
transfers 0 1,516  0 0 1,516

Depreciation -158 -8,194  -819 -3,472 -12,642

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and 
impairment at 31 Dec� 2018 -158 -52,618  -4,045 -16,219 -73,040

Carrying amount 1 Jan� 2018 0 21,800 7,073 892 8,931 38,696

Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 2018 741 16,203 15,859 74 5,460 38,337
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Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements: Tangible assets

Changes in tangible assets in 2017
Machinery and 

equipment Other tangible assets
Prepayments and 

acquisitions in progress Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan� 2017 3,992 124 0 4,116

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec� 2017 3,992 124 0 4,116

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and impairment at 
1 Jan� 2017 -3,613 0  -3,613

Depreciation -271 0  -271

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and impairment at 
31 Dec� 2017 -3,884 0  -3,884

Carrying amount 1 Jan� 2017 379 124 0 503

Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 2017 108 124 0 232

Changes in tangible assets in 2018
Machinery and 

equipment Other tangible assets
Prepayments and 

acquisitions in progress Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan� 2018 3,992 124 0 4,116

Increases 0 0 328 328

Transfers between items 0 0 -328 -328

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec� 2018 3,992 124 0 4,116

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and impairment at 
1 Jan� 2018 -3,884 0  -3,884

Depreciation -94 0  -94

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and impairment at 
31 Dec� 2018 -3,978 0  -3,978

Carrying amount 1 Jan� 2018 108 124 0 232

Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 2018 14 124 0 138
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Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements: Other assets

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Receivables from payment transactions 2,886 1

Trade receivables from securities 0 27

From investment firms 0 8

From others 0 19

Other 4,216 4,577

Total 7,102 4,605

Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements: Accrued income and  
prepayments made

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Interest receivable 11,143 12,452

Other accrued income 12,515 12,619

Total 23,658 25,071

Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements: Deferred tax assets and liabilities

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Deferred tax assets attributable to losses 1,565 1,674

Deferred tax assets arising from the fair value 
reserve 985 0

Deferred tax liabilities arising from the fair value 
reserve 0 2,898

Deferred tax liability from appropriations 8,448 7,866

Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements: Other liabilities

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Payables arising from payment transactions 20,786 100,492

Payables from securities 301 0

Other 10,618 11,618

Total 31,706 112,110

Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements: Accrued expenses and prepayments 
received

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Interest payable 451 445

Accrued expenses 18,959 19,336

Total 19,410 19,781
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Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements: Subordinated debts

31 Dec. 2018 Carrying amount * Notional value Interest rate Maturity

Debenture I/2015 16,020 16,000 12-month Euribor + 1�5% annual interest 1 Dec� 2025

Debenture I/2016 26,239 26,000 12-month Euribor + 1�8% annual interest 30 Jun� 2026

Debenture I/2017 8,005 8,000 12-month Euribor + 1�8% annual interest 18 Dec� 2027

Terms of debenture loans:
The issuer reserves the right to call the loans before maturity� The issuer or a company within the same group of companies may only call a minor part of a loan before maturity without the 
approval of the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority� A condition for calling the loans is that they can be resold to a new investor within a short period of time� The noteholders do not 
have the right to demand premature repayment of the loans�  

Debenture loans are subordinated to the bank’s other debt obligations� In capital adequacy calculations, loans on debenture terms are grouped under Tier 2 capital in accordance with the 
CRR regulation�

*) Includes transferred interest�

Model of the key features of equity 
instruments Debenture I/2015 Debenture I/2016 Debenture I/2017
Issuer S-BANK LTD S-BANK LTD S-BANK LTD

Unique identifier (ISIN) FI4000185418 FI4000210877 FI4000292735

Governing law of the instrument Finnish law Finnish law Finnish law

Regulation

Transitional CRR rules Tier 2 (T2) capital Tier 2 (T2) capital Tier 2 (T2) capital

Post-transitional CRR rules Tier 2 (T2) capital Tier 2 (T2) capital Tier 2 (T2) capital

Eligible at solo or consolidated/subconsolidated/ 
solo and consolidated/
sub-consolidation group

Solo and consolidated Solo and consolidated Solo and consolidated

Amount recognised in regulatory capital (EUR 
million, on the last reporting date)

16 26 8

Nominal amount of instrument (EUR million) 16 26 8

Issue price 100% 100% 100%

Redemption price 100% 100% 100%

Accounting classification Liability at amortised cost Liability at amortised cost Liability at amortised cost
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Model of the key features of equity 
instruments Debenture I/2015 Debenture I/2016 Debenture I/2017
Original date of issuance 1 Dec� 2015 30 Jun� 2016 18 Dec� 2017

Perpetual or dated Dated Dated Dated

Original maturity date 1 Dec� 2025 30 Jun� 2026 18 Dec� 2027

Issuer call subject to prior supervisory approval Yes Yes Yes

Optional call date, contingent call dates, and 
redemption amount

The debenture will be repaid based on its nominal 
value in equal instalments annually on 1 
December, with the first instalment being paid on 
1 Dec� 2021 and the last on 1 Dec� 2025� The 
issuer reserves the right to repay the debenture 
before the maturity date� The repayment can take 
place no earlier than five (5) years after the 
issuance of the loan, unless the Financial 
Supervision Authority grants permission for 
repayment earlier than in five (5) years� 

The debenture will be repaid based on its nominal 
value in equal instalments annually on 30 June, 
with the first instalment being paid on 30 Jun� 
2022 and the last on 30 Jun� 2026� The issuer 
reserves the right to repay the debenture before the 
maturity date� The repayment can take place no 
earlier than five (5) years after the issuance of the 
loan, unless the Financial Supervision Authority 
grants permission for repayment earlier than in five 
(5) years� 

The debenture will be repaid based on its nominal 
value in equal instalments annually on 18 
December, with the first instalment being paid on 
18 Dec� 2022 and the last on 18 Dec� 2027� The 
issuer reserves the right to repay the debenture 
before the maturity date� The repayment can take 
place no earlier than five (5) years after the 
issuance of the loan, unless the Financial 
Supervision Authority grants permission for 
repayment earlier than in five (5) years� 

Subsequent call dates, if applicable See above See above See above

Coupons/dividends

Fixed or floating dividend/coupon Floating coupon Floating coupon Floating coupon

Coupon rate and any related indices 12-month Euribor + 1�5% annual interest 12-month Euribor + 1�8% annual interest 12-month Euribor + 1�8% annual interest 

Existence of a dividend stopper No No No

Fully discretionary, partly discretionary or mandatory 
(in terms of timing)

Mandatory Mandatory Mandatory

Fully discretionary, partly discretionary or mandatory 
(in terms of quantity)

Mandatory Mandatory Mandatory

Existence of step up or other incentive to redeem No No No

Non-cumulative or cumulative Non-cumulative Non-cumulative Non-cumulative

Convertible or non-convertible Non-convertible Non-convertible Non-convertible

If convertible, conversion trigger(s) Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If convertible, fully or partially Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
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Model of the key features of equity 
instruments Debenture I/2015 Debenture I/2016 Debenture I/2017

If convertible, conversion rate Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If convertible, mandatory or optional conversion Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If convertible, specify instrument type convertible 
into

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If convertible, specify issuer of instrument it 
converts into

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Write-down features Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If write-down, write-down trigger(s) Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If write-down, full or partial Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If write-down, permanent or temporary Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If temporary write-down, description of write-up 
mechanism

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Position in subordination hierarchy in liquidation 
(specify instrument type immediately senior to 
instrument)

Debentures are subordinated debt instruments that 
belong to the T2 instruments referred to in Article 
63 of the European Parliament and the Council 
regulation (EU) No� 575/2013, provided that the 
requirements set by the Article and other 
requirements are met� Debentures are subordinated 
to the issuer’s other commitments� Debentures 
cannot be used for setting off counterclaims�

Debentures are subordinated debt instruments that 
belong to the T2 instruments referred to in Article 
63 of the European Parliament and the Council 
regulation (EU) No� 575/2013, provided that the 
requirements set by the Article and other 
requirements are met� Debentures are subordinated 
to the issuer’s other commitments� Debentures 
cannot be used for setting off counterclaims�

Debentures are subordinated debt instruments that 
belong to the T2 instruments referred to in Article 
63 of the European Parliament and the Council 
regulation (EU) No� 575/2013, provided that the 
requirements set by the Article and other 
requirements are met� Debentures are subordinated 
to the issuer’s other commitments� Debentures 
cannot be used for setting off counterclaims�

Non-compliant transitioned features No No No

If yes, specify non-compliant features Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
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Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements: Equity items

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Share capital, 1 Jan� 82,880 82,880

Share capital, 31 Dec. 82,880 82,880

Other restricted reserves

Fair value reserve, 1 Jan� 11,590 11,359

Adjustments to opening balance according to IFRS 9 -5,041 -

Adjusted fair value reserve, 1 Jan� 6,550 11,359

Equity instruments 32 0

Changes in the period attributable to deferred tax liabilities 3,883 0

Profit/loss from measurement at fair value, other financial securities -13,641 232

Amount transferred to the income statement, other financial securities 197 0

Fair value reserve, 31 Dec. -2,981 11,590

Non-restricted reserves

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity, 1 Jan� 243,813 243,813

Share issue 39,996 0

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity, 31 Dec. 283,809 243,813

Retained earnings (losses), 1 Jan� 75,614 63,262

Adjustments to opening balance according to IFRS 9 -4,130 -

Retained earnings (losses), 31 Dec. 71,484 63,262

Profit/loss for the period 6,682 12,352

Minority interests 240 169

Total equity 442,114 414,066
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Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements: Fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities, and the hierarchy of fair values

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Financial assets Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 468,436 468,436 493,015 493,015

Receivables from credit institutions 27,838 37,568 25,737 25,744

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 4,187,001 4,177,785 3,724,854 3,920,481

Debt securities 1,667,961 1,674,098 1,324,758 1,331,449

Shares and interests 25,209 25,209 30,965 30,885

Shares and interests in associated companies 9 13 5 18

Derivatives 649 649 999 999

Financial liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions 302 785 10,109 10,111

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,883,806 5,898,745 5,047,522 5,141,470

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 13,103 13,103 6,260 6,260

Subordinated debts 50,000 50,245 50,000 50,273

S-Bank Group applies the settlement date practice in recognising financial assets and liabilities on the balance sheet, excluding financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value 
through profit or loss� Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognised on the balance sheet using the trading date practice� A financial asset or 
liability is initially recognised in the accounts at fair value, including transaction costs�
    
On initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are classified as financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, investments held to maturity, available-for-sale 
financial assets, loans and other receivables, and other financial liabilities� Financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value or amortised cost, using the effective interest method in 
accordance with their classification�
    
The fair value of a financial instrument is determined on the basis of prices quoted in active markets, or by using measurement methods that are generally accepted in the markets� The fair 
values of certificates of deposit, commercial papers and derivatives (excluding futures) are determined by discounting future cash flows to the present value, applying market interest rates on 
the closing date� Bonds, investment fund units and futures are measured at market value� Financial assets recognised at fair value are measured using the bid price, while financial liabilities 
at fair value are measured using the ask price�

OTHER NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The information in the other notes to the consolidated financial statements is presented in thousands of euros�
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Financial instruments measured at fair value, 31 Dec. 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Shares and interests 5,637 19,104 0 24,741

Debt securities 0 422,764 0 422,764

Total 5,637 441,867 0 447,503

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 1,000,881 0 0 1,000,881

Debt securities 172,545 77,907 0 250,453

Shares and interests 0 103 365 467

Total 1,173,427 78,010 365 1,251,801

Derivative receivables 0 649 0 649

Derivative liabilities 0 13,103 0 13,103

Total 0 13,752 0 13,752

Financial instruments measured at fair value, 31 Dec. 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,038,824 323,510 0 1,362,334

Derivative receivables 0 999 0 999

Derivative liabilities 0 6,260 0 6,260

Financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value are divided into three categories according to the method of determining fair value� Level 1 fair values are determined using the 
quoted, unadjusted prices of completely identical financial asset and liabilities in an active market� Level 2 fair values are determined using generally accepted valuation models in which 
the input data is, to a significant extent, based on verifiable market information� Level 3 market prices are based on input data concerning an asset or liability that are not based on verifiable 
market information but, to a significant extent, on the management’s estimates�
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Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements: Breakdown of balance sheet items into domestic and foreign amounts and amounts from Group entities

31 Dec. 2018 Finnish currency Foreign currency Total
From associated 

companies

Receivables from credit institutions 17,449 10,389 27,838

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 4,187,001 0 4,187,001

Debt securities 1,667,961 0 1,667,961

Derivatives 649 0 649

Shares and interests 25,218 0 25,218 9

Intangible assets 38,337 0 38,337

Tangible assets 138 0 138

Other assets (including cash) 501,739 7 501,747

Total 6,438,492 10,396 6,448,888 9

Liabilities to credit institutions 0 302 302

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,873,647 10,159 5,883,806

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 13,103 0 13,103

Other liabilities 59,517 46 59,564

Subordinated debts 50,000 0 50,000

Total 5,996,267 10,507 6,006,774 0
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31 Dec. 2017 Finnish currency Foreign currency Total
From associated 

companies

Receivables from credit institutions 18,622 7,115 25,737

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 3,724,854 0 3,724,854

Debt securities 1,324,758 0 1,324,758

Derivatives 999 0 999

Shares and interests 30,970 0 30,970 5

Intangible assets 38,696 0 38,696

Tangible assets 232 0 232

Other assets (including cash) 524,357 7 524,365

Total 5,663,489 7,123 5,670,612 5

Liabilities to credit institutions 10,042 68 10,109

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,044,465 3,058 5,047,522

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 6,260 0 6,260

Other liabilities 142,726 31 142,654

Subordinated debts 50,000 0 50,000

Total 5,250,492 3,156 5,253,648 0



96

Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements: Breakdown of financial assets and liabilities according to maturity

31 Dec. 2018 0–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years More than 10 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 468,436     468,436

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 69,161 71,159 777,951 84,251 0 1,002,523

Receivables from credit institutions 27,838 0 0 0 0 27,838

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 179,852 421,948 1,269,697 872,647 1 442 856 4,187,001

Debt securities 307,721 164,275 176,329 17,113 0 665,438

Derivatives (assets) 160 89 400 0 0 649

Financial assets, total 1,053,169 657,471 2,224,378 974,011 1,442,856 6,351,885

Liabilities to credit institutions 302 0 0 0 0 302

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,879,546 847 3,413 0 0 5,883,806

Bonds issued to the public 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subordinated debts 0 0 0 50,000 0 50,000

Derivatives (liabilities) 0 503 10,506 2,093 0 13,103

Financial liabilities, total 5,879,848 1,350 13,919 52,093 0 5,947,211

31 Dec. 2017 0–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years More than 10 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 493,015     493,015

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 78,145 106,183 545,533 130,617 0 860,478

Receivables from credit institutions 25,737 0 0 0 0 25,737

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 176,093 385,907 1,270,092 1,892,761 1 3,724,854

Debt securities 168,476 77,916 193,268 24,621 0 464,280

Derivatives (assets) 0 85 843 71 0 999

Financial assets, total 941,466 570,091 2,009,736 2,048,070 1 5,569,364

Liabilities to credit institutions 10,109 0 0 0 0 10,109

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,043,233 2,059 2,231 0 0 5,047,522

Bonds issued to the public 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subordinated debts 0 0 16,800 33,200 0 50,000

Derivatives (liabilities) 92 390 4,962 816 0 6,260

Financial liabilities, total 5,053,434 2,449 23,993 34,016 0 5,113,892
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Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements: Collateral given

Other collateral

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Collateral given for own debt

Liabilities to credit institutions 168 660 165 660

Derivatives and liabilities held for trading 12 007 10 687

Collateral given on own behalf, total 180 667 176 347

Other collateral given on own behalf 261 261

Collateral given on behalf of others 31 36

Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements: Financial leasing and other lease 
liabilities 

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Within one year 3,390 2,163

Due in 1–5 years 5,669 1,208

Total 9,059 3,371

Financial leasing and other lease liabilities concerning the leasing of premises, vehicles and 
telephones� The agreements cannot be cancelled mid-term�

Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements: Off-balance sheet commitments

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Guarantees 23,768 24,881

Undrawn credit facilities 176,803 145,661

Total 200,570 170,542

In the 2017 financial statements, irrevocable and revocable commitments were reported 
under off-balance sheet commitments� The comparative figures have been adjusted to 
correspond to the new interpretation, according to which irrevocable commitments are 
reported as off-balance sheet commitments in the balance sheet and the notes�

Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements: Brokerage receivables and payables

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Savings in accordance with the Finnish Act on 
Long-Term Savings Scheme 235 163

Other brokerage receivables and payables

Purchases from brokers 9 138 15 774

Brokerage payables to customers 3 044 4 348

Total 12 417 20 285

Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements: Notes regarding trustee services and 
total amount of customer funds held

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Assets under management 7,576,176 6,891,668

- Assets under wealth management 1,914,371 861,831

- Mutual fund assets 5,661,805 6,029,836

Assets under consultative wealth management 10,873 33,627
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Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements: Personnel and management

2018 2017

Average  
number

Number at 
the end of 
the period

Average  
number

Number at 
the end of 
the period

Permanent full-time personnel 587 584 540 553

Permanent part-time 
personnel 42 42 63 53

Temporary personnel 68 59 59 50

Total 698 685 662 656

2018 2017

Salaries and fees paid to Group management (EUR thousand)

Group companies/CEO and CEO’s deputy 931 914

Group companies/Board of Directors 56 50

Pension commitments to Group management (EUR thousand)

Group companies/CEO and CEO’s deputy 114 63

The amount of loans granted to the CEO, the CEO’s deputy and the Board of Directors is 
provided in the note on related-party lending�

The statutory pensions of the personnel are arranged through Elo Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company and Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company�

A voluntary additional pension insurance has been taken out for the management of S-Bank 
Group� The insured may draw down their additional pensions at any time after they have 
turned 60 years old�

Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements: Related parties

Receivables from the public 
and public sector entities

Loan receivables and other financial receivables from 
related parties 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Basis for classification as a related party

Management 1,499 1,146

Management of holding company 893 1,504

Kinship 15 19

Total 2,407 2,669

Expected credit losses (2018)

At the start of the period 0 -

During the period 0 -

At the end of the period 0 -

Impairment losses at the end of the period (2017) - -1

Total 0 -1

The terms of credit cards granted to the company’s related parties comply with the standard 
terms and conditions of lending to the public�
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Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements: Subsidiaries and associated companies

31 Dec. 2018 Share of ownership
Equity  

(EUR ’000)
Profit/loss for the period  

(EUR ’000)

Subsidiaries

S-Asiakaspalvelu Ltd, Helsinki 100% 1,248 129

FIM Asset Management Ltd, Helsinki 100% 14,104 -407

FIM Private Equity Funds Ltd, Helsinki 100% 8,531 -210

FIM Real Estate Ltd, Helsinki 80% 1,195 994

FIM Infrastructure Mezzanine Debt Fund GP Ltd, Helsinki 100% 2 0

FIM Private Debt Fund I GP Ltd, Helsinki 100% 2 0

FIM SIB Ltd, Helsinki 100% 2 0

Subsidiaries have been consolidated using the acquisition cost method�

Associated companies

S-Crosskey Ab, Mariehamn 40% 33 1

Asian Pro Oy, Helsinki 40% 13 -40

Associated companies have been consolidated using the acquisition cost method�
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(EUR ’000) Note 1.1.–31.12.2018 1.1.–31.12.2017

Interest income 2 81,157 81,204

Interest expenses 2 -7,119 -7,880

NET INTEREST INCOME  74,038 73,324

Return on equity investments 3 0 58

From associated companies 0 40

From other companies 0 19

Fee and commission income 4 56,819 54,605

Fee and commission expenses 4 -9,036 -9,201

Net income from securities and currency 
operations 5 2,150 -395

Net income from securities trading 2,357 -561

Net income from currency operations -207 166

Net income from financial assets recognised 
at fair value through the fair value reserve 2,088 6,809

Net income from hedge accounting 6 -371 -367

Other operating income 7 15,985 16,373

Administrative expenses -104,445 -103,187

Personnel expenses -41,707 -37,716

Salaries and fees -33,611 -30,443

Indirect personnel expenses -8,096 -7,273

Pension expenses -6,677 -6,003

Other indirect personnel expenses -1,419 -1,269

Other administrative expenses -62,738 -65,470

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF S-BANK LTD
 

S-BANK LTD – INCOME STATEMENT
(EUR ’000) Note 1.1.–31.12.2018 1.1.–31.12.2017

Depreciation and impairment on tangible 
and intangible assets 9 -12,604 -12,426

Other operating expenses 8 -5,151 -5,217

Expected credit losses on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost 10 -8,752 -

Expected credit losses and impairment 
losses on other financial assets 10 -197 -

Impairment losses on loans and other 
commitments * 10 - -6,563

Impairment losses on other financial assets - 0

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) 10,524 13,814

Appropriations 340 -12,513

Income taxes -3,741 -1,178

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 7,123 122

* Impairment losses on loans and other commitments were recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 in 
2018�
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ASSETS (EUR ’000) Note 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 11, 28, 29, 30 468,436 493,015

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 11, 14, 28, 29, 30 1,002,523 860,478

Other 1,002,523 860,478

Receivables from credit institutions 11, 12, 28, 29, 30 26,615 24,855

Repayable on demand 14,378 13,941

Other 12,237 10,914

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 11, 13, 28, 29, 30 4,186,865 3,724,718

Repayable on demand 3,952 2,977

Other 4,182,913 3,721,741

Debt securities 11, 14, 28, 29, 30 665,438 464,280

From others 665,438 464,280

Shares and interests 11, 15, 28, 29 25,139 30,909

Shares and interests in associated companies 11, 15, 28, 29 3 3

Shares and interests in Group companies 11, 15, 28, 29 29,942 29,942

Derivatives 11, 16, 17, 28, 29, 30 649 999

Intangible assets 18, 29 37,980 38,393

Tangible assets 19, 29 0 73

Other tangible assets 0 73

Other assets 20, 29 6,810 4,629

Accrued income and prepayments made 21, 29 17,090 19,744

Deferred tax assets 22, 29 985 0

TOTAL ASSETS 6,468,476 5,692,039

S-BANK LTD – BALANCE SHEET 
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LIABILITIES (EUR ’000) Note 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017 

LIABILITIES

Liabilities to credit institutions 11, 28, 29, 30 302 10,109

To credit institutions 302 10,109

Repayable on demand 302 109

Other 0 10,000

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 11, 28, 29, 30 5,906,705 5,072,073

Deposits 5,855,568 5,030,316

Repayable on demand 5,850,364 5,024,541

Other 5,203 5,775

Other liabilities 51,137 41,757

Repayable on demand 49,190 39,747

Other 1,947 2,010

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 11, 28, 29, 30 13,103 6,260

Other liabilities 23, 29 31,459 111,700

Other liabilities 31,459 111,700

Accrued expenses and prepayments received 24, 29 12,678 12,846

Subordinated debts 11, 25, 28, 29 50,000 50,000

Other 50,000 50,000

Deferred tax liabilities 22, 29 0 2,898

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,014,246 5,265,886

ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS

Depreciation and amortisation difference 5,576 5,916

Taxation-based reserves 33,341 33,341

ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS, TOTAL 38,916 39,257
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LIABILITIES (EUR ’000) Note 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017 

EQUITY

Share capital 26, 27 82,880 82,880

Other restricted reserves 26 -2,981 11,590

Fair value reserve  

Carried at fair value -2,981 11,590

Non-restricted reserves 26 283,828 243,832

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 283,828 243,832

Retained earnings (losses) 26 44,463 48,471

Profit (loss) for the period 26 7,123 122

TOTAL EQUITY 415,314 386,896

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6,468,476 5,692,039

OFF-BALANCE SHEET LIABILITIES (EUR ’000) 33

Commitments given to third parties in favour of customers 23,768 24,881

Guarantees and pledges 23,768 24,881

Irrevocable commitments given in favour of customers 181,923 150,781

Other 181,923 150,781

In the 2017 financial statements, irrevocable and revocable commitments were reported under off-balance sheet commitments� The comparative figures have been adjusted to correspond to 
the new interpretation, according to which irrevocable commitments are reported as off-balance sheet commitments in the balance sheet and the notes�
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S-BANK LTD – CASH FLOW STATEMENT  

EUR million 2018 2017

Cash flow from operating activities

Result for the period 11 14

Adjustments to the result for the period 15 13

Increase (-) or decrease (+) in operating assets -467 -239

Receivables from the public and public 
sector entities -462 -234

Other assets -4 -5

Increase (-) or decrease (+) in operating 
liabilities 750 445

Liabilities to credit institutions -10 -15

Liabilities to the public and public sector 
entities 835 466

Other liabilities -74 -5

A� Total cash flow from operating activities 309 234

Cash flow from investing activities

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -12 -8

B� Total cash flow from investing activities -12 -8

Cash flow from financing activities

Subordinated debts, change 0 8

Other monetary increases to equity items 40 0

C� Total cash flow from financing activities 40 8

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 
(A+B+C) 337 234

EUR million 2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the 
period 1,861 1,631

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
period 2,198 1,865

Interest income 82 78

Interest expenses -7 -8

Profit adjustments for the period

Net income from hedge accounting 0 0

Depreciation according to plan 13 13

Impairment losses on loans and other 
receivables 1 1

Interest accruals on debt securities 1 0

Expected credit losses and impairment losses 
on other financial assets 0 -

Other impairments 0 0

Other adjustments 0 0

Non-cash items and other adjustments 1 0

Adjustments, total 15 13

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 468 493

Debt securities 1,678 1,322

Shares and interests 25 25

Receivables from credit institutions 27 25

Total 2,198 1,865

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period include an adjustment item due to a 
change in classification in accordance with IFRS 9�
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S-BANK LTD – NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Note 1 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements

S-Bank Ltd is the parent company of S-Bank Group� S-Bank is a deposit bank that engages in credit institution operations pursuant to the Finnish Act on Credit Institutions (610/2014)� The 
bank engages in the operations and related activities referred to in Chapter 5, section 1, of the above-mentioned Act, as well as providing investment services pursuant to Chapter 1, section 
11, of the Act on Investment Services (747/2012)� As the parent company, S-Bank performs such tasks of the Group companies that must be carried out in a centralised manner, such as 
the Group’s administration, guidance and supervision� 

S-Bank’s headquarters are located at Fleminginkatu 34, FI-00510 Helsinki, Finland� 

The parent company complies with the accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements� The parent company has included items based on the 
requirement laid down in tax legislation concerning the matching of accounting with tax declarations� These items are presented as appropriations�
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Note 2 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Net interest income

2018 2017

Interest income

Receivables from credit institutions -299 -98

Receivables from the public and public sector 
entities 72,141 69,335

Debt securities 9,111 11,567

Derivatives 200 400

Other interest income 4 0

Total 81,157 81,204

of which intra-Group items 50 29

Interest income from stage 3 financial assets 1,632

Interest expenses

Liabilities to credit institutions -364 -365

Liabilities to the public and public sector 
entities -4,073 -3,603

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading -1,837 -3,177

Subordinated debts -838 -731

Other interest expenses -7 -3

Total -7,119 -7,880

S-BANK LTD – NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT
The information in the notes to the income statement is presented in 
thousands of euros�

Note 3 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Return on equity investments

2018 2017

Dividend income from investments classified as 
financial assets held for trading - 19

Dividend income from associated companies 0 40

Total 0 58

Note 4 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Fee and commission income and 
expenses

2018 2017

Fee and commission income

From lending 29,316 25,455

From borrowing 3,341 3,686

From payment transactions 8,947 8,387

From wealth management 16 13

From legal duties 288 210

From securities brokerage 4,386 7,850

From insurance brokerage 527 521

From issuance of guarantees 119 -107

From other activities 9,880 8,590

Total 56,819 54,605

of which intra-Group items 7,398 6,827

Fee and commission expenses

From paid commission fees -41 -38

Other -8,995 -9,163

Total -9,036 -9,201

of which intra-Group items 0 -197
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Note 5 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Net income from securities and 
currency operations

2018

Capital gains 
and losses 

(net)

Changes in 
fair value 

(net) Total

From debt securities 61 -11 50

From shares and interests 2,160 516 2,677

From derivatives -419 50 -369

Net income from securities 
trading, total 1,802 555 2,357

Net income from currency 
operations 0 -207 -207

Income statement item, total 1,802 348 2,150

2017

Capital gains 
and losses 

(net)

Changes in 
fair value 

(net) Total

From debt securities -139 -29 -168

From shares and interests 153 15 168

From derivatives -1,162 601 -561

Net income from securities 
trading, total -1,148 587 -561

Net income from currency 
operations 0 166 166

Income statement item, total -1,148 753 -395

Note 6 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Net income from hedge accounting

2018 2017

Net result from hedging instruments -7,252 3,657

Net result from hedged items 6,881 -4,024

Total -371 -367

Note 7 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Other operating income

2018 2017

Other income 15,985 16,373

of which intra-Group items 2,676 2,348
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Note 8 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Other operating expenses

2018 2017

Lease expenses -3,793 -4,073

Other expenses -1,358 -1,143

Total -5,151 -5,217

Auditor’s fees

Audit -155 -174

Tax consultancy 0 -8

Other services -108 -94

Total -263 -276

Payments to the Financial Stability Authority

Financial stability contribution -814 -449

Deposit guarantee fund contribution -3,317 -4,052

Administrative fee -32 -31

Total -4,163 -4,533

The Deposit Guarantee Fund reimbursed the deposit guarantee contribution collected for the 
Financial Stability Fund and the Financial Stability Fund reimbursed the stability 
contribution, which had replaced the bank tax� These did not result in a profit or loss for 
S-Bank� The funds accumulated in the old deposit guarantee fund and the bank tax paid in 
previous years is estimated to cover the contributions paid to the Financial Stability 
Authority until 2020�

Note 9 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Depreciation and impairment on 
tangible and intangible assets 

2018 2017

Depreciation according to plan

Intangible assets -12,532 -12,193

Tangible assets -73 -232

Total -12,604 -12,426

Depreciation according to plan includes EUR 1�2 million in depreciation related to the 
scrapping of ICT systems�
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Note 10 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Expected credit losses on financial assets, guarantees and other off-balance sheet liabilities measured at amortised cost, and 
expected credit losses and impairment losses on other financial assets

31 Dec. 2018

Contract-specific 
expected credit 
losses, gross * Reversals **

Reversals 
recognised in  

the income 
statement

Realised credit 
losses recognised 

in the income 
statement

Expected credit losses on financial assets, guarantees and other off-balance sheet 
commitments measured at amortised cost

Receivables from credit institutions 24 0 0 0

Receivables from the public and public sector entities -593 1,198 4,719 -13,306

Commitments given on behalf and in favour of customers 404 0 0 0

Total -165 1,198 4,719 -13,306

Expected credit losses and impairment losses on other financial assets, total

Expected credit losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income in accordance with IFRS 9�4�1�2A -197 0 0 0

Total -197 0 0 0

Total expected credit losses -361 1,198 4,719 -13,306

* Contract-specific expected credit losses (ECL) recognised in the income statement during the reporting period� There are no group-specific ECLs at the moment�

** Expected credit losses as at the opening balance sheet on receivables recognised as realised credit losses during the reporting period�

31 Dec. 2017, Impairments on credit, other 
commitments and other financial assets

Contract-specific 
realised credit 

losses, gross

Contract-specific 
impairments, 

gross

Group-specific 
impairments, 

gross Allowances
Recognised in the 
income statement

Receivables from the public and public sector entities -11,214 485 3,762 5,277 -627
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S-BANK LTD – NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET
The information in the notes to the balance sheet is presented 
in thousands of euros�

Classes of financial assets, 31 Dec. 2017
Loans and 

receivables Available-for-sale
Hedging 

derivatives Total

Cash and cash equivalents 493,015 493,015

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 860,478 860,478

Receivables from credit institutions 24,855 24,855

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 3,724,718 3,724,718

Debt securities 464,280 464,280

Shares and interests 30,909 30,909

Derivatives 999 999

Total 4,242,588 1,386,577 999 5,630,164

Note 11 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Classes of financial assets 
and liabilities Fair value through profit or loss

Classes of financial assets, 31 Dec. 2018 Amortised cost
Fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Carried at fair 
value

Hedging 
derivatives Total

Cash and cash equivalents 468,436    468,436

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks  1,002,523   1,002,523

Receivables from credit institutions 26,615    26,615

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 4,186,865    4,186,865

Debt securities  242,674 422,764  665,438

Shares and interests   399 24,740  25,139

Derivatives    649 649

Total 4,681,916 1,245,996 472,243 649 6,400,804
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Classes of financial liabilities, 31 Dec. 2018 Amortised cost Hedging derivatives Total

Liabilities to credit institutions 302  302

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,906,705  5,906,705

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading  13,103 13,103

Subordinated debts 50,000  50,000

Total 5,957,007 13,103 5,970,109

Classes of financial liabilities, 31 Dec. 2017 Amortised cost Hedging derivatives Total

Liabilities to credit institutions 10,109 10,109

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,072,073 5,072,073

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 6,260 6,260

Subordinated debts 50,000 50,000

Total 5,132,182 6,260 5,138,442
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Note 12 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Receivables from credit institutions

31 Dec. 2018
Repayable on 

demand

Other than 
repayable on 

demand
Loss 

allowance* Total

From Finnish credit 
institutions 1,314 11,801 0 13,115

From foreign credit 
institutions 13,064 436 0 13,500

Receivables from credit 
institutions, total 14,378 12,237 0 26,615

* The loss allowance is the expected credit loss included in each item (other than repayable on 
demand)�

31 Dec. 2017
Repayable 

on demand

Other than 
repayable on 

demand Total

From Finnish credit 
institutions 1,742 10,479 12,221

From foreign credit 
institutions 12,199 436 12,635

Repayable on demand, total 13,941 10,914  24,855

Note 13 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Receivables from the public and 
public sector entities

31 Dec. 2018

Receivables from the 
public and public 

sector entities
Loss  

allowance

Corporates and housing companies 725,941 642

Financial and insurance institutions 62,191 168

Households 3,389,925 11,960

Non-profit organisations serving households 4,135 21

Foreign entities 4,673 20

Receivables from the public and public sector 
entities, total 4,186,865 12,810

* The loss allowance is the expected credit loss included in each item�

31 Dec. 2017
Receivables from the public 

and public sector entities

Corporates and housing companies 648,465

Financial and insurance institutions 110,245

Households 2,957,447

Non-profit organisations serving households 5,279

Foreign entities 3,282

Receivables from the public and public sector entities, 
total 3,724,718

31 Dec. 2017 Impairment lossest

Impairment losses at the start of the year 3,620

Receivable-specific impairment losses recorded for the period 485

Group-specific impairment losses recorded for the period 3,762

Group-specific impairment losses reversed during the period -3,620

Impairment losses at the end of the year 4,247

Credit losses at the end of the financial period 6,563

Non-performing receivables at the end of the financial period 14,267
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Note 14 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Debt securities

31 Dec. 2018 Publicly quoted Total Loss allowance

Debt securities issued by public sector entities

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

Local government securities 359,727 359,727

Debt securities issued by public sector entities, total 359,727 359,727

Debt securities issued by other than public sector entities   

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss   

Commercial papers 63,037 63,037

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,245,197 1,245,197 -927

Debt securities issued by other than public sector entities, total 1,308,234 1,308,234 -927

Debt securities, total 1,667,961 1,667,961

Of which eligible for refinancing with central banks 1,002,523 1,002,523

Of which those that accumulate no interest, total 25,807 25,807

* The loss allowance is the expected credit loss for each item�
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31 Dec. 2017 Publicly quoted Total

Issued by public sector entities

Available-for-sale financial assets

Local government securities 155,940 155,940

Treasury bonds and notes 36,451 36,451

Other bonds issued by public sector entities 30,065 30,065

Other debt securities 108,010 108,010

Issued by public sector entities, total 330,466 330,466

Debt securities issued by other than public sector entities 

Available-for-sale financial assets

Certificates of deposit issued by banks 4,503 4,503

Commercial papers 44,442 44,442

Bonds issued by banks 686,306 686,306

Other debt securities 259,042 259,042

Debt securities issued by other than public sector entities, total 994,293 994,293

Debt securities, total 1,325 1,325

- of which eligible for refinancing with central banks 860,478 860,478

- of which those that accumulate no interest, total 11,670 11,670
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Note 15 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Shares and interests

31 Dec. 2018 Publicly quoted Other Total

Shares and interests

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 24,740 0 24,740

Equity instruments recognised at fair value through other comprehensive income in 
accordance with IFRS 9�4�1�4 0 399 399

Shares and interests in Group companies 0 29,942 29,942

Shares and interests in associated companies 0 3 3

Total 24,740 30,344 55,084

31 Dec. 2017 Publicly quoted Other Total

Shares and interests

Financial assets held for trading 0 0 0

Available-for-sale financial assets 30,706 203 30,909

Shares and interests in associated companies 0 3 3

Shares and interests in Group companies 0 29,942 29,942

Total 30,706 30,148 60,854
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Note 16 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Derivatives

31 Dec. 2018
Notional 

value
Positive fair 

value
Negative fair 

value

For hedging purposes

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 746,200 41 -11,264

Maturities of derivative exposures 
designated for hedge accounting

less than one year 94,000

1–5 years 562,200

more than five years 90,000

For non-hedging purposes

Interest rate derivatives

Options, bought 200,000 158 0

Options, written 150,000 0 -809

Interest rate swaps 50,000 0 -464

Maturities of derivative exposures not 
designated for hedge accounting

less than one year 100,000

1–5 years 270,000

more than five years 30,000

31 Dec. 2017
Notional 

value
Positive fair 

value
Negative fair 

value

541,200 157 -4,591

135,000

284,000

122,200

200,000 406 0

150,000 0 -828

160,000 18 -422

150,000

330,000

30,000
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Note 17 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Information presented on hedge accounting

31 Dec. 2018
Notional value,  

total
Assets,  

fair values
Balance sheet item  

including the hedged item

Changes in fair value of the hedging 
instruments used for calculating hedge 

ineffectiveness during the period

Hedging derivatives

Fair value hedge

Interest rate derivatives 746,200 -11,223 Derivatives and other liabilities  
held for trading 334

Total 746,200 -11,223 334

Changes in the fair value of a hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the income statement under “Net result from hedge accounting”� Changes in the fair 
value not attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the fair value reserve� Changes in the fair value of the hedging items included in hedge accounting are recognised in the income 
statement under “Net result from hedge accounting”� When hedging is effective, the changes in the fair value offset each other and the net result is close to zero�
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Note 18 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Intangible assets

Changes in intangible assets in 2017
Intangible  

rights
IT software and  

licences Prepayments Goodwill Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan� 2017 0 58,648 7,217 17,628 83,494

Increases 0 3,114 4,944 0 8,058

Transfers between items 0 5,525 -5,525 0 0

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec� 2017 0 67,288 6,636 17,628 91,552

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and 
impairment at 1 Jan� 2017 0 -38,471 -2,495 -40,966

Accumulated amortisation for allowances and 
transfers 0 0 0 0

Depreciation 0 -7,057  -5,136 -12,193

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and 
impairment at 31 Dec� 2017 0 -45,528  -7,630 -53,159

Carrying amount 1 Jan� 2017 0 20,177 7,217 15,134 42,528

Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 2017 0 21,759 6,636 9,998 38,393

Changes in intangible assets in 2018
Intangible  

rights
IT software and  

licences Prepayments Goodwill Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan� 2018 0 67,288 6,636 17,628 91,552

Increases 571 -1,463 11,166 0 10,275

Transfers between items 328 1,943 -1,943 0 328

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec� 2018 899 67,768 15,859 17,628 102,155

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and 
impairment at 1 Jan� 2018 0 -45,528  -7,630 -53,159

Accumulated amortisation for allowances and 
transfers 0 1,516  0 1,516

Depreciation -158 -8,107  -4,266 -12,532

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and 
impairment at 31 Dec� 2018 -158 -52,120  -11,897 -64,174

Carrying amount 1 Jan� 2018 0 21,759 6,636 9,998 38,393

Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 2018 741 15,648 15,859 5,731 37,980
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Note 19 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Tangible assets

Changes in tangible assets in 2017 Machinery and equipment Prepayments and acquisitions in progress Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan� 2017 726 0 726

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec� 2017 726 0 726

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and impairment at  
1 Jan� 2017 -420  -420

Depreciation -232  -232

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and impairment at 
31 Dec� 2017 -653  -653

Carrying amount 1 Jan� 2017 305 0 305

Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 2017 73 0 73

Changes in tangible assets in 2018 Machinery and equipment Prepayments and acquisitions in progress Total

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan� 2018 726 0 726

Increases 0 328 328

Transfers between items 0 -328 -328

Acquisition cost at 31 Dec� 2018 726 0 726

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and impairment at  
1 Jan� 2018 -653  -653

Depreciation -73  -73

Accumulated amortisation, depreciation and impairment at 
31 Dec� 2018 -726  -726

Carrying amount at 1 Jan� 2018 73 0 73

Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 2018 0 0 0
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Note 20 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Other assets

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Receivables from payment transactions 2,886 1

Trade receivables from securities 0 27

From investment firms 0 8

From others 0 19

Other 3,925 4,601

Total 6,810 4,629

of which from the Group 31 211

Note 21 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Accrued income and prepayments 
made

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Interest receivable 11,143 12,452

Other accrued income 5,948 7,292

Total 17,090 19,744

of which from the Group 688 655

Note 22 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Deferred tax assets and liabilities

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Deferred tax assets attributable to losses 0 0

Deferred tax assets arising from the fair value 
reserve 985 0

Deferred tax liabilities arising from the fair value 
reserve 0 2,898

Note 23 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Other liabilities

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Payables arising from payment transactions 20,786 100,492

Payables from securities 301 0

Other 10,371 11,209

Total 31,459 111,700

of which to the Group 46 0

Note 24 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Accrued expenses and prepayments 
received

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Interest payable 451 445

Accrued expenses 12,227 12,401

Total 12,678 12,846

of which to the Group 0 7
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Note 25 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Subordinated debts

31 Dec. 2018 Carrying amount * Notional value Interest rate Maturity

Debenture I/2015 16,036 16,000 12-month Euribor + 1�5% annual interest 1 DEC� 2025

Debenture I/2016 25,418 26,000 12-month Euribor + 1�8% annual interest 30 Jun� 2026

Debenture I/2017 8,011 8,000 12-month Euribor + 1�8% annual interest 18 Dec� 2027

Terms of debenture loans:
The issuer reserves the right to call the loans before maturity� The issuer or a company within the same group of companies may only call a minor part of a loan before maturity without the 
approval of the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority� A condition for calling the loans is that they can be resold to a new investor within a short period of time� The noteholders do not 
have the right to demand premature repayment of the loans� 

Debenture loans are subordinated to the bank’s other debt obligations� In capital adequacy calculations, loans on debenture terms are grouped under Tier 2 capital in accordance with the 
CRR regulation�

* Includes transferred interest

Model of the key features of equity 
instruments Debenture I/2015 Debenture I/2016 Debenture I/2017
Issuer S-BANK LTD S-BANK LTD S-BANK LTD

Unique identifier (ISIN) FI4000185418 FI4000210877 FI4000292735

Governing law of the instrument Finnish law Finnish law Finnish law

Regulation

Transitional CRR rules Tier 2 (T2) capital Tier 2 (T2) capital Tier 2 (T2) capital

Post-transitional CRR rules Tier 2 (T2) capital Tier 2 (T2) capital Tier 2 (T2) capital

Eligible at solo or consolidated/subconsolidated/ 
solo and consolidated/sub-consolidation group

Solo and consolidated Solo and consolidated Solo and consolidated

Instrument type
Amount recognised in regulatory capital  (EUR 
million, on the last reporting date)

16 26 8

Nominal amount of instrument (EUR million) 16 26 8

Issue price 100% 100% 100%

Redemption price 100% 100% 100%

Accounting classification Liability at amortised cost Liability at amortised cost Liability at amortised cost
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Model of the key features of equity 
instruments Debenture I/2015 Debenture I/2016 Debenture I/2017
Original date of issuance 1 Dec� 2015 30 Jun� 2016 18 Dec� 2017

Perpetual or dated Dated Dated Dated

Original maturity date 1 Dec� 2025 30 Jun� 2026 18 Dec� 2027

Issuer call subject to prior supervisory approval Yes Yes Yes

Optional call date, contingent call dates, and 
redemption amount

The debenture will be repaid based on its nominal 
value in equal instalments annually on 1 
December, with the first instalment being paid on 
1 Dec� 2021 and the last on 1 Dec� 2025� The 
issuer reserves the right to repay the debenture 
before the maturity date� The repayment can take 
place no earlier than five (5) years after the 
issuance of the loan, unless the Financial 
Supervision Authority grants permission for 
repayment earlier than in five (5) years� 

The debenture will be repaid based on its nominal 
value in equal instalments annually on 30 June, 
with the first instalment being paid on 30 Jun� 
2022 and the last on 30 Jun� 2026� The issuer 
reserves the right to repay the debenture before the 
maturity date� The repayment can take place no 
earlier than five (5) years after the issuance of the 
loan, unless the Financial Supervision Authority 
grants permission for repayment earlier than in five 
(5) years� 

The debenture will be repaid based on its nominal 
value in equal instalments annually on 18 
December, with the first instalment being paid on 
18 Dec� 2022 and the last on 18 Dec� 2027� The 
issuer reserves the right to repay the debenture 
before the maturity date� The repayment can take 
place no earlier than five (5) years after the 
issuance of the loan, unless the Financial 
Supervision Authority grants permission for 
repayment earlier than in five (5) years� 

Subsequent call dates, if applicable See above See above See above

Coupons/dividends

Fixed or floating dividend/coupon Floating coupon Floating coupon Floating coupon

Coupon rate and any related indices 12-month Euribor + 1�5% annual interest 12-month Euribor + 1�8% annual interest 12-month Euribor + 1�8% annual interest

Existence of a dividend stopper No No No

Fully discretionary, partly discretionary or mandatory 
(in terms of timing)

Mandatory Mandatory Mandatory

Fully discretionary, partly discretionary or mandatory 
(in terms of quantity)

Mandatory Mandatory Mandatory

Existence of step up or other incentive to redeem No No No

Non-cumulative or cumulative Non-cumulative Non-cumulative Non-cumulative

Convertible or non-convertible Non-convertible Non-convertible Non-convertible

If convertible, conversion trigger(s) Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If convertible, fully or partially Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If convertible, conversion rate Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
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Model of the key features of equity 
instruments Debenture I/2015 Debenture I/2016 Debenture I/2017

If convertible, mandatory or optional conversion Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If convertible, specify instrument type convertible 
into

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If convertible, specify issuer of instrument it 
converts into

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Write-down features Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If write-down, write-down trigger(s) Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If write-down, full or partial Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If write-down, permanent or temporary Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

If temporary write-down, description of write-up 
mechanism

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Position in subordination hierarchy in liquidation 
(specify instrument type immediately senior to 
instrument)

Debentures are subordinated debt instruments that 
belong to the T2 instruments referred to in Article 
63 of the European Parliament and the Council 
regulation (EU) No� 575/2013, provided that the 
requirements set by the Article and other 
requirements are met� Debentures are subordinated 
to the issuer’s other commitments� Debentures 
cannot be used for setting off counterclaims�

Debentures are subordinated debt instruments that 
belong to the T2 instruments referred to in Article 
63 of the European Parliament and the Council 
regulation (EU) No� 575/2013, provided that the 
requirements set by the Article and other 
requirements are met� Debentures are subordinated 
to the issuer’s other commitments� Debentures 
cannot be used for setting off counterclaims�

Debentures are subordinated debt instruments that 
belong to the T2 instruments referred to in Article 
63 of the European Parliament and the Council 
regulation (EU) No� 575/2013, provided that the 
requirements set by the Article and other 
requirements are met� Debentures are subordinated 
to the issuer’s other commitments� Debentures 
cannot be used for setting off counterclaims�

Non-compliant transitioned features No No No

If yes, specify non-compliant features Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
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Note 26 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Equity items

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Share capital, 1 Jan� 82,880 82,880

Share capital, 31 Dec. 82,880 82,880

Other restricted reserves

Fair value reserve, 1 Jan� 11,590 14,198

Adjustments to opening balance according to IFRS 9 -5,041 -

Adjusted fair value reserve, 1 Jan� 6,550 14,198

Equity instruments 32 0

Changes in the period attributable to deferred tax liabilities 3,883 -2,898

Profit/loss from measurement at fair value, other financial securities -13,641 290

Amount transferred to the income statement, other financial securities 197 0

Fair value reserve, 31 Dec. -2,981 11,590

Non-restricted reserves

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity, 1 Jan� 243,832 243,832

Share issue 39,996 0

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity, 31 Dec. 283,828 243,832

Retained earnings (losses), 1 Jan� 48,593 48,471

Adjustments to opening balance according to IFRS 9 -4,130 -

Retained earnings (losses), 31 Dec. 44,463 48,471

Profit/loss for the period 7,123 122

Total equity 415,314 386,896
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Note 27 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Share capital

6,680,180 shares, totalling EUR 82,880,200�

No share classes entitling their holders to a different number of votes or a different amount of dividend
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S-BANK LTD – OTHER NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The information in the other notes to the financial statements is presented in thousands of euros

Note 28 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities, and the hierarchy of fair values

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Financial assets Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 468,436 468,436 493,015 493,015

Receivables from credit institutions 26,615 37,568 24,855 24,862

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 4,186,865 4,177,785 3,724,718 3,920,345

Debt securities 1,667,961 1,674,098 1,324,758 1,331,449

Shares and interests 25,139 25,139 30,909 30,829

Shares and interests in associated companies 3 13 3 16

Shares and interests in Group companies 29,942 46,438 29,942 46,438

Derivatives 649 649 999 999

Financial liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions 302 785 10,109 10,111

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,906,705 5,898,745 5,072,073 5,141,470

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 13,103 13,103 6,260 6,260

Subordinated debts 50,000 50,245 50,000 50,273

S-Bank Group applies the settlement date practice in recognising financial assets and liabilities on the balance sheet, excluding financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value through 
profit or loss� Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognised on the balance sheet using the trading date practice� A financial asset or liability is 
initially recognised in the accounts at fair value, including transaction costs�
    
On initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are classified as financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, investments held to maturity, available-for-sale 
financial assets, loans and other receivables, and other financial liabilities� Financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value or amortised cost, using the effective interest method in 
accordance with their classification�
    
The fair value of a financial instrument is determined on the basis of prices quoted in active markets, or by using measurement methods that are generally accepted in the markets� The fair 
values of certificates of deposit, commercial papers and derivatives (excluding futures) are determined by discounting future cash flows to the present value, applying market interest rates on 
the closing date� Bonds, investment fund units and futures are measured at market value� Financial assets recognised at fair value are measured using the bid price, while financial liabilities 
at fair value are measured using the ask price�
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Financial instruments measured at fair value, 31 Dec. 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Shares and interests 5,637 19,103 0 24,740

Debt securities 0 422,764 0 422,764

Total 5,637 441,867 0 447,503

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 1,000,881 0 0 1,000,881

Debt securities 172,545 77,907 0 250,453

Shares and interests 0 103 297 399

Total 1,173,427 78,010 297 1,251,734

Derivative receivables 0 649 0 649

Derivative liabilities 0 13,103 0 13,103

Total 0 13,752 0 13,752

Financial instruments measured at fair value, 31 Dec. 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,038,824 323,454 0 1,362,278

Derivative receivables 0 999 0 999

Derivative liabilities 0 6,260 0 6,260

Financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value are divided into three categories according to the method of determining fair value� Level 1 fair values are determined using the 
quoted, unadjusted prices of completely identical financial asset and liabilities in an active market� Level 2 fair values are determined using generally accepted valuation models in which 
the input data is, to a significant extent, based on verifiable market information� Level 3 market prices are based on input data concerning an asset or liability that are not based on verifiable 
market information but, to a significant extent, on the management’s estimates�
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Note 29 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Breakdown of balance sheet items into domestic and foreign amounts and amounts from Group entities

31 Dec. 2018
Finnish 

currency
Foreign 

currency Total
From Group  

entities
From associated 

companies

Receivables from credit institutions 16,249 10,366 26,615 0  

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 4,186,865 0 4,186,865 0  

Debt securities 1,667,961 0 1,667,961 0  

Derivatives 649 0 649 0  

Shares and interests 55,084 0 55,084 29,942 3

Intangible assets 37,980 0 37,980 0  

Tangible assets 0 0 0 0  

Other assets (including cash) 493,322 0 493,322 719  

Total 6,458,111 10,366 6,468,476 30,661 3

Liabilities to credit institutions 0 302 302 0  

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,896,546 10,159 5,906,705 22,898  

Derivatives and liabilities held for trading 13,103 0 13,103 0  

Other liabilities 44,091 46 44,137 46  

Subordinated debts 50,000 0 50,000 0  

Total 6,003,739 10,507 6,014,246 22,945 0
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31 Dec. 2017
Finnish 

currency
Foreign  

currency Total
From Group  

entities
From associated 

companies

Receivables from credit institutions 17,759 7,096 24,855 0  

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 3,724,718 0 3,724,718 0  

Debt securities 1,324,758 0 1,324,758 0  

Derivatives 999 0 999 0  

Shares and interests 60,854 0 60,854 29,942 3

Intangible assets 38,393 0 38,393 0  

Tangible assets 73 0 73 0  

Other assets (including cash) 517,388 0 517,388 866  

Total 5,684,943 7,096 5,692,039 30,808 3

Liabilities to credit institutions 10,042 68 10,109 0  

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,069,015 3,058 5,072,073 24,548  

Derivatives and liabilities held for trading 6,260 0 6,260 0  

Other liabilities 124,516 31 124,546 7  

Subordinated debts 50,000 0 50,000 0  

Total 5,259,832 3,156 5,262,988 24,555 0
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Note 30 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Breakdown of financial assets and liabilities according to maturity

31 Dec. 2018 0–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years More than 10 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 468,436 0 0 0 0 468,436

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 69,161 71,159 777,951 84,251 0 1,002,523

Receivables from credit institutions 26,615 0 0 0 0 26,615

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 179,716 421,948 1,269,697 872,647 1,442,856 4,186,865

Debt securities 307,721 164,275 176,329 17,113 0 665,438

Derivatives (assets) 160 89 400 0 0 649

Financial assets, total 1,051,810 657,471 2,224,378 974,011 1,442,856 6,350,526

Liabilities to credit institutions 302 0 0 0 0 302

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,902,445 847 3,413 0 0 5,906,704

Bonds issued to the public 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subordinated debts 0 0 0 50,000 0 50,000

Derivatives (liabilities) 0 503 10,506 2,093 0 13,103

Financial liabilities, total 5,902,746 1,350 13,919 52,093 0 5,970,109

31 Dec. 2017 0–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years More than 10 years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 493,015 0 0 0 0 493,015

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks 78,145 106,183 545,533 130,617 0 860,478

Receivables from credit institutions 24,855 0 0 0 0 24,855

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 175,957 385,907 1,270,092 1,892,761 1 3,724,718

Debt securities 168,476 77,916 193,268 24,621 0 464,280

Derivatives (assets) 0 85 843 71 0 999

Financial assets, total 940,449 570,091 2,009,736 2,048,070 1 5,568,346

Liabilities to credit institutions 10,109 0 0 0 0 10,109

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 5,067,783 2,059 2,231 0 0 5,072,073

Bonds issued to the public 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subordinated debts 0 0 16,800 33,200 0 50,000

Derivatives (liabilities) 92 390 4,962 816 0 6,260

Financial liabilities, total 5,077,985 2,449 23,993 34,016 0 5,138,442
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Note 31 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Collateral given

Other collateral

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Collateral given for own debt

Liabilities to credit institutions 168,660 165,660

Liabilities to the public and public sector 
entities 12,007 10,687

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 12,007 10,687

Collateral given on behalf of others 24 24

Note 32 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Financial leasing and other lease 
liabilities

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Within one year 3,176 1,984

Due in 1–5 years 5,628 1,204

Total 8,804 3,188

Financial leasing and other lease liabilities concern the leasing of premises, vehicles and 
telephones� The agreements cannot be cancelled mid-term�

Note 33 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Off-balance sheet commitments

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Guarantees 23,768 24,881

Undrawn credit facilities 181,923 150,781

Total 205,690 175,662

Of which intra-group off-balance sheet 
commitments:

Undrawn credit facilities 5,120 5,120

In the 2017 financial statements, irrevocable and revocable commitments were reported 
under off-balance sheet commitments� The comparative figures have been adjusted to 
correspond to the new interpretation, according to which irrevocable commitments are 
reported as off-balance sheet commitments in the balance sheet and the notes�

Note 34 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Brokerage receivables and payables

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Savings in accordance with the Finnish Act on 
Long-Term Savings Scheme 235 163

Other brokerage receivables and payables

Purchases from brokers 9,138 15,774

Brokerage payables to customers 3,044 4,348

Total 12,417 20,285

Note 35 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Notes regarding trustee services and 
total amount of customer funds held

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Assets under consultative wealth management 10,873 33,627
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Note 36 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Personnel and management

2018 2017

Average  
number

Number at 
the end of 
the period

Average  
number

Number at 
the end of 
the period

Permanent full-time  
personnel 504 499 445 462

Permanent part-time 
personnel 31 32 33 32

Temporary personnel 36 34 43 32

Total 572 565 521 526

2018 2017

Salaries and fees paid to management (EUR thousand)

CEO and CEO’s deputy 586 528

Board of Directors 30 30

Pension commitments to the management (EUR ’000)   

CEO and CEO’s deputy 106 42

The amount of loans granted to the CEO, the CEO’s deputy and the Board of Directors is 
provided in the note on related-party lending�

The statutory pensions of the personnel are arranged through Elo Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company�

A voluntary additional pension insurance has been taken out for the management of S-Bank 
Group� The insured may draw down their additional pensions at any time after they have 
turned 60 years old�

Note 37 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Related parties

Receivables from the public 
and public sector entities

Loan receivables and other financial receivables from 
related parties 31 Dec. 201831 Dec. 2017

Basis for classification as a related party

Management 1,499 1,146

Management of holding company 893 1,504

Kinship 15 19

Total 2,407 2,669

Expected credit losses

Impairment losses at the end of the period - -1

Total 0 -1

The terms of credit cards granted to the company’s related parties comply with the standard 
terms and conditions of lending to the public�

Note 38 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Holdings in other companies

Share of 
ownership

Equity  
(EUR ’000)

Profit/loss for  
the period  

(EUR ’000)

S-Asiakaspalvelu Ltd, Helsinki 100% 1,248 129

FIM Private Equity Funds Ltd, 
Helsinki 100% 8,531 -210

FIM Asset Management Ltd, Helsinki 100% 14,104 -407

S-Crosskey Ab, Mariehamn 40% 33 1
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Shareholder Share of ownership

SOK Corporation 37�50%

LocalTapiola Mutual Insurance Company 10�00%

Helsinki Cooperative Society Elanto, Helsinki 7�50%

LocalTapiola Mutual Life Insurance Company 3�50%

Cooperative Society Hämeenmaa, Lahti 2�90%

Pirkanmaa Cooperative Society, Tampere 2�70%

Cooperative Society Keskimaa, Jyväskylä 2�50%

Cooperative Society Arina, Oulu 2�50%

Turku Cooperative Society, Turku 2�20%

Cooperative Society PeeÄssä, Kuopio 2�20%

Cooperative Society KPO, Kokkola 2�10%

Southern Ostrobothnia Cooperative Society, Seinäjoki 1�80%

Kymi Region Cooperative Society, Kouvola 1�80%

Suur-Seutu Cooperative (SSO), Salo 1�70%

Elo Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1�50%

Suur-Savo Cooperative Society, Mikkeli 1�40%

Northern Karelia Cooperative Society, Joensuu 1�20%

Varuboden-Osla, Vantaa 1�10%

Satakunta Cooperative Society, Pori 1�10%

LähiTapiola Pohjoinen Mutual Insurance Company 1�00%

Southern Karelia Cooperative Society, Lappeenranta 1�00%

LähiTapiola Pääkaupunkiseutu Mutual Insurance Company 0�90%

LähiTapiola Vellamo Mutual Insurance Company 0�80%

Shareholder Share of ownership

Maakunta Cooperative Society 0�70%

LähiTapiola Etelä-Pohjanmaa Mutual Insurance Company 0�70%

LähiTapiola Varsinais-Suomi Mutual Insurance Company 0�60%

Keula Cooperative Society, Rauma 0�60%

LähiTapiola Itä Mutual Insurance Company 0�60%

LähiTapiola Uusimaa Mutual Insurance Company 0�50%

LähiTapiola Pirkanmaa Mutual Insurance Company 0�50%

LähiTapiola Keski-Suomi Mutual Insurance Company 0�50%

LähiTapiola Lappi Mutual Insurance Company 0�40%

LähiTapiola Lännen Mutual Insurance Company 0�40%

LähiTapiola Kaakkois-Suomi Mutual Insurance Company 0�40%

LähiTapiola Etelä Mutual Insurance Company 0�40%

LähiTapiola Loimi-Häme Mutual Insurance Company 0�40%

LähiTapiola Etelä-Pohjanmaa Mutual Insurance Company 0�40%

LähiTapiola Savo-Karjala Mutual Insurance Company 0�40%

LähiTapiola Savo Mutual Insurance Company 0�30%

LähiTapiola Satakunta Mutual Insurance Company 0�30%

Koillismaa Cooperative Society, Kuusamo 0�30%

LähiTapiola Kainuu-Koillismaa Mutual Insurance Company 0�30%

Jukola Cooperative Society, Nurmes 0�20%

LokalTapiola Sydkusten Ömsesidigt Försäkringsbolag 0�10%

Total 100.00%

Note 39 to the financial statements of S-Bank Ltd: Largest shareholders and distribution of ownership
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